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INTRODUCTION

In this annual report, we use the term “Copa Hadirto refer to Copa Holdings, S.A., “Copa” or “GoAirlines” to
refer to Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., sidiainy of Copa Holdings, S.A., and “AeroRepublita’refer to
AeroRepublica, S.A., a subsidiary of Copa Holdirggy. The terms “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Cop#ldings, S.A. together
with its subsidiaries, except where the contextieg otherwise. References to “Class A sharefgr to Class A shares of Cc
Holdings, S.A.

This annual report contains terms relating to ajpeggperformance that are commonly used withinginkne industry
and are defined as follows:

«  “Aircraft utilization” represents the average riwen of block hours operated per day per aircraftte total
aircraft fleet.

*  “Available seat miles” or “ASMSs” represents theceaft seating capacity multiplied by the numbénules the
seats are flowr

»  “Average stage lenc” represents the average number of miles flown pgntfl
»  “Block hour! refers to the elapsed time between an aircrafingean airport gate and arriving at an airport ¢

«  “Break-even load factor” represents the loaddathiat would have resulted in total revenues beimgal to total
expenses

» “Load factor’represents the percentage of aircraft seating @ghat is actually utilized (calculated by divin
revenue passenger miles by available seat m

e “Operating expense per available seat” represents operating expenses divided by avaitaaemiles
e “Operating revenue per available seat” represents operating revenues divided by avaikddé miles
*  “Passenger revenue per available seal” represents passenger revenue divided by availehtarsles
*  “Revenue passenger m” represents the number of miles flown by revenusegragers

*  “Revenue passengers” represents the total nuaflperying passengers (including all passengersraitgy
OnePass frequent flyer miles and other travel asjdtown on all flight segments (with each connegti
segment being considered a separate flight segn

*  “Yield” represents the average amount one passenger gaysiie mile.
Market Data

This annual report contains certain statisticahdagarding our airline routes and our competipiwsition and market
share in, and the market size of, the Latin Amaerigaline industry. This information has been ded\from a variety of source
including the International Air Transport Assooiatj the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration, tikelrnational Monetary
Fund and other third-party sources, governmentaheigs or industry or general publications. Infaiorafor which no source
is cited has been prepared by us on the basisréfmmwledge of Latin American airline markets artdes information availabl
to us. The methodology and terminology used byedifit sources are not always consistent, and aatadifferent sources are
not readily comparable. In addition, sources othan us use methodologies that are not identicalite and may produce
results that differ from our own estimates. Althbwge have not independently verified the informatoncerning our
competitive position, market share, market sizeketagrowth or other similar data provided by thpairty sources or by
industry or general publications, we believe themgrces and publications are generally accurateaiadble.
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Presentation of Financial and Statistical Data

Included elsewhere in this annual report are oditad consolidated balance sheets as of Decembh&08Y and
2008 and the audited consolidated statements ofriacchanges in shareholders’ equity and cash flonthe years ended
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008. The consolidatadcial information as of December 31, 2004, 2668 2006, and for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 haglbeeed from our audited consolidated financiatements that were
prepared in accordance with accounting principkrsegally accepted in the United States, or U.S. 8/4Ad which have not
been included in this annual report. Our auditatsotidated financial statements have been preparaccordance with U.S.
GAAP and are stated in U.S. dollars. We began dmlaing the results of our AeroRepublica operasndpsidiary as of its
acquisition date on April 22, 2005. Unless otheeniglicated, all references in the annual repot$tar “dollars” refer to U.S
dollars, and all references to “Pesos” or “Ps.treéb Colombian pesos, the local currency of Coliamb

Certain figures included in this annual report hegen subject to rounding adjustments. Accordinfigires shown
as totals in certain tables may not be an arittovagjgregation of the figures that precede them.

Special Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report includes forward-looking statatagprincipally under the captions “Risk FactorgUusiness
Overview” and “Operating and Financial Review amddpects.” We have based these forward-lookingstents largely on
our current beliefs, expectations and projectidrauafuture events and financial trends affectinglausiness. Many important

factors, in addition to those discussed elsewtretkis annual report, could cause our actual resaltiffer substantially from
those anticipated in our forward-looking statemgimtsluding, among other things:

* general economic, political and business conalitin Panama and Latin America and particularitha
geographic markets we sen

e our management’s expectations and estimates mungeour future financial performance and finamcpians
and programs

» our level of debt and other fixed obligatiol

« demand for passenger and cargo air service in #rkats in which we operat
e competition;

* our capital expenditure plar

* changes in the regulatory environment in which werate;

e changes in labor costs, maintenance costs, futd aosl insurance premiun
» changes in market prices, customer demand andrenefes and competitive conditiol
e cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in our operatgsylts;

» defects or mechanical problems with our airci

* our ability to successfully implement our growthas¢gy;

e our ability to obtain financing on commercially semable terms; ar

» the risk factors discussed un¢‘Risk Factor” beginning on page :
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The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “aim,” “estimag,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect” ahsimilar words
are intended to identify forward-looking statemefigrward-looking statements include informatiom@erning our possible or
assumed future results of operations, businesegies, financing plans, competitive position, isitiy environment, potential
growth opportunities, the effects of future regiglatand the effects of competition. Forwdodking statements speak only a:
the date they were made, and we undertake no tiblig update publicly or to revise any forwardking statements after the
date of this annual report because of new infomnafiuture events or other factors. In light of theks and uncertainties
described above, the forward-looking events antlioistances discussed in this annual report mighdeaur and are not
guarantees of future performance. Considering thesetions, you should not place undue relianodarward-looking
statements contained in this annual report.
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PART |
Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management ad Advisers
Not applicable.
Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.
Item 3. Key Information
A. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents summary consolidateanitial and operating data for each of the perindgated. Our
consolidated financial statements are prepareddardance with U.S. GAAP and are stated in U.SadolYou should read
this information in conjunction with our consoliddtfinancial statements included in this annuabregnd the information
under “00 Selected Financial Data” and “Item 5. Operating Bimncial Review and Prospects” appearing elsesvimethis
annual report.

The summary consolidated financial information BBecember 31, 2007 and 2008 and for the yearscende
December 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008 has been derweddur audited consolidated financial statememthided elsewhere in
this annual report. The consolidated financial infation as of December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006farttie years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2005 has been derived frormudlited consolidated financial statements thatvweepared under U.S.
GAAP and which have not been included in this ahregort.

We have acquired 99.9% of the stock of AeroRepébkcColombian air carrier, and began consolidatsgesults
on April 22, 2005. As a result of this acquisitiay financial information prior to and after thegaisition is not comparable.

Year Ended December 31
2004 2005(21) 2006 2007 2008
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shardata and operating data

INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Operating revenus

Passenger reven $ 36461 $ 56352( $ 79890: $ 967,06 $ 1,217,31
Cargo, mail and othe 35,22¢ 45,094 52,25¢ 60,19¢ 71,47¢
Total operating revenut 399,83° 608,61« 851,16( 1,027,26. 1,288,78!
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel 62,54¢ 149,30: 217,73( 265,38 404,66
Salaries and benefi 51,70: 69,73( 91,38: 116,69: 139,43:
Passenger servicir 39,22: 50,62: 64,38( 82,94¢ 98,77¢
Commission: 29,07: 45,087 57,80¢ 65,93( 67,17"
Reservations and sal 22,11¢ 29,21: 38,21: 48,22¢ 54,99¢
Maintenance, materials and reps 19,74: 32,50¢ 50,057 51,24¢ 66,43¢
Depreciatior 19,27¢ 19,857 24,87 35,32¢ 42,89:
Flight operation: 17,90« 24,94 33,74( 43,95¢ 56,42¢
Aircraft rentals 14,44t 27,63 38,16¢ 38,63¢ 43,00¢
Landing fees and other rent: 12,15¢ 17,90¢ 23,92¢ 27,017 32,46"
Other 29,30¢ 32,62: 44,75¢ 55,09 58,52:
Special fleet charge® — — — 7,30¢ —
Gain from involuntary conversic(@ — — — (8,019 —
Total operating expens 317,49 499,42: 685,03¢ 829,75t 1,064,79
Operating incom: 82,34: 109,19: 166,12: 197,50¢ 223,99:
Non-operating income (expens:
Interest expens (16,489 (21,629 (29,150 (44,337 (42,077
Interest capitalize 963 1,08¢ 1,71z 2,57(C 1,921
Interest incom 1,42 3,544 7,251 12,19:¢ 11,13(
Other, ne® 6,06: 39t 18E 10,98" (58,847
Total nor-operating expenses, r (8,039 (16,607 (29,996 (18,587 (87,867)
Income before income tax 74,30« 92,59 146,12! 178,92t 136,12¢
Provision for income taxe (5,732 (9,597 (12,286) (17,106 (17,469

Net income 68,57- 82,99¢ 133,83¢ 161,82 118,65¢
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Year Ended December 31,
2004 20051) 2006 2007 2008
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per sharata and operating data)

BALANCE SHEET DATA
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-

term investment $ 110,94 $ 11449 $ 197,38 $ 308,35¢ $ 396,82¢
Accounts receivable, n 27,70¢ 46,53: 62,137 74,16¢ 75,20:
Total current asse 152,08° 184,35: 290,65: 435,73t 522,46
Purchase deposits for flight equipm: 7,19( 52,75 65,15( 64,07¢ 84,86
Total property and equipme 541,21: 637,54. 862,28: 1,166,26. 1,337,66!
Total asset 702,05( 916,91: 1,255,01! 1,707,25. 1,954,22!
Long-term deb 380,82 402,95 529,80: 732,20¢ 800,19¢
Total shareholde’ equity 174,15! 245,86 371,66 531,63 632,43.
Capital stock 29,22 29,22: 32,56 37,37 42,96¢

CASH FLOW DATA
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 98,05: $ 11536¢f $ 19346f $ 22194 $ 198,10!

Net cash used in investing activiti (85,739 (159,88¢) (258,98() (334,759 (322,78()
Net cash provided by financing activiti 29,75¢ 38,92¢ 141,49¢ 228,29! 59,51¢
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

EBITDA 4 107,68! 129,44 191,18( 243,82: 208,03¢
Aircraft rentals 14,44¢ 27,63 38,16¢ 38,63¢ 43,00¢
Operating margii® 20.6% 17.%% 19.5% 19.2% 17.2%

Weighted average shares used in

computing net income per share (ba

®) 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,907,96 43,142,51
Weighted average shares used in

computing net income per share

(diluted)®) 42,812,501 42,812,50 43,234,55 43,463,75 43,439,87
Net income (loss) per share (ba<®) $ 16C $ 194  $ 3.1 % 371 % 2.7t
Net income (loss) per share (dilut®  $ 16C $ 194 % 3.1 % 372 % 2.7¢
Dividends declared per she $ 02: $ 022 $ 0.1¢ $ 031 $ 0.37
OPERATING DATA
Revenue passengers cari?) 2,33¢ 4,361 5,741 6,01F 6,48¢
Revenue passenger mi(®) 2,54¢ 3,82¢ 5,017 5,861 6,711
Available seat mile® 3,63¢ 5,35¢ 6,86¢ 7,91¢ 8,84t
Load factor(19) 70.(% 71.4L% 73.1% 74.(% 75.%
Breal-even load facto(1) 52.6% 57.9% 58.(% 58.€% 67.1%
Total block hour12) 70,22¢ 103,62¢ 130,81 157,20( 182,69:
Average daily aircraft utilizatio(3) 9.3 9.8 9.8 9.6 9.€
Average passenger fa 156.: 129.2 139.2 160.¢ 187.7
Yield @4) 14.31 14.7¢ 15.92 16.5(C 18.1:
Passenger revenue per A(15) 10.0z2 10.5] 11.6¢ 12.2] 13.7¢
Operating revenue per AS(16) 10.9¢ 11.3¢ 12.4( 12.97 14.57
Operating expenses per ASM (CAS17) 8.7z 9.32 9.9¢ 10.4¢ 12.0¢
Departures 27,43¢ 48,93¢ 65,47: 71,89: 79,66
Average daily departure 75.C 156.€ 179.¢ 197.C 217.5
Average number of aircra 20.€ 31.C 38.¢t 45.C 52.C
Airports served at period el 29 36 42 46 51
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Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005@21) 2006 2007 2008
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shardata and operating data

SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA

Copa:
Operating revenu $ 39983 $ 50565 $ 676,16¢ $ 806,200 $ 1,035,94
Operating expenst 317,49 402,68 509,54( 634,52: 827,71-
Depreciatior 19,27¢ 19,24: 23,73: 30,71(C 38,10¢
Aircraft rentals 14,44t 22,09¢ 23,84: 27,75¢ 31,27
Interest expens 16,48¢ 19,42+ 26,907 36,30( 36,20¢
Interest capitalize 963 1,08¢ 1,71z 2,57( 1,921
Interest incom 1,42 3,37¢ 6,88 11,72( 10,51
Net income (loss) before t: 74,30« 89,74¢ 155,53¢ 165,57: 130,85:
Total asset 702,05( 851,07! 1,168,12: 1,546,62: 1,823,51.

AeroRepublica:

Operating revenu 0 $ 103,01¢ $ 17588 $ 226,04: $ 264,91
Operating expense O 96,83¢ 176,38t 200,47- 249,15
Depreciatior O 61% 1,14z 4,61¢ 4,78:
Aircraft rentals O 5,53¢ 14,60« 14,76( 22,73.
Interest expens O 2,20 2,24 8,032 5,86:
Interest capitalize O O O O O
Interest incom O 16€ 37C 47¢ 61€
Net income (loss) before t: O 2,84¢ (9,409 13,35¢ 5,271
Total asset O 98,09: 132,87. 256,34¢ 258,56:

SEGMENT OPERATING DATA

Copa:
Available seat mile® 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢ 7,342
Load factor(19) 70.(% 73.2% 77.&% 78.%% 78.8%
Breal-even load facto 52.€% 56.8% 56.1% 58.71% 67.2%
Yield @4 14.31 14.41 15.4¢ 15.3¢ 16.81
Operating revenue per AS(16) 10.9¢ 11.45 12.91 12.8( 14.11
CASM (17) 8.7 9.1: 9.7t 10.0¢ 11.27
Average stage leng(®9) 1,04 1,12 1,15¢ 1,207 1,21¢
On time performanc(8) 91.8% 91.7% 91.(% 86.9% 87.5%

AeroRepublica:(22)
Available seat mile® 0 95C 1,627 1,62( 1,50:
Load factoi(10) O 62.(% 57.€% 57.2% 61.7%
Break even load factc O 60.7% 61.% 54.1% 62.(%
Yield @4) 0 16.5:¢ 17.7¢ 22.7¢ 26.31
Operating revenue per AS(16) O 10.8¢ 10.81 13.9¢ 17.6:
CASM (@7 O 10.1¢ 10.8¢ 12.3i 16.5¢
Average stage leng(19) 0 36C 37C 39¢ 421
On time performanc(20 0 70.4% 80.2% 72.&% 84.2%

(1) Represents expenses related to costs assbeigh terms negotiated for the early terminatibthree MD-80 aircraft as a
result of AeroRepublic s ongoing transition to a more fuel efficient athBrae-190 fleet.

(2) Represents gain on involuntary conversionasf-monetary assets to monetary assets relateducance proceeds in
excess of aircraft book valu

(3) Consists primarily of changes in the fairueabf fuel derivative contracts, foreign exchangmg/losses and gains on sale
of Boeing 737-200 aircraft. See “ltem 5. Operatmgl Financial Review and Prospects” and the notesit consolidated
financial statement:
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(4) EBITDA represents net income (loss) plusshm of interest expense, income taxes, depreciatidramortization minus
the sum of interest capitalized and interest incdBBI TDA is presented as supplemental informatienduse we believe
is a useful indicator of our operating performaand is useful in comparing our operating perforneanith other
companies in the airline industry. However, EBITBRould not be considered in isolation, as a suitstfor net income
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as a measfua company’s profitability. In addition, oualculation of
EBITDA may not be comparable to other companiasilsirly titled measures. The following table pretsem
reconciliation of our net income to EBITDA for tepecified periods

Year Ended December 31

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
(in thousands of dollars)
Net income $ 68,57 $ 82,99¢ $ 133,83¢ $ 161,82( $ 118,65¢
Interest expens 16,48¢ 21,62¢ 29,15( 44,33: 42,07
Income taxe: 5,73z 9,59z 12,28¢ 17,10¢ 17,46¢
Depreciatior 19,27¢ 19,857 24,87 35,32¢ 42,89
Subtotal 110,07: 134,07 200,14 258,58t 221,09(
Interest capitalize (969) (1,089 (1,712 (2,570 (1,92
Interest incom (1,427%) (3,549 (7,257 (12,197 (11,130
EBITDA 107,68! 129,44 191,18( 243,82: 208,03

Aircraft rentals represents a significant operagrgense of our business. Because we leased seferal aircraft during
the periods presented, we believe that when asgessr EBITDA you should also consider the impdatwr aircraft rent
expense, which was $14.4 million in 2004, $27.diamilin 2005, $38.2 million in 2006, $38.6 million 2007 and

$43.0 million in 2008

(5) Operating margin represents operating income divimleoperating revenue

(6) All share and per share amounts have been retvefctestated to reflect the current capital stutestdescribed under
Item 10.B“—Description of Capital Sto” and in the notes to our consolidated financiakstegnts

(7) Total number of paying passengers (including adlspagers redeeming OnePass frequent flyer milesthed travel
awards) flown on all flight segments, expressethausands

(8) Number of miles flown by scheduled revenue passsnggpressed in million
(9) Aircraft seating capacity multiplied by the numioémiles the seats are flown, expressed in milli

(10) Percentage of aircraft seating capacity that igedlgt utilized. Load factors are calculated by ding revenue passenger
miles by available seat mile

(11) Load factor that would have resulted in total rexebeing equal to total expenses, excluding tleetedf fuel derivative
mark-to-market, this figure would have been 52.692004, 57.9% in 2005, 57.7% in 2006, 59.5% in 280d 63.0% in
2008.

(12) The number of hours from the time an airplane mafethe departure gate for a revenue flight uibig parked at the ga
of the arrival airport

(13) Average number of block hours operated per dayajeraft for the total aircraft flee
(14) Average amount (in cents) one passenger pays tméymile.
(15) Passenger revenues (in cents) divided by the nuoflzmailable seat mile
(16) Total operating revenues for passenger aircradtedlcosts (in cents) divided by the number oflalsbe seat miles
(17) Total operating expenses for passenger aircrataglcosts (in cents) divided by the number oflalte seat miles
(18) Percentage of flights that arrive at the destimatjate within fifteen minutes of scheduled arri
(19) The average number of miles flown per flig
(20) Percentage of flights that depart within fifteemuates of the scheduled departure ti
)

(21) For AeroRepublica operating data, this period cewem April 22, 2005 until December 31, 2005 whedrresponds to
the period that AeroRepublica was consolidateduinfimancial statement

(22) AeroRepublica has not historically distinguishedh®en revenue passengers and non-revenue passexljeragh we
have implemented systems at AeroRepublica to rebatdinformation, revenue passenger informatiath @ther statistics
derived from revenue passenger data for the yatrdeBecember 31, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 hasdesimed from
estimates that we believe to be materially accu

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds



Not applicable
D. Risk Factors

An investment in our Class A shares involves a dagree of risk. You should carefully considerrtiks described
below before making an investment decision. Ouinlegs, financial condition and results of operati@ould be materially and
adversely affected by any of these risks. Thenpgdrice of our Class A shares could decline duany of these risks, and you
may lose all or part of your investment. The ridkscribed below are those known to us and thatuseistly believe may
materially affect us.
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Risks Relating to Our Company

Our failure to successfully implement our growthrategy may adversely affect our results of operagand harm the marke
value of our Class A shares.

We have grown rapidly over the past eight yearsiriguhe next several years we intend to contilougrow our
fleet, expand our service to new markets and iserélae frequency of flights to the markets we autyeserve. Achieving these
goals is essential in order for our business tafiefiom cost efficiencies resulting from economf scale. We expect to have
substantial cash needs as we expand, includingregsiired to fund aircraft purchases or aircrafiatits as we add to our fleet.
We cannot assure you that we will have sufficierghcto fund such projects, and if we are unabsutzessfully expand our
route system, our future revenue and earnings grawsuld be limited.

When we commence a new route, our load factorsttebd lower than those on our established routdsar
advertising and other promotional costs tend thigher, which may result in initial losses that kcblbiave a negative impact on
our results of operations as well as require atankial amount of cash to fund. We also periodycaih special promotional
fare campaigns, particularly in connection with tipeening of new routes. Promotional fares may hbgesffect of increasing
load factors while reducing our yield on such rsudaring the period that they are in effect. Thenbar of markets we serve
and our flight frequencies depend on our abilitydentify the appropriate geographic markets upaictvto focus and to gain
suitable airport access and route approval in them#ets. There can be no assurance that the neketmave enter will provide
passenger traffic that is sufficient to make ougragions in those new markets profitable. Any cbadithat would prevent or
delay our access to key airports or routes, inolgidimitations on the ability to process more pagses, the imposition of flight
capacity restrictions, the inability to secure &iddal route rights under bilateral agreementserihability to maintain our
existing slots and obtain additional slots, couddstrain the expansion of our operations.

The expansion of our business will also requiratadthl skilled personnel, equipment and faciliti#éhe inability to
hire and retain skilled pilots and other persommmedecure the required equipment and facilitieiefitly and cost-effectively
may adversely affect our ability to execute oungtostrategy. In recent years, the airline indubtrg experienced a pilot
shortage that has disproportionately affected snalhd regional carriers, such as Copa. Expangioaranarkets and flight
frequencies may also strain our existing managemsources and operational, financial and manageimf@nmation systems
to the point where they may no longer be adequesepport our operations, requiring us to makeifggmt expenditures in
these areas. In light of these factors, we cansgire you that we will be able to successfullyldisia new markets or expand
our existing markets, and our failure to do so ddwdrm our business and results of operations gfisaa the value of our
Class A shares.

Our performance is heavily dependent on economiaditions in the countries in which we do business.

Passenger demand is heavily cyclical and highlyeddent on global and local economic growth, economi
expectations and foreign exchange rate variationhe past, we have been negatively impacted loy economic performance
in certain emerging market countries in which werage. Any of the following developments in the mwigs in which we
operate could adversely affect our business, filmuondition and results of operations:

e changes in economic or other governmental poli
e changes in regulatory, legal or administrative ficas; or
»  other political or economic developments over whighhave no contro

While our “hub-and-spoke” business model allowshesflexibility to focus on the most profitable ghidemand
routes, decreased demand on any such route mapplisfionately affect our business, financial cdiodi and results of
operation in the short term.

Additionally, a significant portion of our revenuissderived from discretionary and leisure travéiai are especially
sensitive to economic downturns. Current economiaiions could result in a reduction in passenggfic, and leisure travel
in particular, as well as a reduction in our cabgsiness, which in turn would materially and negayi affect our financial
condition and results of operations. Any perceptibfurther weakening of economic conditions irstreégion could likewise
negatively affect our ability to obtain financing neet our future capital needs in internationgitehmarkets.

The cost of refinancing our debt and obtaining adidinal financing for new aircraft has increased anghay continue to
increase.

We currently finance our aircraft through bank leamd operating leases. In the past, we have lix¥emncaobtain
lease or debt financing on terms attractive toMes.have obtained most of the financing for our Bgeaiircraft purchases from
commercial financial institutions utilizing guaraes provided by the Export-Import Bank of the Ushi&ates. The Export-
Import Bank provides guarantees to companies tina@hase goods from U.S. companies for export, @mabiiem to obtain
financing at substantially lower interest rates@spared to those that they could obtain withogtiarantee. The Expohtaport
Bank does not provide similar guarantees in conmeetith financing for our aircraft purchases fr&mbraer since thos



aircraft are not exports from the United StatesDatember 31, 2008, we had $379.3 million of ouiditag
indebtedness that is owed to financial institutionder financing arrangements guaranteed by therEkmport Bank. We
cannot predict whether the Export-Import Bank’sd@reupport will continue to be available to ufuad future purchases of
Boeing aircraft. The Export-Import Bank may in faéure limit its exposure to Panama-based compatoesur airline or to
airlines generally, or may encourage us to divemifr credit sources by limiting future guarantees.

Similarly, we cannot assure you that we will beeatol continue to raise financing from past souroe,om other
sources, on terms comparable to our existing fiimgner at all. The ongoing uncertainty in the ctedarkets of the United
States and the related turmoil in the global finangystem has tightened the availability of credlitl has increased the cost of
obtaining lease or debt financing. If the costwilsfinancing continues to increase or we are wngbbbtain such financing,
we may be forced to modify our aircraft acquisitmdans or to incur higher than anticipated finagatests, which could have
an adverse impact on the execution of our growdiesjy and business.
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We are dependent on our alliance with Continentadcacannot assure you that it will continue.

We maintain a broad commercial and marketing atkanith Continental Airlines, Inc., or Continenttilat has
allowed us to enhance our network and, in somescasgier our customers services that we could tietravise offer. If
Continental were to experience severe financidicdities or go bankrupt, our alliance and senageeements may be
terminated or we may not realize the anticipatetefits from our relationship with Continental. WhiContinental recorded net
income of $459 million, for 2007, it has also suodfé significant losses in recent years and haséatell that several factors
threaten its ability to maintain profitability, iluding high fuel cost, the troubled global capiterkets, industry competition
and terrorism or other international hostilitiese \8annot assure you that Continental will be abkaaintain its profitability,
and as a result, we may be materially and adveedtdgted by a deterioration of Continental’s fineh condition.

Since we began the alliance in 1998, we have heddfiom Continental’s support in negotiations dacraft
purchases, insurance and fuel purchases, sharitgsif practices” and engineering support in ouinteaance operations, and
significant other intangible support. This supguas assisted us in our growth strategy, while iatgwoving our operational
performance and the quality of our service. Ouaadle relationship with Continental is the subjgfch grant of antitrust
immunity from the U.S. Department of TransportationDOT. If our relationship with Continental weedeteriorate, or our
alliance relationship were no longer to benefitrfra grant of antitrust immunity, or our allianceservices agreements were
terminated, our business, financial condition aeslilts of operations would likely be materially awVersely affected. The Ic
of Copa’s codesharing relationship with Continental woiltély result in a significant decrease in our raxes We also rely ¢
Continental’s OnePass frequent flyer program theparticipate in globally and on a co-branded biasisatin America, and
our business may be adversely affected if the Osepi@gram does not remain a competitive markgtingram. In addition,
our competitors may benefit from alliances withesthirlines that are more extensive than our akanith Continental. We
cannot predict the extent to which we will be disattaged by competing alliances. Our relationshth suppliers depends in
part on our alliance with Continental.

We operate using a hub-and-spoke model and are eudle to competitors offering direct flights beter destinations we
serve.

The structure of substantially all of our currdigtit operations (other than those of AeroRepuUblgenerally follows
what is known in the airline industry as a “hub-apdbke” model. This model aggregates passengespdmating flights from a
number of “spoke” origins to a central hub throwghich they are transported to their final destiodi. In recent years, many
traditional hub-and-spoke operators have facedfsignt and increasing competitive pressure from-tmst, point-to-point
carriers on routes with sufficient demand to suspaiint-to-point service. A point-to-point struatuenables airlines to focus on
the most profitable, high-demand routes and tor@ffeater convenience and, in many instances, Ifaves. As demand for air
travel in Latin America increases, some of our cetitprs have initiated nostop service between destinations that we curr
serve through our Panamanian hub. Non-stop semitieh bypasses our hub in Panama is more conveaiiehpossibly less
expensive, than our connecting service and coglufsgiantly decrease demand for our service todhiesstinations. We believe
that competition from point-to-point carriers wik directed towards the largest markets that weesard such competition is
likely to continue at this level or intensify ingtiuture. As a result, the effect of such compmtiton us could be significant and
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition and results of operations.

The Panamanian Aviation Act and certain of the bikral agreements under which we operate contain Baranian
ownership requirements that are not clearly definexhd our failure to comply with these requiremergsuld cause us to los
our authority to operate in Panama or to the inteational destinations we serve.

Under Law No. 21 of January 29, 2003, which regagdhe aviation industry in the Republic of Panamé which w
refer to as the Aviation Act, “substantial ownepshand “effective control” of our airline must reiman the hands of
Panamanian nationals. Under certain of the bilhtgyeeements between Panama and other countrisggmirto which we have
the right to fly to those other countries and abir territory, we must continue to have substrRanamanian ownership and
effective control by Panamanian nationals to retla@se rights. Neither “substantial ownership” feffective control” are
defined in the Aviation Act or in the bilateral agments, and it is unclear how a Panamanian couirt the case of the bilatel
agreements, foreign regulatory authorities migtaripret these requirements. In addition, the mamehich these
requirements are interpreted may change over tiiteecannot predict whether these requirements weilsiatisfied through
ownership and control by Panamanian record holderi§ these requirements would be satisfied orlyivect and indirect
ownership and control by Panamanian beneficial es/ne
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At the present time, Corporacién de InverstioneseAs, S.A., or CIASA, a Panamanian entity, is dwrd owner of
all of our Class B voting shares, representing agdprately 29.2% of our total share capital andathe voting power of our
capital stock.

On November 25, 2005, the Executive Branch of the€Bhment of Panama promulgated a decree statdhih
“substantial ownership” and “effective control” teggments of the Aviation Act are met if a Panaraartgitizen or a
Panamanian company is the record holder of shapgssenting 51% or more of the voting power ofdtvapany. Although th
decree has the force of law for so long as it resai effect, it does not supersede the Aviatioty Aad it can be modified or
superseded at any time by a future Executive Braechee. Additionally, the decree has no bindirigotion regulatory
authorities of other countries whose bilateral agrents impose Panamanian ownership and contrdhtiomns on us. We
cannot assure you that the decree will not be ehgéid, modified or superseded in the future, thABA will continue to own
majority of the Class B shares, or that record aghip of a majority of our Class B shares by Panaamaentities will be
sufficient to satisfy the “substantial ownershipuirement of the Aviation Act and the decree. Argje in the ownership of
the Class B shares or a determination by the Pamam&ivil Aviation Authority (theAutoridad de Aeronautica Civ)| which
we refer to as the AAC, or a Panamanian court“thdistantial” Panamanian ownership should be deteanon the basis of
our direct and indirect ownership, could causeousge our license to operate our airline in Pandnkewise, if a foreign
regulatory authority were to determine that ouedliror indirect Panamanian ownership fails to Sattse minimum
Panamanian ownership requirements for a Panamaaiger under the applicable bilateral agreementnvay lose the benefit
of that agreement and be prohibited from flyinghe relevant country or over its territory. Any Budetermination would have
a material adverse effect on our business, findnoiadition and results of operations, as well mshe value of the Class A
shares.

Our business is subject to extensive regulation géhimay restrict our growth or our operations or ingase our costs.

Our business, financial condition and results arafions could be adversely affected if we or deraiation
authorities in the countries to which we fly failmaintain the required foreign and domestic gavemtal authorizations
necessary for our operations. In order to mairttaémecessary authorizations issued by the AACoémer corresponding
foreign authorities, we must continue to complyhwapplicable statutes, rules and regulations pentgito the airline industry,
including any rules and regulations that may bepéetbin the future. We cannot predict or contrgl aations that the AAC or
foreign aviation regulators may take in the futwrajch could include restricting our operationdgraposing new and costly
regulations. Also, our fares are technically subjeceview by the AAC and the regulators of certaiher countries to which
we fly, any of which may in the future impose reditons on our fares.

We are also subject to international bilateratr@nsport agreements that provide for the exchahgé traffic rights
between Panama and various other countries, amdugeobtain permission from the applicable foraigrernments to provic
service to foreign destinations. There can be sarasce that existing bilateral agreements betweenountries in which our
airline operating companies are based and foredgemments will continue, or that we will be alideobtain more route rights
under those agreements to accommodate our futpansion plans. A modification, suspension or retionaof one or more
bilateral agreements could have a material adwaffeet on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations. The
suspension of our permits to operate to certapodis or destinations, the cancellation of anywfgmrovisional routes or the
imposition of other sanctions could also have aeni@tadverse effect. In 2007, for example, ourttldiaily frequency to
Mexico City, which was under provisional permit,sai@ot extended by the Mexican civil aviation auttyoiThis development
did not have a material adverse effect on our ssinbut it is indicative of the route changes lictv we may be subject. Due
to the nature of bilateral agreements, we caroflpany destinations only from Panama. We canneoiragsu that a change il
foreign government’s administration of current laaval regulations or the adoption of new laws agdlegions will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.
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We plan to continue to increase the scale of oeratns and revenues by expanding our presenoewrand
existing routes. Our ability to successfully impkmhthis strategy will depend upon many factorgesa of which are outside
our control or subject to change. These factorsidecthe permanence of a suitable political, ecan@nd regulatory
environment in the Latin American countries in whige operate or intend to operate and our abiitigéntify strategic local
partners.

The most active government regulator among thetci@srto which we fly is the U.S. Federal Aviation
Administration, or FAA. The FAA from time to timesues directives and other regulations relatirtgganaintenance and
operation of aircraft that require significant erggures. FAA requirements cover, among other thjrsgcurity measures,
collision avoidance systems, airborne windsheardae systems, noise abatement and other envirdahissues, and
increased inspections and maintenance procedutesdonducted on older aircraft. We expect to ocomtiincurring expenses
comply with the FAA’s regulations, and any increaséhe cost of compliance could have an adverfge®dn our financial
condition and results of operations. Additional negulations continue to be regularly implementedhe U.S. Transportation
Security Administration, or TSA, as well.

The growth of our operations to the United Statasdathe benefits of our code-sharing arrangementgwContinental are
dependent on Panama'’s continued favorable safetyessment.

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulataythorities of other countries. As a result ofritgestigation, each
country is given an International Aviation Safetgs&ssment, or IASA, rating. Since April 2004, IAB#s rated Panama as a
Category 1 jurisdiction. We cannot assure you titgovernment of Panama, and the AAC in particwdl continue to meet
international safety standards, and we have netdi@ntrol over their compliance with IASA guidedim If Panama’s IASA
rating were to be downgraded in the future, it dquiohibit us from increasing service to the Unifdtes and Continental
would have to suspend the placing of its code arflmts, causing us to lose direct revenue fradesharing as well as
reducing flight options to our customers.

We are highly dependent on our hub at Panama City'scumen International Airport.

Our business is heavily dependent on our operatibosr hub at Panama City’s Tocumen Internatidgdort.
Substantially all of our Copa flights either depfanm or arrive at our hub. The hub-and-spoke stmecof our operations is
particularly dependent on the on-time arrival ghtly coordinated groupings of flights to ensuratthbassengers can make
timely connections to continuing flights. Like ottedrlines, we are subject to delays caused byfadieyond our control,
including air traffic congestion at airports, acdsemweather conditions and increased security messDelays inconvenience
passengers, reduce aircraft utilization and ineeasts, all of which in turn negatively affect quofitability. A significant
interruption or disruption in service at Tocumetetational Airport could have a serious impacbanbusiness, financial
condition and operating results. Also, Tocumenrh&onal Airport provides international servicethe Republic of Panama’s
population of approximately 3.4 million, whereae thub markets of our current competitors tend tmbeh larger, providing
those competitors with a larger base of customiettsedr hub.

Tocumen International Airport is operated by a oogtion that is controlled by the government of Republic of
Panama. We depend on our good working relationshipthe quasi-governmental corporation that operdihe airport to
ensure that we have adequate access to aircréfhgaositions, landing rights and gate assignméntsur aircraft to
accommodate our current operations and future ftarexpansion. The corporation that operates Ta@umternational
Airport does not enter into any formal, writtendea or other agreements with airlines that govights to use the airport’s
jetways or aircraft parking spaces. Therefore gnnection with the ongoing or future expansionhef airport, the airpo
authority could assign new capacity to competimjngis or could reassign resources that are cuyrased by us to other
aircraft operators. Either such event could rasutignificant new competition for our routes outbotherwise have a material
adverse effect on our current operations or abfidityfuture growth.
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We are exposed to increases in landing charges atiter airport access fees and cannot be assuredeasto adequate
facilities and landing rights necessary to achiegar expansion plans

We must pay fees to airport operators for the diskeair facilities. Any substantial increase ingrt charges could
have a material adverse impact on our results efatjpns. Passenger taxes and airport chargesatevencreased in recent
years, sometimes substantially. Certain importapbés that we use may be privatized in the naturé which is likely tc
result in significant cost increases to the aiditlgat use these airports. We cannot assure ybththairports used by us will r
impose, or further increase, passenger taxes gooracharges in the future, and any such increesef have an adverse eft
on our financial condition and results of operagion

Certain airports that we serve (or that we plasetve in the future) are subject to capacity cairgis and impose sl
restrictions during certain periods of the day. ¥danot assure you that we will be able to obtanfficient number of slots,
gates and other facilities at airports to expandseuvices as we are proposing to do. It is alssibte that airports not curren
subject to capacity constraints may become sodritture. In addition, an airline must use itssloh a regular and timely basis
or risk having those slots re-allocated to oth@rkere slots or other airport resources are notaaior their availability is
restricted in some way, we may have to amend cdwedides, change routes or reduce aircraft utibmathny of these
alternatives could have an adverse financial impaats.

Some of the airports to which we fly impose varioestrictions, including limits on aircraft noisvels, limits on the
number of average daily departures and curfewsiowaly use. In addition, we cannot assure you tinabrs at which there a
no such restrictions may not implement restrictionthe future or that, where such restrictionsgthey may not become mq
onerous. Such restrictions may limit our abilityctitinue to provide or to increase services a suiports.

We have significant fixed financing costs and expée incur additional fixed costs as we expand dieet.

The airline business is characterized by high leger and we have a high level of indebtedness. |¥déchave
significant expenditures in connection with our igtieg leases and facility rental costs, and sutbistidy all of our property and
equipment is pledged to secure indebtedness. Eqretlr ended December 31, 2008, our interest egmarsaircraft and
facility rental expense under operating leaseseagged $98.5 million. At December 31, 2008, apprately 47% of our total
indebtedness bore interest at fixed rates, andadl portion of our lease obligations was determingtth reference to LIBOR.
Accordingly, our financing and rent expense wilt decrease significantly if market interest ratesliche.

As of December 31, 2008, we had firm commitmentsuichase 13 Boeing 737-Next Generation, with ajregate
manufacturer’s list price of approximately $1.dibit. We will require substantial capital from esttel sources to meet our
future financial commitments. The continued credigis and related turmoil in the global finan@gktem has increased and
may continue to increase the costs of such fingndmaddition, the acquisition and financing ofsk aircraft will likely result
in a substantial increase in our leverage and fiiehcing costs. A high degree of leverage anddigayment obligations
could:

e limit our ability in the future to obtain additiohinancing for working capital or other importamteds

»  impair our liquidity by diverting substantial ¢tefom our operating needs to service fixed finagabligations;
or

» limit our ability to plan for or react to changesour business, in the airline industry or in gext economic
conditions.

Any one of these could have a material adversetedie our business, financial condition and resoiltsperations.
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Our existing debt financing agreements and our aiaft operating leases contain restrictive covenattat impose significan
operating and financial restrictions on us.

Our aircraft financing loans and operating leasektae instruments governing our other indebtedoestin a
number of significant covenants and restrictiora timit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability:

» create material liens on our assi

» take certain actions that may impair credi rights to our aircraft
« sell assets or engage in certain mergers or caaimins; anc

e engage in other specified significant transacti

In addition, several of our aircraft financing agmeents require us to maintain compliance with djgetfinancial
ratios and other financial and operating tests.dxample, our access to certain borrowings undeaiocraft financing
arrangements is conditioned upon our maintenanagrimum debt service coverage and capitalizatadings. See “ltem 5.
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Liguahd Capital Resources.” Complying with thesesswants may cause
us to take actions that make it more difficult ¥@eute successfully our business strategy, and ayefate competition from
companies not subject to such restrictions. Morgawar failure to comply with these covenants caelsult in an event of
default or refusal by our creditors to extend dertd our loans.

If we fail to successfully take delivery of or rably operate new aircraft, our business could bertmed.

In recent years we have decided to incorporatenaoeu of new aircraft, including Embraer 190 airtrahrough the
end of 2008, Copa and AeroRepublica had acceptacdeof 15 and 9 Embraer 190 aircraft, respedyivéhe decision to
incorporate new aircraft has been based on thééngial to enhance customer satisfaction and irsere#ficiency. Acquisition
of new aircraft, involves a variety of risks retggito its ability to be successfully placed intovsee including:

+ difficulties or delays in obtaining the necesseeytifications from the aviation regulatory autities of the
countries to which we fly

 manufacture’'s delays in meeting the agreed upon aircraft deligsehedule

« difficulties in obtaining financing on acceptalbdems to complete our purchase of all of the aftarve have
committed to purchase; ai

« the inability of the new aircraft and its compoteeto comply with agreed upon specifications amdgsmance
standards

If we fail to successfully take delivery of, oriedlly operate new aircraft, our business, financoaddition and results of
operations could be harmed.

If we were to determine that our aircraft, rotabfgarts or inventory were impaired, it would have igsificant adverse effec
on our operating results.

We perform impairment reviews when there are paldicrisks of impairment or other indicators delsed in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, A4ounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assetsin
order to determine whether we need to reduce thrgicg value of our aircraft and related assethwitelated charge to our
earnings. In addition to the fact that the valuewf fleet declines as it ages, any potential excapacity in the airline industry,
airline bankruptcies and other factors beyond amtrol may further contribute to the decline of fag market value of our
aircraft and related rotable parts and inventdrguth impairment does occur, we would be requireder U.S. GAAP to write
down these assets to their estimated fair markeewhrough a charge to earnings. A significantrghdo earnings would
adversely affect our financial condition and op@tesults. In addition, the interest rates on tedavailability of certain of
our aircraft financing loans are tied to the vabfi¢he aircraft securing the loans. If those valwese to decrease substantially,
our interest rates may rise or the lenders unaesetioans may cease extending credit to us, eth&hich could have an
adverse impact on our financial condition and rtssofl operations.
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We rely on information technology systems, and waynbecome more dependent on such systems in thedut

We rely upon information technology systems to apepur business and increase our efficiency. \Wdighly
reliant on certain critical systems, such as thep8e and Visaer systems for maintenance, the “SEH&ERomputer reservation
and check-in system and the Airmax revenue managesystem. Other systems are designed to decréedsbwtion costs
through Internet reservations and to maximize caigtributions. These systems may not deliver thpficipated benefits. Als
in transitioning to new systems we may lose dataxperience interruptions in service, which coudnh our business.

Our quarterly results can fluctuate substantiallpnd the trading price of our Class A shares maydféected by such
variations.

The airline industry is by nature cyclical and sed, and our operating results may vary from aarad quarter. We
tend to experience the highest levels of traffid evenue in July and August, with a smaller peatkaffic in December and
January. In general, demand for air travel is high¢he third and fourth quarters, particularlyimternational markets, because
of the increase in vacation travel during theséogerrelative to the remainder of the year. We gaheexperience our lowest
levels of passenger traffic in April and May. Giveur high proportion of fixed costs, seasonality affect our profitability
from quarter to quarter. Demand for air travellgaffected by factors such as economic conditisas or the threat of war,
fare levels and weather conditions.

Due to the factors described above and othersitlesicin this annual report, quarter-to-quarter carigpns of our
operating results may not be good indicators offoture performance. In addition, it is possiblattin any quarter our
operating results could be below the expectatidmsvestors and any published reports or analysgarding our company. In
that event, the price of our Class A shares coatdie, perhaps substantially.

Our reputation and financial results could be harrdén the event of an accident or incident involvirgyr aircraft.

An accident or incident involving one of our airitreould involve significant claims by injured pasgjers and othel
as well as significant costs related to the repareplacement of a damaged aircraft and its teargar permanent loss from
service. In July of 2007, one of our AeroRepubkrabraer 190s overran a wet runway at Santa Madknibia. The accident
did not cause any serious injuries but the air@a$tained damages causing its permanent remavaldervice. We are
required by our creditors and the lessors of ouwraifit under our operating lease agreements tg tiahility insurance, but the
amount of such liability insurance coverage maybeadequate and we may be forced to bear sulatisses in the event of
any future accident. Our insurance premiums may ialsrease due to an accident or incident affectimg of our aircraft.
Substantial claims resulting from an accident inems of our related insurance coverage or incrgasediums would harm our
business and financial results. Moreover, any aft@ccident or incident, even if fully insured utt cause the public to
perceive us as less safe or reliable than othiémesrwhich could harm our business and resultspefations. Our business
would also be significantly harmed if the publioals flying our aircraft due to an adverse pereeptf the types of aircraft
that we operate arising from safety concerns cergbhoblems, whether real or perceived, or in treneof an accident
involving those types of aircraft.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could negatiy affect our net income.

In 2008, approximately 69.7% of our expenses an@%®f our revenues were denominated in U.S. dollEne
remainder of our expenses and revenues were deatadiim the currencies of the various countrieshich we fly, with the
largest non-dollar amount denominated in Colomifiesos. As a result of the acquisition of AeroReipabh April 2005, we
have an increased exposure to the Colombian Femwoy bf these currencies decline in value agdhestJ.S. dollar, our
revenues, expressed in U.S. dollars, and our dpgratargin would be adversely affected. We mayhb@oable to adjust our
fares denominated in other currencies to offsetiacreases in U.S. dollar-denominated expensegases in interest expense
or exchange losses on fixed obligations or indete#sd denominated in foreign currency. Copa cusreltiés not hedge the risk
of fluctuation in foreign exchange rates. AeroRdjmabcurrently has hedges in place with respesbioe of its U.S. dollar /
Colombian Peso exposure. We are exposed to exchatg®sses, as well as gains, due to the fluctuat the value of local
currencies vis-a-vis the U.S. dollar during theigetof time (typically between 1 to 2 weeks) betwéee time we are paid in
local currencies and the time we are able to reggiatthe revenues in U.S. dollars. Exchange catnoVenezuela, however,
delay our ability to repatriate cash generated fogarations in Venezuela and increase our U.Sad@knezuelan Bolivar
exposure.

11




Table of Contents

Our maintenance costs will increase as Copa'’s flages and as we perform maintenance on AeroRepuatdiolder fleet.

The average age of Copa’s fleet was approximat@lydars as of December 31, 2008. In past yeatsawe incurred
a low level of maintenance expenses because mais¢ @arts on Copa’s aircraft were still coveredammulti-year warranties.
We expect that our maintenance costs will incraggaficantly, both on an absolute basis and asragmtage of our operating
expenses as our fleet ages and these warrantige.exp

In recent years, AeroRepublica’s fleet averagetegedecreased significantly, as a result of thet fienewal program
which has replaced older MD-80 aircraft with newltEeaer-190 aircraft. As of December 31, 2008, therage age of
AeroRepublica’s fleet was approximately 5.7 ye¥¥s. believe the MD-80 aircraft operated by AeroRdjsabwill likely be
less reliable than its newer aircraft and can lpeeted to require significantly greater expend&we maintenance, which may
lead to an overall increase in our consolidatedaipey expenses.

If we enter into a prolonged dispute with any of bemployees, many of whom are represented by unionsf we are
required to increase substantially the salarieslmrnefits of our employees, it may have an advemspdct on our operations
and cash flows.

Approximately 49% of the Company’s employees belting labor union. There are currently five unicosering
our Copa employees based in Panama: the pilotshuttfie flight attendants’ union; the mechanicdbuanthe traffic attendants’
union; and a generalized union, which represenygége handlers, aircraft cleaners, counter agantspther non-executive
administrative staff. Copa entered into new collecbargaining agreements with its general uniodulg 2008, its flight
attendants’ union on April 2006 and its pilot unimm November 2007. After extensive negotiationscividid not lead to a
mutually satisfactory resolution, Copa and the maeas’ union entered into a government-mandateitration, and a
collective bargaining agreement was agreed to orclvi29, 2006 as a result of such arbitration prdiregs. Previously, Copa
has not had to resort to arbitration to resolveotiations with its unions. Collective bargainingegments in Panama are
typically between three and four year terms. We hksve union contracts with our Copa employeesaziBand Mexico.
AeroRepublica is a party to collective bargainiggesements that cover all of AeroRepublica’s 166tpiand cailots and all o
AeroRepublicas 208 flight attendants. A strike, work interruptior stoppage or any prolonged dispute with ourleyges whe
are represented by any of these unions could haeelerse impact on our operations. These riski/pieally exacerbated
during periods of renegotiation with the unionsyAanegotiated collective bargaining agreementdfeature significant wag
increases and a consequent increase in our ogeedpenses. Employees outside of Panama that aceimently members of
unions may also form new unions that may seek éuntfage increases or benefits.

Our business is labor intensive. We expect salaniages and benefits to increase on a gross laasithese costs
could increase as a percentage of our overall .cdést® are unable to hire, train and retain qugdifpilots and other employees
at a reasonable cost, our business could be haantede may be unable to complete our expansiorsplan

Our investment in AeroRepublica may not generate thenefits we sought when we purchased the company.

In the second quarter of 2005, we purchased AerdRig@a, a Colombian airline currently providing ptio-point
service among 12 cities within Colombia and intéioral service to Panama City and Caracas. AeroBl&gls results of
operations are highly sensitive to competitive ¢ooids in the Colombian domestic air travel marlégtroRepublica’s rapid
growth in recent years came during a period in Withe domestic market leader, Aerovias del Contex@mericano S.A.
(Avianca), experienced severe financial difficugtibat resulted in its bankruptcy and the exit fitbe market of several other
competitors. Avianca has emerged from bankruptth wéw management and an improved financial caditt is therefore
likely that AeroRepublica will face stronger comifien in the future than it has in recent years] as prior results may not be
indicative of its future performance.
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AeroRepublica’s results of operations are signiftgaless profitable than those of Copa. AeroRejmalthas
experienced losses in recent periods and may haweaing net losses in future fiscal periods. Waeymot be able to achieve
the cost savings and other improvements we sed&raRepublica, and our failure to do so would haumn consolidated
operating margins and results of operations. Owgstment in AeroRepublica is subject to many reskd uncertainties that will
ultimately determine whether the acquisition wdhtinue to increase our overall profitability. Séem 4B. Business
Overview—AeroRepublica.”

Our revenues depend on our relationship with trawgjents and tour operators.

In 2008, approximately 56% of our revenues werévddrfrom tickets sold by travel agents or tourrapers. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to mairf@orable relationships with these ticket sell€ar revenues could be
adversely impacted if travel agents or tour opesattect to favor other airlines or to disfavor Qsir relationship with travel
agents and tour operators may be affected by:

» the size of commissions offered by other airlir
e changes in our arrangements with other distributbedrline tickets; ani
« the introduction and growth of new methods of sglliickets.
We rely on third parties to provide our customensdaus with facilities and services that are intedta our business.

We have entered into agreements with third-partyrectors to provide certain facilities and sersicequired for our
operations, such as heavy aircraft and engine er@nice; call center services; and catering, grévandling, cargo and
baggage handling, or “below the wingitcraft services. For example, at airports othantTocumen International Airport, all
the “below the wing” aircraft services for Copayfits are performed by contractors. AeroRepublicdracts ground handling
equipment and “below the wing” tasks in twelvelod fourteen cities it serves. Overhaul maintenamck“C-checks” for Copa
are handled by contractors in the United Statesafa and Costa Rica, and some line maintenandgofsa is handled at
certain airports by contract workers rather thanesaployees. Substantially all of our agreementh third-party contractors
are subject to termination on short notice. Ths lmsexpiration of these agreements or our inglititrenew these agreements
or to negotiate new agreements with other provideromparable rates could harm our business audtsef operations.
Further, our reliance on third parties to provideemtial services on our behalf gives us less abower the costs, efficiency,
timeliness and quality of those services. A contnas negligence could compromise our aircraft mdanger passengers and
crew. This could also have a material adverse effieour business. We expect to be dependent dnaireements for the
foreseeable future and if we enter any new marvketwill need to have similar agreements in place.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers.

We are subject to the risks of having a limited bemof suppliers for our aircraft and engines. ©hthe elements of
our business strategy is to save costs by operatgigplified aircraft fleet. Copa currently opesthe Boeing 737-700/800
Next Generation aircraft powered by CFNV-7B engines from CFM International and the Embd#, powered by General
Electric CF 34-10 engines. AeroRepublica curreapgrates the Embraer 190, powered by General El€f 34-10 engines
and MD-80 fleet powered by Pratt & Whitney JT8D-ZIfjines. With the exception of the MD-80 fleetjathis currently
being phased out of operation in connection withflmet renovation strategy, we currently intenatémtinue to rely exclusive
on these aircraft for the foreseeable future. ¥f @hBoeing, Embraer, CFM International or GE Erggirwere unable to perform
their contractual obligations, or if we are unatol@cquire or lease new aircraft or engines fromraft or engine manufacturers
or lessors on acceptable terms, we would haventbahother supplier for a similar type of airci@ftengine.
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If we have to lease or purchase aircraft from amoslupplier, we could lose the benefits we deneenfour current
fleet composition. We cannot assure you that aplaoement aircraft would have the same operatingratdges as the Boeing
737-700/800 Next Generation or Embraer 190 air¢haft would be replaced or that Copa could leagriorhase engines that
would be as reliable and efficient as the CFM 56and GE CF34-10. We may also incur substantiabttiam costs, including
costs associated with retraining our employeedacép our manuals and adapting our facilities. Gperations could also be
harmed by the failure or inability of Boeing, EméraCFM International or GE Engines to provide isight parts or related
support services on a timely basis.

Our business would be significantly harmed if aigieslefect or mechanical problem with any of theety of aircraft
or components that we operate were discoveredmbald ground any of our aircraft while the defecpooblem was corrected,
assuming it could be corrected at all. The useuofaircraft could be suspended or restricted byleggry authorities in the
event of any actual or perceived mechanical orgegroblems. Our business would also be signiflgdrgrmed if the public
began to avoid flying with us due to an adversegmion of the types of aircraft that we operatarshing from safety concer
or other problems, whether real or perceived, dhanevent of an accident involving those typesaiafraft or components.

We also depend on limited suppliers with respesiuigplies obtained locally, such as our fuel supphese local
suppliers may not be able to maintain the pacauofyjoowth and our requirements may exceed theialoiéipes, which may
adversely affect our ability to execute our growstiategy

We are dependent on key personnel.

Our success depends to a significant extent upmeftorts and abilities of our senior managemearmntand key
financial, commercial, operating and maintenanasgel. In particular, we depend on the serviéesinsenior management
team, including Pedro Heilbron, our Chief Execut®icer, Victor Vial, our Chief Financial OfficeDaniel Gunn, our Chief
Operating Officer and Joe Mohan, our Vice-Presiaddér@ommercial and Planning. Competition for highlyalified personnel
is intense, and the loss of any executive offisenior manager or other key employee without adegeplacement or the
inability to attract new qualified personnel coblave a material adverse effect upon our busin@esating results and financ
condition.

Our operations in Cuba, which has been identifiegl the U.S. Department of State as a state spongéemorism, may
adversely affect our reputation and the liquiditynd value of our Class A shares.

We currently operate approximately eight daily dgpas to and from Cuba which provide passengegocand mail
transportation service. For the year ended Deceihe2008, our transported passengers to and fnaloa @presented
approximately 4.8% of our total passengers carfd.operating revenues from Cuban operations duhia year ended
December 31, 2008 represented approximately 6.48tiotfotal consolidated operating revenues for s@er. Our assets
located in Cuba are insignificant.

Cuba has been identified by the United States gowent as a state sponsor of terrorism, and theTWe&sury
Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OBA@ministers and enforces economic and tradeisasdtased on U.S.
foreign policy against Cuba and certain other tagéoreign countries. You should understand thatowerall business
reputation may suffer as a result of our activitre€uba, particularly if such activities grow imetfuture. Certain U.S. states
have recently enacted legislation regarding investsby pension funds and other retirement systema@mpanies, such as
ours, that have business activities with Cuba d@hdraountries that have been identified as test@ponsoring states. Similar
legislation may be pending in other states. Assaltepension funds and other retirement systemshmaaubject to new
reporting requirements and other burdensome réstri&with respect to investments in companies siscburs. Pension funds
and similar institutions represent an importantrsewf demand for our shares, and if their willings to invest in and hold our
shares were to diminish as a result of any suchirements or restrictions, or for any other reastowpuld likely have a
material adverse effect on the liquidity and vadfieur Class A shares.
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Risks Relating to the Airline Industry
The airline industry is highly competitive.

We face intense competition throughout our routevagk. Overall airline industry profit margins admw and
industry earnings are volatile. Airlines competeha areas of pricing, scheduling (frequency aighfltimes), on-time
performance, frequent flyer programs and otherisesv We compete with a number of other airlined turrently serve some
of the routes on which we operate, including Griid&A, American Airlines Inc., Delta Air Lines, Mes@ana and Avianca.
Some of our competitors, such as American Airlimeasje larger customer bases and greater brandniéioogn the markets w
serve outside Panama, and some of our competiwes dignificantly greater financial and marketiegaurces than we have.
Airlines based in other countries may also recsiMesidies, tax incentives or other state aid frioeirtrespective governments,
which are not provided by the Panamanian governnidér@ commencement of, or increase in, servicdhemdutes we serve by
existing or new carriers could negatively impaat operating results. Likewise, competitors’ serviceroutes that we are
targeting for expansion may make those expansiamsfess attractive.

We must constantly react to changes in prices andces offered by our competitors to remain coiitiget The
airline industry is highly susceptible to priceatisnting, particularly because airlines incur viesy marginal costs for
providing service to passengers occupying otherwms®ld seats. Carriers use discount fares to Ettetraffic during periods
of lower demand to generate cash flow and to iree@market share. Any lower fares offered by ordaeiare often matched |
competing airlines, which often results in lowedustry yields with little or no increase in traffevels. Price competition
among airlines in the future could lead to lowee$aor passenger traffic on some or all of ouresuivhich could negatively
impact our profitability. We cannot assure you thiay of our competitors will not undercut our faneshe future or increase
capacity on routes in an effort to increase thespective market share. Although we intend to caenpigorously and to assert
our rights against any predatory conduct, suclviagtdy other airlines could reduce the level affaor passenger traffic on ¢
routes to the point where profitable levels of giens could not be maintained. Due to our smailex and financial resources
compared to several of our competitors, we mayebs &ble to withstand aggressive marketing tacti€sre wars engaged in
our competitors should such events occur.

We may face increasing competition from low-costr@rs offering discounted fares.

Traditional hub-and-spoke carriers in the Unitealt& and Europe have in recent years faced suiastmd
increasing competitive pressure from low-cost easrdffering discounted fares. The low-cost castieperations are typically
characterized by point-to-point route networks fng on the highest demand city pairs, high aitaréfization, single class
service and fewer in-flight amenities. As evidenbgdhe operations of Gol Intelligent Airlines Inor Gol, which continues to
grow both in Brazil as well as in other South Arsari countries, Spirit, which serves Latin Ameriganf Fort Lauderdale,
JetBlue, which has flies from Orlando to Bogotad amumber of low-cost carriers which operate witkliexico, among others,
the low-cost carrier business model appears taberg acceptance in the Latin American aviaticgustry. As a result, we
may face new and substantial competition from l@stcarriers in the future which could result igrsficant and lasting
downward pressure on the fares we charge for fightour routes.

Significant changes or extended periods of high fuests or fuel supply disruptions could materialffect our operating
results.

Fuel costs constitute a significant portion of tatal operating expenses, representing approxisn8teB% of our
operating expenses in 2006, 32.0% in 2007 and 3&1@®B08. Fuel prices reached record levels duttiegmiddle of 2008, but
decreased substantially in the second half of 20€8fuel costs have been subject to wide fluatnatas a result of increases in
demand, sudden disruptions in and other concemst gfiobal supply, as well as market speculatiarthBhe cost and
availability of fuel are subject to many econonpolitical, weather, environmental and other factomd events occurring
throughout the world that we can neither contral axurately predict, including international picktl and economic
circumstances such as the political instabilityniajor oil-exporting countries in Latin America, Afa and Asia. Although we
have entered into hedging agreements for a poofiaur fuel needs through the fourth quarter of 20fe have, in recent
periods, entered into such hedging arrangemengsmuch more selective basis. These agreementsprowly limited
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protection against future increases in the prickief, and can be less effective during volatilekeaconditions. Fuel prices are
likely to increase above their current levels aray/rdo so in the near future. If a future fuel sypgiiortage were to arise as a
result of production curtailments by the Organaatdf the Petroleum Exporting Countries, or OPEG@Gisauption of oil

imports, supply disruptions resulting from sevegmather or natural disasters, the continued unndsag, other conflicts in the
Middle East or otherwise, higher fuel prices ottfier reductions of scheduled airline services coeddlt. We cannot assure
you that we would be able to offset any increasdhe price of fuel by increasing our fares. Cosedy, lower fuel prices me
result in lower fares through the reduction or @liation of fuel surcharges. Significant increasefuel costs would materially
and negatively affect our operating results.

We may experience difficulty finding, training ancktaining pilots and other employees.

The airline industry is currently experiencing bopshortage caused by extraordinary air traffiovgh in the Persian
Gulf, China and India; the rise of lucrative lowstearriers in Europe and Asia; and the sustaiaeovery of the U.S. airlines
from the industry recession caused by the Septefiib&zrrorist attacks. This worldwide shortage itdtp disproportionately
affects smaller and regional carriers. An inabitdyattract and retain pilots may adversely aftestgrowth strategy by limiting
our ability to add new routes or increase the fezgpy of existing routes.

The airline industry is a labor-intensive busind¥e. employ a large number of flight attendants,meaiance
technicians and other operating and administrgg@rsonnel. The airline industry has, from timeitioet, experienced a shortage
of qualified personnel. In addition, as is commadthwnost of our competitors, we may, from timeitod, face considerable
turnover of our employees. Should the turnovemopleyees sharply increase, our training costshlkignificantly higher. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to recttdtn and retain the qualified employees that wednte continue our current
operations or replace departing employees. A faitarhire and retain qualified employees at a nealsie cost could materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditiod results of operations.

Because the airline industry is characterized byghifixed costs and relatively elastic revenues]iags cannot quickly reduc
their costs to respond to shortfalls in expectedernue.

The airline industry is characterized by low grpssfit margins, high fixed costs and revenues tfeaterally exhibit
substantially greater elasticity than costs. Theraging costs of each flight do not vary signifitamvith the number of
passengers flown and, therefore, a relatively sof@lhge in the number of passengers, fare priaitiafiic mix could have a
significant effect on operating and financial résuThese fixed costs cannot be adjusted quickigdpond to changes in
revenues and a shortfall from expected revenuddeorild have a material adverse effect on oumuatme.

Airline bankruptcies could adversely affect the instry.

In recent years, several air carriers have sougtadrganize under Chapter 11 of the United Stéedkruptcy Code,
including some of our competitors such as Avianué Relta. Successful completion of such reorgaitimatcould present us
with competitors with significantly lower operatigsts derived from labor, supply and financingtraets renegotiated under
the protection of the Bankruptcy Code. For examfsleanca emerged from bankruptcy with a signifidpinproved financial
condition. In addition, air carriers involved irorganizations have historically undertaken subgthfare discounting in order
to maintain cash flows and to enhance continuetbmes loyalty. Such fare discounting could furthewer yields for all
carriers, including us. Further, the market valtiaicraft would likely be negatively impacted inamber of air carriers seek to
reduce capacity by eliminating aircraft from thiddets.
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Our business may be adversely affected by downtimrthe airline industry caused by terrorist attaskwar or outbreak of
disease, which may alter travel behavior or increasosts.

Demand for air transportation may be adverselycséfie by terrorist attacks, war or political andiabmstability,
epidemics, natural disasters and other events.oAtlyese events in the markets in which we oparatéd have a material
impact on our business, financial condition andilteof operations. Furthermore, these types afsitns could have a
prolonged effect on air transportation demand andestain cost items.

For example, the terrorist attacks in the Uniteait€d on September 11, 2001 had a severe adveraetimpthe
airline industry. Airline traffic in the United Stes fell dramatically after the attacks and deaddsss severely throughout
Latin America. Our revenues depend on the numbpas$engers traveling on our flights. Thereforg,fature terrorist attacks
or threat of attacks, whether or not involving coenaial aircraft, any increase in hostilities ralgtito reprisals against terrorist
organizations or otherwise and any related econampeact could result in decreased passenger trafiicmaterially and
negatively affect our business, financial conditiomd results of operations.

In addition, the escalation of military involvementthe Middle East and the publictoncerns about the possibility
an outbreak of disease (such as swine flu) cowé hanegative impact on the public’s willingnessrével by air. It is
impossible to determine if and when such adverse®sfwill abate and whether they will decrease agairfor air travel, which
could materially and negatively affect our busindismncial condition and results of operations.

Increases in insurance costs and/or significant tattions in coverage would harm our business, finaalccondition and
results of operations.

Following the 2001 terrorist attacks, premiumsifmurance against aircraft damage and liabilitshtad parties
increased substantially, and insurers could rethuie coverage or increase their premiums eveméuarin the event of
additional terrorist attacks, hijackings, airlimashes or other events adversely affecting thimaithdustry abroad or in Latin
America. In the future, certain aviation insuracoeld become unaffordable, unavailable or availablg for reduced amounts
of coverage that are insufficient to comply witle fevels of insurance coverage required by air¢eafiers and lessors or
applicable government regulations. While governmémbther countries have agreed to indemnifyradifor liabilities that
they might incur from terrorist attacks or provide/-cost insurance for terrorism risks, the Panaaragovernment has not
indicated an intention to provide similar benefitais. Increases in the cost of insurance maytrashbth higher fares and a
decreased demand for air travel generally, whialiccmaterially and negatively affect our busindgsncial condition and
results of operations.

Failure to comply with applicable environmental raetations could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are covered by various local, natiand international environmental regulations. SEheegulations
cover, among other things, emissions to the atneargpldisposal of solid waste and aqueous effluaitsaft noise and other
activities that result from the operation of aiftr&uture operations and financial results may\a a result of such
regulations. Compliance with these regulationsaad or existing regulations that may be applicables in the future could
increase our cost base and adversely affect ouatipes and financial results.

Risks Relating to Panama and our Region
We are highly dependent on conditions in Panama.

A substantial portion of our assets are locatatiénRepublic of Panama, a significant proportioowf customers are
Panamanian, and substantially all of Copa’s fligigerate through our hub at Tocumen Internationigdokt. As a result, we
depend on economic and political conditions préwgifrom time to time in Panama. Panama’s econamiitions in turn
highly depend on the continued profitability and®omic impact of the Panama Canal. Control of thweaha Canal and many
other assets were transferred from the United StatPanama in 1999 after nearly a century of th8trol. Political events in
Panama may significantly affect our operations. Pheamanian government is democratically electddpagsidential electiol
were successfully held on May 3, 2009. AlthoughRamamanian political climate is currently stakle,cannot assure you that
current conditions will continue under the new adistration. Although the countries of Latin Amerigad the Caribbean fared
comparatively well at the beginning of the globiabhcial crisis, as of late 2008, and continuing 2009, many of the
countries we serve, including Panama, are expenigraither economic slowdowns or recessions, whiely translate into a
weakening of demand and an adverse effect on @indss in the future. If the Panamanian economegréaipces a sustained
recession, or if Panama experiences significantigall disruptions, our business, financial cormitand results of operations
could be materially and negatively affected.
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We have paid low taxes in the past, and any inceeasthe taxes we or our shareholders pay in Panaanahe other
countries where we do business would adverselydffiee value of our Class A shares.

We cannot assure you that we will not be subjeeiiditional taxes in the future or that curreneswill not be
increased. Our provision for income taxes was $a#liBon, $17.1 million and $17.5 million in the ses ended December 31,
2006, 2007 and 2008, which represented an effertomme tax rate of 8.4%, 9.6% and 12.8% for tlspeetive periods. We
are subject to local tax regulations in each ofjtiisdictions where we operate, the great majaftwhich are related to the
taxation of income. In some of the countries tockihive fly, we do not pay any income taxes, becawesdo not generate
income under the laws of those countries eitheabse they do not have income tax or because digsea other arrangemer
those countries have with Panama. In the remaicoumtries, we pay income tax at a rate ranging 2866 to 34% of income.
Different countries calculate income in differerays, but they are typically derived from saleshia &pplicable country
multiplied by our net margin or by a presumed natgm set by the relevant tax legislation. The debeation of our taxable
income in certain countries is based on a comlunaif revenues sourced to each particular coumttytlae allocation of
expenses of our operations to that particular aguiihe methodology for multinational transportat@mompany sourcing of
revenue and expense is not always specificallycpie=d in the relevant tax regulations, and therefe subject to interpretatis
by both us and the respective taxing authoritieldihonally, in some countries, the applicabilitfyo@rtain regulations
governing non-income taxes and the determinatiayuofiling status are also subject to interpretatiWe cannot estimate the
amount, if any, of potential tax liabilities thaight result if the allocations, interpretations diidg positions used by us in our
tax returns were challenged by the taxing autlesitif one or more countries. The low rate at whietpay income tax has be
critical to our profitability in recent years arfdtiwere to increase, our financial performancd eesults of operations would be
materially and adversely affected. Due to the cditipe revenue environment, many increases in &wbtaxes have been
absorbed by the airline industry rather than bgiagsed on to the passenger. Any such increases faes and taxes may
reduce demand for air travel and thus our revenues.

We have elected to calculate our Panamanian in¢caxwith the alternative gross tax election. Untthés method,
based on Article 121 of the Panamanian Fiscal Codeme for international transportation compaisesalculated based on a
territoriality method that determines gross revenerned in Panama by applying the percentagele$ fidwn within the
Panamanian territory against total revenues. Utldemethod, loss carry-forwards cannot be appbeoffset tax liability. If
the Panamanian tax authorities do not agree wittmmihods of allocating revenues, we may be subjeatiditional tax
liability. Airlines in Panama are currently not gett to any taxes relating specifically to theiaglindustry other than the 4%
tax collected from passengers on tickets sold maRe for the benefit of the Panamanian Tourism &ure

Any future change in the Panamanian tax law inéngethe taxes payable by us could have materialeese effects
on our business, financial condition and resulbmérations.

Political unrest and instability in Colombia may aersely affect our business and the market priceoaf Class A shares

We completed our acquisition of AeroRepublica ia $iecond quarter of 2005. Most of AeroRepublicefeduled
operations are conducted within Colombia. As alte8ieroRepublica’s results of operations are hygtgnsitive to
macroeconomic and political conditions prevailingdolombia, which have been highly volatile andtabk and may continue
to be so for the foreseeable future. In additierrarism and violence have plagued Colombia inpd&t. Continuing guerrilla
activity could cause political unrest and instapiln Colombia, which could adversely affect Aer@Rblica’s financial
condition and results of operations. The thredeobrist attacks could impose additional costsignincluding enhanced
security to protect our aircraft, facilities andgennel against possible attacks as well as inece@msurance premiums. As a
result, we may encounter significant unanticipgiezblems at AeroRepublica which could have a matedverse effect on o
consolidated financial condition and results ofragiens.
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Risks Relating to Our Class A Shares

The value of our Class A shares may be adverselgciéd by ownership restrictions on our capital skoand the power of ou
Board of Directors to take remedial actions to peege our operating license and international routights by requiring sale:
of certain outstanding shares or issuing new stock.

Pursuant to the Panamanian Aviation Act, as ameadddnterpreted to date, and certain of the bidtecaties
affording us the right to fly to other countriesg are required to be “substantially owned” andéeetifrely controlled” by
Panamanian nationals. Our failure to comply witbhsrequirements could result in the loss of ouraP@emian operating license
and/or our right to fly to certain important coue$. Our Articles of IncorporatiofPacto Socialgive special powers to our
independent directors to take certain significaioas to attempt to ensure that the amount ofeshlaeld in us by non-
Panamanian nationals does not reach a level wioighi geopardize our compliance with Panamaniantaladeral ownership
and control requirements. If our independent daectietermine it is reasonably likely that we Wil in violation of these
ownership and control requirements and our Claskdses represent less than 10% of our total oulistgrcapital stock
(excluding newly issued shares sold with the apgirof our independent directors committee), ouepehdent directors will
have the power to issue additional Class B shar&@ass C shares with special voting rights saleliPanamanian nationals.
See “10B. Memorandum and Articles of Association-s&#ption of Capital Stock.”

If any of these remedial actions are taken, thingaprice of the Class A shares may be materaily adversely
affected. An issuance of Class C shares could theveffect of discouraging certain changes of aymtf Copa Holdings or
may reduce any voting power that the Class A shemgsy prior to the Class C share issuance. Themebe no assurance that
we would be able to complete an issuance of ClassaBes to Panamanian nationals. We cannot assuragt restrictions on
ownership by hon-Panamanian nationals will not idgpthe development of an active public trading reftr the Class A
shares, adversely affect the market price of tles<A shares or materially limit our ability togaicapital in markets outside of
Panama in the future.

Our controlling shareholder has the ability to dice our business and affairs, and its interests cduonflict with yours.

All of our Class B shares, representing approxihge28.2% of the economic interest in Copa Holdiags all of the
voting power of our capital stock, are owned by Sk CIASA is in turn controlled by a group of Paranian investors. In
order to comply with the Panamanian Aviation Actamended and interpreted to date, we have amendextganizational
documents to modify our share capital so that CIA@W\continue to exercise voting control of Copalbdings. CIASA will not
be able to transfer its voting control unless aarf our company will remain with Panamanian nadits. CIASA will maintain
voting control of the company so long as CIASA domés to own a majority of our Class B shares aeddlass B shares
continue to represent more than 10% of our totateskapital (excluding newly issued shares sold thie approval of our
independent directors committee). Even after CIA®Ases to own the majority of the voting powerwfaapital stock, CIAS/
may continue to control our Board of Directors nedtly through its control of our Nominating andr@orate Governance
Committee. As the controlling shareholder, CIASAyndérect us to take actions that could be conttaryour interests and
under certain circumstances CIASA will be able tevent other shareholders, including you, from kilog these actions. Also,
CIASA may prevent change of control transactiorad thight otherwise provide you with an opportunidydispose of or realize
a premium on your investment in our Class A shares.

The Class A shares will only be permitted to vatevery limited circumstances and may never havd fidting rights.

The holders of Class A shares have no right to abtaur shareholders’ meetings except with resjoecorporate
transformations of Copa Holdings, mergers, conatilicis or spin-offs of Copa Holdings, changes epomate purpose,
voluntary delistings of the Class A shares fromNYSE, the approval of nominations of our indepenagrectors and
amendments to the foregoing provisions that adiyeedtect the rights and privileges of any Classtfares. The holders of
Class B shares have the power, subject to our soq@pital agreement with Continental, to elect tharBaf Directors and to
determine the outcome of all other matters to tédéel by a vote of shareholders. Class A shardsaitilhave full voting rights
unless the Class B shares represent less than fL6&6 total capital stock (excluding newly issuéduses sold with the approval
of our independent directors committee). See “l1€8B. Memorandum and Articles of Association—Dediwip of Capital
Stock.” We cannot assure you that the Class A shaileever carry full voting rights.
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Substantial future sales of our Class A shares b\ ASA could cause the price of the Class A shareslexrease

CIASA owns all of our Class B shares, and thoss£Eshares will be converted into Class A shdréney are sold
to non-Panamanian investors. In connection withiwitinl public offering in December 2005, Contitahand CIASA reduced
their ownership of our total capital stock from 488tapproximately 27.3% and from 51% to approxinya2®.2%, respectivel
In a follow-on offering in June 2006, Continentaither reduced its ownership of our total capitatk from 27.3% to 10.0%.
In May 2008, we, and CIASA, released Continentairfiits standstill obligations and they sold doweitiiemaining shares in
the public market. CIASA holds registration righiih respect to a significant portion of its shapessuant to a registration
rights agreement entered into in connection withioitial public offering. The market price of o@ass A shares could drop
significantly if CIASA further reduces its investniten us, other significant holders of our shara$a significant number of
shares or if the market perceives CIASA or othgnigicant holders intend to sell them.

Holders of our common stock are not entitled to praptive rights, and as a result you may experiesabstantial dilution
upon future issuances of stock by us.

Under Panamanian law and our organizational doctsnbolders of our Class A shares are not entitdethy
preemptive rights with respect to future issuarafesapital stock by us. Therefore, unlike compawigsanized under the laws
of many other Latin American jurisdictions, we Wik free to issue new shares of stock to otherggantithout first offering
them to our existing shareholders. In the futureweg sell Class A or other shares to persons ditlagr our existing
shareholders at a lower price than the sharesdglisald, and as a result you may experience suitditution of your interest
in us.

You may not be able to sell our Class A shareshatprice or at the time you desire because an actwv liquid market for the
Class A shares may not continue.

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE. Dullegtiiree months ended December 31, 2008, the avdedly
trading volume for our Class A shares as reporiethé NYSE was approximately 648,319 shares. Waatgpredict whether
an active liquid public trading market for our Ga% shares will be sustained. Active, liquid tragimarkets generally result in
lower price volatility and more efficient executiohbuy and sell orders for our investors. Theiliity of a securities market is
often affected by the volume of shares publiclydH®} unrelated parties.

Our Board of Directors may, in its discretion, améror repeal our dividend policy. You may not reaeithe level of dividends
provided for in the dividend policy or any dividesat all.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend pdhat provides for the payment of dividends torshalders equs
to approximately 10% of our annual consolidatedimeame. Our Board of Directors may, in its solgctétion and for any
reason, amend or repeal this dividend policy. Coard of Directors may decrease the level of diviieprovided for in this
dividend policy or entirely discontinue the paymehtividends. Future dividends with respect torelaf our common stock,
if any, will depend on, among other things, ouutesof operations, cash requirements, financiablitton, contractual
restrictions, business opportunities, provisionagflicable law and other factors that our Boar®wéctors may deem relevas
See “Item 8A. Consolidated Financial Statements@timr Financial Information—Dividend Policy.”

To the extent we pay dividends to our shareholdevs,will have less capital available to meet outute liquidity needs.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend pdhat provides for the payment of dividends torehalders equi
to approximately 10% of our annual consolidatedimedme. The aviation industry has cyclical chaggistics, and many
international airlines are currently experienciif§cllties meeting their liquidity needs. Also, ohusiness strategy
contemplates substantial growth over the next s¢éyears, and we expect such growth will requigeesat deal of liquidity. To
the extent that we pay dividends in accordance athdividend policy, the money that we distribtdeshareholders will not be
available to us to fund future growth and meetather liquidity needs.
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Our Articles of Incorporation impose ownership argbntrol restrictions on our company which ensureahPanamanian
nationals will continue to control us and that thesestrictions operate to prevent any change of wohor some transfers of
ownership in order to comply with the Aviation Aand other bilateral restrictions.

Under the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amended m@tedoreted to date, Panamanian nationals mustisgerc
“effective control” over the operations of the mid and must maintain “substantial ownershifhese phrases are not definel
the Aviation Act itself and it is unclear how a Ramanian court would interpret them. The share oglriprrequirements and
transfer restrictions contained in our Articledrdorporation, as well as the dual-class structdireur voting capital stock are
designed to ensure compliance with these owneestdpcontrol restrictions. See “ltem 10B. Memorandurd Articles of
Association—Description of Capital Stock.” Thesewpsions of our Articles of Incorporation may prevehange of control
transactions that might otherwise provide you vaithopportunity to realize a premium on your investtrin our Class A
shares. They also ensure that Panamanians wilhoento control all the decisions of our companytfe foreseeable future.

The protections afforded to minority shareholders Panama are different from and more limited thahdse in the United
States and may be more difficult to enforc

Under Panamanian law, the protections affordeditmrity shareholders are different from, and mudrenimited
than, those in the United States and some oth@r Baterican countries. For example, the legal frenmids with respect to
shareholder disputes is less developed under Paamaw than under U.S. law and there are diffepeocedural
requirements for bringing shareholder lawsuitsluding shareholder derivative suits. As a restilhay be more difficult for
our minority shareholders to enforce their righgaiast us or our directors or controlling sharebolthan it would be for
shareholders of a U.S. company. In addition, Pan@andaw does not afford minority shareholders asiyrprotections for
investors through corporate governance mechanisrirstae United States and provides no mandatoyeteoffer or similar
protective mechanisms for minority shareholderhaevent of a change in control. While our Artictdf Incorporation provide
limited rights to holders of our Class A sharesed their shares at the same price as CIASA iretlent that a sale of Class B
shares by CIASA results in the purchaser havingitité to elect a majority of our board, there atieer change of control
transactions in which holders of our Class A sharesld not have the right to participate, includihg sale of interests by a
party that had previously acquired Class B shama CIASA, the sale of interests by another pamtganjunction with a sale
by CIASA, the sale by CIASA of control to more thame party, or the sale of controlling interest€IASA itself.

Developments in Latin American countries and othemerging market countries may cause the market praf our Class /£
shares to decreas

The market value of securities issued by Panamammpanies may be affected to varying degrees byamic and
market conditions in other countries, includingesthatin American and emerging market countrieshéugh economic
conditions in emerging market countries outsider_America may differ significantly from economiomditions in Panama
and Colombia or elsewhere in Latin America, investeeactions to developments in these other casinay have an adverse
effect on the market value of securities of Panadamaissuers or issuers with significant operationisatin America. As a result
of economic problems in various emerging markentides in the past (such as the Asian financiagisof 1997, the Russian
financial crisis of 1998 and the Argentine finamciasis in 2001), investors have viewed investrséntemerging markets with
heightened caution. Crises in other emerging martentries may hamper investor enthusiasm for #exziof Panamanian
issuers, including our shares, which could adveraféct the market price of our Class A shares.
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Item 4. Information on the Company
A. History and Development of the Company
General

Copa was established in 1947 by a group of Panamamvestors and Pan American World Airways, whpobvided
technical and economic assistance as well as tdpitzlly, Copa served three domestic destinagiocn Panama with a fleet of
three Douglas C-47 aircraft. In the 1960s, Copaahéts international service with three weeklyfilig to cities in Costa Rica,
Jamaica and Colombia using a small fleet of Avr8s/dnd Electra 188s. In 1971, Pan American Wortdvays sold its stake
Copa to a group of Panamanian investors who retaioatrol of the airline until 1986. During the 188 Copa suspended its
domestic service to focus on international flights.

In 1986, CIASA purchased 99% of Copa, which wadratled by the group of Panamanian shareholders who
currently control CIASA. From 1992 until 1998, Copas a part of a commercial alliance with Grupo PACnetwork of
Central American airline carriers. In 1997, togetiviéh Grupo TACA, Copa entered into a strategl@mate with American
Airlines. After a year our alliance with Americanrines was terminated by mutual consent.

On May 6, 1998, Copa Holdings, the holding compmyCopa and related companies was incorporated as
sociedad anénimander the laws of Panama to facilitate the sal€I\SA of a 49% stake in Copa Holdings to Continérita
connection with Continental’s investment, we erddrgo an extensive alliance agreement with Contialeproviding for code-
sharing, joint marketing, technical exchanges ahédrocooperative initiatives between the airlinisthe time of our initial
public offering in December 2005, Continental restids ownership of our total capital stock fron¥8 approximately
27.3%. In a follow-on offering in June 2006, Coetital further reduced its ownership of our totadited stock from 27.3% to
10.0%. In May 2008, Continental sold its remainéigres in the public market.

Since 1998, we have grown and modernized our fiédde improving customer service and reliabilityofa has
expanded its fleet from 13 aircraft to 42 aircr&it1999, we received our first Boeing 737-7002003 we received our first
Boeing 737-800s, and in 2005 we received our Eirabraer 190. In the first quarter of 2005, we caetgad our fleet renovation
program and discontinued use of our last BoeingZ@¥s. During the second quarter of 2005, we pussha®roRepublica, t
second-largest domestic air carrier in Colombigemms of number of passengers carried each yezg 8005. During this same
period, we have expanded from 24 destinations iodlitries to 45 destinations in 24 countries. \ld@ po continue our
expansion, which includes increasing our fleetrakie next several years.

Our principal executive offices are located at Board Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y AveniddadRotonda,
Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejo Business,Ramke Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Paremdaour telephone
number is +507 304-2677. The website of Copa is veepaair.com. AeroRepublica maintains a website at
www.aerorepublica.com.co. Information contained@maccessible through, these websites is not jiacated by reference
herein and shall not be considered part of thisiahreport. Our agent for service in the United&tas Puglisi & Associates,
850 Library Avenue, Suite 204, Newark, DelawarelB®7and its telephone number is (302) 738-6680.

Capital Expenditures

During 2008, our capital expenditures were $21518am, which consisted primarily of expendituredated to our
purchase of four Embraer 190 aircraft and one Bp&Bi/-800 aircraft, as well as to expenditurestedléo advance payments
on aircraft purchase contracts. During 2007, opitabexpenditures were $366.1 million, which catesdl primarily of
expenditures related to our purchase of nine Emldri@@ aircraft and two Boeing 737-800 aircraftyasl as to expenditures
related to advance payments on aircraft purchastazs. During 2006, our capital expenditures vi&82.0 million, which
consisted primarily of expenditures related to purchase of five Embraer 190 aircraft and two Bgé&iB7700 aircraft, as we
as to expenditures related to advance paymentsaafapurchase contracts.
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B. Business Overview

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlpaessenger and cargo service through our two pahoiperating
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRepublica. Copa opehatesits strategically located position in the Rbfic of Panama, and
AeroRepublica provides service primarily within Galbia complemented by international flights frontieas cities in
Colombia to Panama City and Caracas. We currepiyaie a fleet of 55 aircraft, 27 Boeing 737-Negn€ration aircraft, 24
Embraer 190 aircraft and 4 MD-80 aircraft. We catighave firm orders, including purchase and leasamitments, for 15
Boeing 737-Next Generation and two Embraer 1908 pamchase rights and options for up three additi@oeing 737-Next
Generation and 11 additional Embraer 190s.

Copa currently offers approximately 152 daily sakled flights among 45 destinations in 24 countiieNorth,
Central and South America and the Caribbean frerRdnama City hub. Copa provides passengers wigsacto flights to
more than 120 other destinations through codeslraaagements with Continental pursuant to whictheadine places its
name and flight designation code on the othergghf. Through its Panama City hub, Copa is abt®tsolidate passenger
traffic from multiple points to serve each destioateffectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 27 Boeing 737-Bexteration aircraft and 15 Embraer 190 aircrafbh\ait average
age of approximately 4.2 years as of December @18 2To meet its growing capacity requirements,&Clags firm orders,
including purchase and lease commitments, to ad=ptery of 15 additional aircraft through 2012aras purchase rights and
options that, if exercised, would allow it to actdplivery of up to nine additional aircraft thrdug012. Copa’s firm orders,
including purchase and lease commitments, areS@dtitional Boeing 737-Next Generation aircrafigl &s purchase rights
and options are for up to three Boeing 737-Nextebation aircraft and up to six Embraer 190s.

Copa started its strategic alliance with Continkimtd998. Since then, it has conducted joint manigeand code-
sharing arrangements, and participated in the awarding OnePass frequent flyer loyalty programbglily and on a co-
branded basis in Latin America. We believe that&®po-branding and joint marketing activities w@bntinental have
enhanced its brand in Latin America, and that étationship with Continental has afforded it cadted benefits, such as
improving purchasing power in negotiations withceaft vendors and insurers. Copa’s alliance aratedlservices agreements
with Continental are in effect until 2015.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliandeyT®am) as an Associate Member, in part due tetpport and
sponsorship of Continental. The SkyTeam networluhes carriers such as Delta Air Lines, Northwast,omexico, Air
France, Alitalia, KLM, Korean Air, AeroFlot, CSA @zh and China Southern. As an Associate Membekyf&m,
passengers flying Copa receive the same alliancefite on Copa flights as they receive on the fhghf any other member of
this alliance. Recently, Continental Airlines annced its intention to leave SkyTeam effective tharth quarter of 2009. Due
to the longstanding alliance relationship with Continentald @&m order to ensure Copa remains fully alignedwibntinental o
a number of important joint initiatives, Copa vdlso be leaving SkyTeam.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, the second-largest domestic carri@uailombia in
terms of number of passengers carried in 2005, wéliche time provided point-to-point service amadgities in Colombia.
AeroRepublica currently operates a fleet of ninebEaer 190 and four MB0s. As part of its fleet modernization and expam
plan, AeroRepublica has firm orders, including jnarse and lease commitments, to accept delivesy@Embraer 190 aircraft
through the end of 2009 and options to purchade tipe additional Embraer 190 aircraft through 201

Since January 2001, we have grown significantly lzank established a track record of consistenitpbility. Our

total operating revenues have increased from $280li&n in 2001 to $1.3 billion in 2008, while owperating margins have
also increased from 8.6% to 17.4% over the sameder
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Our Strengths

We believe our primary business strengths that hHoeved us to compete successfully in the aidiristry include

the following:

Our “Hub of the Americas” airport is strategicallypcated.We believe that Copa’s base of operations at the
geographically central location of Tocumen Inteioral Airport in Panama City, Panama provides coiefet
connections to our principal markets in North, Calnind South America and the Caribbean, enabbnig u
consolidate traffic to serve several destinatitiag o not generate enough demand to justify gonmeint service.
Flights from Panama operate with few service disoms due to weather, contributing to high completiactors and
on-time performance. Tocumen International Airpoeéa-level altitude allows our aircraft to operithout
performance restrictions that they would be subjeeit higher-altitude airports. We believe thap&'s hub in
Panama allows us to benefit from Panama City'sistas a center for financial services, shipping@mmerce and
from Panam’s stable, dolle-based economy, fr-trade zone and growing touris

We focus on keeping our operating costs lowecent years, our low operating costs and efficy have contributed
significantly to our profitability. Our operatingst per available seat mile, excluding costs fet &nd fleet
impairment charges, was 7.01 cents in 2004, 6.6&de 2005, 6.81 cents in 2006, 7.13 cents in 200¥7.46 in
2008. See “ltem 5. Operating and Financial Reviad Rrospects” for a reconciliation of our operatiogt per
available seat mile when excluding costs for furl Hieet impairment charges to our operating cestgvailable seat
mile. We believe that our cost per available seitg reflects our modern fleet, efficient operatiam the
competitive cost of labor in Panan

Copa operates a modern fle€opa’s fleet consists of modern Boeing 737-Nextésation and Embraer 190 aircraft
equipped with winglets and other modern cost-sawaimg) safety features. Over the next years, Copadistto
enhance its modern fleet through the addition ¢é@st 13 additional Boeing 737-Next Generatioorait. We

believe that Copa’s modern fleet contributes tmitdime performance and high completion factor¢petage of
scheduled flights not cancelled). We expect ouriBp&37-700s, 737-800s and Embraer 190s to contiffeeing
substantial operational cost advantages in termisebefficiency and maintenance costs. AeroRepahB currently
implementing a fleet modernization and expansiampSince December 2007, AeroRepublica has takaredeof
nine Embraer 190 aircraft and as of December 308 2@d firm lease commitments on two additional Exab190s
and purchase options and purchase rights for aitiaul five Embraer 190 aircral

We believe Copa has a strong brand and a reputdtioquality serviceWe believe that the Copa brand is associ
with value to passengers, providing world-classiserand competitive pricing. For the year endedddaber 31,
2008, Copa Airline’s statistic for on-time perfomta was 87.5%, completion factor was 99.6% and dggg
handling was 2.1 mishandled bags per 1000 passer@er goal is to apply our expertise in thesesateamprove
AeroRepublica’s service statistics to comparablelle Our focus on customer service has helpeditd passenger
loyalty. We believe that our brand has also bedrarced through our relationship with Continentat)uding our
joint marketing of the OnePass loyalty program @tit. America, the similarity of our aircraft livegnd aircraf
interiors and our participation in Continer's Presider's Club lounge progran

Our management fosters a culture of teamwork amdimoous improvemen®ur management team has been
successful at creating a culture based on teamammaiKocused on continuous improvement. Each oEmployees ¢
Copa has individual objectives based on corporasdsghat serve as a basis for measuring perforeaihen
corporate operational and financial targets are employees at Copa are eligible to receive bonasesrding to our
profit sharing program. See “Item 6D. Employeesé ®Wiso recognize outstanding performance of indisfid
employees through company-wide recognition, one-tiwards, special events and, in the case of oiorse
management, grants of restricted stock and stot&rep Copa’s goal-oriented culture and incentikegpams have
contributed to a motivated work force that is faati®n satisfying customers, achieving efficieneied growing
profitability. We seek to create a similar cultateAeroRepublica
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Our Strategy

Our goal is to continue to grow profitably and emteour position as a leader in Latin American @by
providing a combination of superior customer sexyvonvenient schedules and competitive fares ewhdintaining
competitive costs. The key elements of our busis#ssegy include the following:

«  Expand our network by increasing frequencies ardiraginew destination\We believe that demand for air travel in
Latin America is likely to expand in the next deeadnd we intend to use our increasing fleet capéximeet this
growing demand. We intend to focus on expandingoperations by increasing flight frequencies onmost
profitable routes and initiating service to newtaegions. Copa’s Panama City hub allows us to clidate traffic
and provide service to certain underserved marketsicularly in Central America and the Caribbeamg we intend
to focus on providing new service to regional destons that we believe best enhance the overmatiexivity and
profitability of our network

e Continue to focus on keeping our costs I#e seek to reduce our cost per available seatwitit@ut sacrificing
services valued by our customers as we executgrowth plans. Our goal is to maintain a moderntféeed to make
effective use of our resources through efficientraift utilization and employee productivity. Weeand to reduce our
distribution costs by increasing direct sales,udalg internet and call center sales, as well ggawing efficiency
through technology and automated proces

«  Emphasize superior service and value to our custerWe intend to continue to focus on satisfying oustomers
and earning their loyalty by providing a combinatiaf superior service and competitive fares. Weelelthat
continuing our operational success in keeping figin time, reducing mishandled luggage and offecionvenient
schedules to attractive destinations will be esaktut achieving this goal. We intend to continaéricentivize our
employees to improve or maintain operating andisemetrics relating to our customers’ satisfactigrcontinuing
our profit sharing plan and employee recognitiomgpams and to reward customer loyalty with the fepOnePass
frequent flyer program, upgrades and access tadere' s Club lounges

e  Capitalize on opportunities at AeroRepublivée are seeking to enhance AeroRepublica’s profitahrough a
variety of initiatives, including modernizing iteét, integrating its route network with Copa’s amgbroving overall
efficiency.

AeroRepublica

On April 22, 2005, we acquired an initial 85.6% iygownership interest in AeroRepublica which waldwed by
subsequent acquisitions increasing our total ovmgiiaterest in AeroRepublica to 99.9% as of Decen#i, 2008. According
to the Colombian Civil Aviation Administratiotynidad Especial Administrative de Aeronautica CjleroRepublica is the
second largest passenger air carrier in Colombth,aumarket share of approximately 25% of the detindraffic on principal
routes in 2008 and approximately 1,311 employees.

Our goal is to achieve growth at AeroRepublicatipalarly in the business travelers segment. Webelthat Copas
operational coordination with AeroRepublica mayateeadditional passenger traffic in our existingteonetwork by providing
Colombian passengers more convenient access toténeational destinations served through our Panlan.

We have centralized certain administrative functioommon to Copa and AeroRepublica. We have alptemente(
e-ticketing at AeroRepublica, and since the fitgirger of 2006, AeroRepublica participates in theePass frequent flyer
loyalty program. Looking ahead, we seek to compbetefleet renovation program.

Industry

In Latin America, the scheduled passenger serviaken consists of three principal groups of traselstrictly
leisure, business and travelers visiting friends family. Leisure passengers and passengers gsiiends and family typicall
place a higher emphasis on lower fares, whereasdasspassengers typically place a higher empbadight frequency, on-
time performance, breadth of network and servidteeoements, including loyalty programs and airfmmhges.
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According to data from the International Air TrangpAssociation, or IATA, Latin America comprisegdmoximately
7.5% of worldwide passengers flown in 2007, or fiion passengers.

The Central American aviation market is dominatgdnbernational traffic. According to data from IAT
international traffic represented more than 78%axfsengers carried and 89% of passenger miles fto@antral America in
2007. International passenger traffic is conceatrdetween North America and Central America. Skgment represented
89% of international passengers flown in Centraletioa in 2007, compared to 4% for passengers flogiween Central
America and South America and 7% for passengermfloetween Central American countries. Total pagsenflown on
international flights in Central America grew by% in 2007, and load factors on international fiigto and from Central

America were 72% on average.

Domestic traffic and traffic within Central Americ@ountries represented approximately 27% of pagssrcarried
and 13% of passenger miles flown in 2007. Average factors on domestic flights and flights witiantral America were
67% in 2007. The chart below details passengdiariaf2007.

2007 IATA Traffic Results @)

Passengers Passenge
Carried Miles

(Thousands  Change (%) (Millions) Change (%) ASMs (Million) Change (%) Load Factor
International Scheduled Service
North America— Central Americe 33,27¢ 4.9% 48,55! 6.2% 64,52( 3.€% 75.2%
North America— South Americe 10,32( 8.4% 30,64 10.5% 39,29« 8.5% 78.(%
Central Americe— South Americ: 1,62¢ 8.6% 2,707 17.1% 3,73¢ 14.€% 72.%
Within Central Americe 2,53¢ 14.5% 1,31¢ 12.5% 1,94¢ 4.5% 67.1%
Within South Americe 10,10¢ 25.0% 9,852 28.7% 13,30: 24.%% 74.1%
Domestic Scheduled Service
Central Americe 10,44: -5.1% 6,46¢ -3.5% 9,89t -5.5% 65.4%
South Americe 37,06: 7.3% 19,55¢ 13.4% 27,56¢ 15.2% 70.9%

(1) IATA passenger traffic data is not yet available2608.

Panama serves as a hub for connecting passenfierieaween major markets in North, South, andt@#mimerica
and the Caribbean. Accordingly, passenger traffiartd from Panama is significantly influenced bgreamic growth in
surrounding regions. Major passenger traffic marketNorth, South and Central America experienaeavth in their GDP in
2007 and 2008 on both an absolute and per capsta.ba 2008, real GDP increased by 8.3% in Paramdsby 4.0% in
Colombia, according to the International Monetamn&'s estimates.

Brazil
Argentina
Chile
Mexico
Colombia
Panamz:
USA

GDP

GDP per Capita

2008 GDP

Current Prices

2008 Real GDF

2008 GDP per Capiti
Current Prices

(US$bn) (% Growth) (US$)
1,66t 5.2% 8,67¢
33¢ 6.5% 8,522
181 4.5% 10,81+
1,14¢ 2.1% 10,74%
25C 4.C% 5,17¢
23 8.2% 6,88:
14,33 1.€% 47,02t

Source International Monetary Fund, World Economic Oakkdatabase, October 2008; real GDP growth caledlat local

currency.
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Panama has benefited from a stable economy witteratalinflation and steady GDP growth. According to
International Monetary Fund estimates, from 1998068 Panama’s real GDP grew at an average arsigabf 5.8% while
inflation averaged 2.2% per year. The service seefiresents approximately 75% of total real GDPamama, a higher
percentage of GDP than the service sector repegentost other Latin American countries. The Wdkhk currently
estimates Panama’s population to be approximatdlyn@lion in 2008, with the majority of the poptian concentrated in
Panama City, where our hub at Tocumen Internatidirgbrt is located. We believe the combinatioraddtable, service-
oriented economy and steady population growth lefgeld drive our domestic origin and destinatiorspager traffic.

Domestic travel within Panama primarily consistsnafividuals visiting families as well as domestitd foreign
tourist visiting the countryside. Most of this tedvs done via ground transportation, and its nflaw is to and from Panama
City, where most of the economic activity and pe@pioh is concentrated. Demand for domestic airdrés’growing and relates
primarily to leisure travel from foreign and lodalrist. The market is served primarily by two Ibaglines, Air Panama and
Aeroperlas, which operate turbo prop aircraft galhervith less than 50 seats. These airlines diifeited international service
and operate in the domestic terminal of Panama @itych is located 30 minutes by car from Tocumaernational Airport.

Colombia is the third largest country in Latin Aneerin terms of population, with a population opagximately
48.35 million in 2008 according to the Internatibienetary Fund, and has a land area of approximnd#0,000 square miles.
Colombia’s GDP was approximately $250 billion ir080and per capita income was approximately $magand (current
prices) according to the International Monetary dcudolombia’s geography is marked by the Andeanntains and an
inadequate road and rail infrastructure, makindrairel a convenient and attractive transportatilbernative. Colombia share
border with Panama, and for historic, cultural Aodiness reasons it represents a significant méoketany Panamanian
businesses.

Route Network and Schedules
Copa

As of December 31, 2008, Copa provided regularhedaled flights to 45 cities in North, Central &aluth America
and the Caribbean. Substantially all of our Cojggnfs operate through our hub in Panama which allosvto transport
passengers and cargo among a large number of aléstie with service that is more frequent tharaifreroute were served
directly.

We believe our hub-and-spoke model is the mostiefit way for us to operate our business since widsie
origination/destination city pairs we serve do geherate sufficient traffic to justify a point-t@ipt service. Also, since we
serve many countries, it would be very difficultdbtain the bilateral route rights necessary taaeea competitive point-to-
point system.

We schedule four banks of flights during the daghwlights timed to arrive at the hub at approxieig the same
time and to depart a short time later.

As a part of our strategic relationship with Coatital, Copa provides flights through code-sharimgregements to
over 120 other destinations. Copa also providghtii through its tactical and regional code-shaaimgngements with
AeroRepublica, KLM, Gol, Aeroméxico and Gulfstreaémternational Airlines.

In 2007, Copa joined SkyTeam as an Associate Menibeart due to the support and sponsorship oftiGental.
The SkyTeam network includes carriers such as Dithines, Northwest, Aeromexico, Air France, Alita, KLM, Korean
Air, AeroFlot, CSA Czech and China Southern. A#Agsociate Member of SkyTeam, passengers flying @paCGeceive the
same alliance benefits on Copa flights as theyivean the flights of any other member of thisallie. Recently, Continental
Airlines announced its intention to leave SkyTedfaative the fourth quarter of 2009. Due to thedestanding alliance
relationship with Continental, and in order to elesGopa remains fully aligned with Continental omuenber of important joint
initiatives, Copa will also be leaving SkyTeam.
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In addition to increasing the frequencies to desgiims we already serve, Copa’s business strategigd focused on
adding new destinations across Latin America, taebBean and North America in order to increaseatiractiveness of our
Hub of the Americas at Tocumen International Aitgarb for intra-American traffic. We currently plamintroduce new
destinations and to increase frequencies to mattyeofiestinations that Copa currently serves. Quipriaer 190 aircraft,
together with the Boeing 737-Next Generation aftcedlows us to improve our service by increadirgjuencies and service to
new destinations with the right-sized aircraft.

Our plans to introduce new destinations and ineré@&sjuencies depend on the allocation of routetsiga process
over which we do not have direct influence. Roigats are allocated through negotiations betweergtivernment of Panama
and the governments of countries to which we intenidcrease flights. If we are unable to obtainteorights, we will exercise
the flexibility within our route network to re-attate capacity as appropriate.

We do not currently provide any domestic servicthamRepublic of Panama, choosing instead to featisely on
international traffic. The following table showsraevenue generated in each of our major operadgipns.

Revenue by Region

Year Ended December 31

Region 2006 2007 2008

North America(1) 19.4% 18.% 14.4%
South Americe 41.5% 46.1% 55.4%
Central America(2 29.(% 26.2% 23.1%
Caribbean(3 10.1% 8.8% 6.€%

(1) The United States, Canada and Mex
(2) Includes Panami
(3) Cuba, Dominican Republic, Haiti, Jamaica, PuerimoRTrinidad and Tobag

AeroRepublica
AeroRepublica currently provides scheduled sertodie following cities in Colombia, Panama and ¥amela:

Date Service

Destinations Servec Commenced
Barranquilla Jun 199t
Bogota Jun 199:
Bucaramang May 1995
Cali Jun 1992
Caracas, Venezue May 2008
Cartagen: Jun 199:
Cucuta Nov 2005
Leticia Nov 1993
Medellin Oct 1994
Monteria Jul 1994
Panama City, Panan Dec 200t
Pereira Mar 2003
San André: Jun 1992
Santa Mart: Jun 199:¢

In addition to the destinations described abovepRepublica has periodically operated charter figh Margarita
Island, Venezuela; Havana, Cuba; Punta Cana, DoaririRepublic, Puerto Plata, Dominican Republicti&&omingo,
Dominican Republic, and Aruba.
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Since its acquisition, AeroRepublica has been grhttie authorization to fly regular services todaa City from
Bogota, Cali, Medellin, Bucaramanga, Pereira amtiagana, Colombia. As a result, AeroRepublica tiaied daily flights to
Panama City from Bogota, Medellin, and Cali; thiregjuencies per week from Cartagena, four frequesneer week from
Bucaramanga and four frequencies per week to RetaiMarch 2007, AeroRepublica was granted authtidn to operate a
second frequency from Bogotéa to Panama City. AepoBEca was also granted the authorization tovly tlaily frequencies
from Bogota to Caracas, Venezuela, and from Med#&lliCaracas, Venezuela.

In addition to code-sharing with Copa, AeroReplblgleveraging Copa’s technology and relationstogacrease
international traffic with other international cians. Colombia has open-skies agreements with tideAn Pact Comunidad
Andina) nations of Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru.

Airline Operations
Passenger Operations

Passenger revenue accounted for approximately $68illion in 2006, $756.4 million in 2007 and $9Z 3nillion in
2008 representing 93.3%, 93.8% and 93.9% , resdgtiof Copa’s total revenues, all earned froneiinational routes. Leisure
traffic, which makes up close to half of Copa’satdtaffic, tends to coincide with holidays, scheaktations and cultural events
and peaks in July and August and again in Decemrb@danuary. Despite these seasonal variations,’ €operall traffic
pattern is relatively stable due to the constaihinof business travelers. Approximately half afga passengers regard Pan
City as their destination or origination point, andst of the remaining passengers pass througmia@ity in transit to other
points on our route network.

AeroRepublica’s business is concentrated on passesegvice and in 2008 its passenger revenue atambior
approximately 92.4% of its total revenues. The migjof AeroRepublica’s customers are leisure tiargeand travelers visiting
friends and family, and traffic is heaviest durthg vacation months of July, August and the holisegson in December.

Cargo Operations

In addition to our passenger service, we makeieffiaise of extra capacity in the belly of our eaftby carrying
cargo. Copa’s cargo business generated revenagpofximately $33.2 million in 2006, $34.7 milliaon2007 and
$41.5 million in 2008, representing 4.9%, 4.3% 4r@%, respectively, of Copa’s operating revenues.pfinarily move our
cargo in the belly of our aircraft, however, wecalget-lease and charter freighter capacity wheessary to meet our cargo
customers’ needs. In 2008, our cargo business stedsof approximately 84.7% in freight; 13.5% iruder; and 1.8% in mail
service.

Pricing and Revenue Management
Copa

Copa has designed its fare structure to balandeaitsfactors and yields in a way that it beliewds maximize profits
on its flights. Copa also maintains revenue managemolicies and procedures that are intended tamize total revenues,
while remaining generally competitive with thoseooi major competitors.

Copa charges slightly more for tickets on highemdad routes, tickets purchased on short noticeotivet itineraries
suggesting a passenger would be willing to payeanprm. This represents strong value to Copa’s legsigustomers, who can
count on competitive rates when flying with CopheThumber of seats Copa offers at each fare levedé¢h market results
from a continual process of analysis and forecgstast booking history, seasonality, the effeEtsompetition and current
booking trends are used to forecast demand. Cuiaeszg and knowledge of upcoming events at degtimathat will affect
traffic volumes are included in Copaforecasting model to arrive at optimal seat alfioms for its fares on specific routes. C
uses a combination of approaches, taking into atdogalds, flight load factors and effects on Idadtors of continuing traffic,
depending on the characteristics of the marketsedeto arrive at a strategy for achieving the lpessible revenue per
available seat mile, balancing the average faregeltbagainst the corresponding effect on our leatbfs. In 2005, Copa
replaced its revenue management software with Airmanore sophisticated revenue management syssignéd by Sabre.
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AeroRepublica

Various improvements have been made to AeroRemlblievenue management, pricing capabilities astesys
since its acquisition in 2005. During the fourthager of 2007, for example, we completed the imgetation of the Airmax
revenue management system at AeroRepublica.

Relationship with Continental Airlines

It is common practice in the commercial aviatiodustry for airlines to develop marketing and conuigralliances
with other carriers in order to offer a more contpland seamless travel experience to passengerse Biliances typically yie
certain conveniences such as code-sharing, fredlyenteciprocity, and, where permitted, coordathscheduling of flights as
well as additional joint marketing activities.

In May 1998, Copa Airlines and Continental Airlinestered into a comprehensive alliance agreemeconepassing
a broad array of activities such as Copa’s padiigm in Continental’s frequent flyer programs aA& lounge; as well as
agreements in other areas, such as trademarkse agesements were initially signed for a perioteofyears. In
November 2005, Copa and Continental amended atatedghese agreements and extended their terngifithe year 201!

As a result of the Copa — Continental alliance hage benefited from Continental’s expertise anceegpce over
the past decade. Copa has, for example, fully adopontinental’s OnePass frequent flyer programratield out a co-branded
joint product in much of Latin America, enablingtesdevelop brand loyalty among our travelers. @t-branding of the
OnePass loyalty programs has helped to leverager#émel recognition that Continental already enjogesbss Latin America
and enables the two airlines to compete more éffedgtagainst regional competitors such as Grup&Asand the oneworld
alliance represented by American Airlines and LAMiAes. We also share Continental’'s Sceptre inmgnimanagement
software, which allows Copa to pool spare parth Wit larger airline and to rely on Continentaptovide engineering support
for maintenance projects. We have also been aliskéoadvantage of Continental’s purchasing powdrreegotiate more
competitive rates for spare parts and third-pardyntenance work. In addition to the Sceptre systeenhave implemented
several important information technology systemshsas the “SHARES” computer reservation systeamieffort to maintain
commonality with Continental.

Building on the existing track-record of successiilihnce accomplishments, Copa and Continenta lstarted to
involve, where appropriate, AeroRepublica in aspetthe existing alliance cooperation, beginnintdhvweroRepublica’s
participation in the OnePass frequent flyer loyaitggram.

The Copa — Continental alliance enjoys antitrughumity in the United States which allows the cagi®
coordinate pricing, scheduling and joint marketimgjatives.

In 2007, Copa joined SkyTeam as an Associate Menibeart due to the support and sponsorship ofiGental.
Recently, Continental Airlines announced its ini@mto leave SkyTeam effective the fourth quarfe2@)9. Due to the long-
standing alliance relationship with Continentald @am order to ensure Copa remains fully alignedhw@bntinental on a number
of important joint initiatives, Copa will also bedving SkyTeam.
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution
Copa

Sales and DistributiomApproximately 70% of sales during 2008 were congalehrough travel agents and other
airlines while approximately 30% were direct sal@sour city ticket offices (CTOs), call centergpart counters or websites.
Travel agents receive base commissions, not inofuldack-end incentive payments, ranging from 0%odepending on the
country. The weighted average rate for these cosianis during 2008 was 3.3%. In recent years, baserissions have
decreased significantly in most markets as moieiefit back-end incentive programs have been imefeged to reward
selected travel agencies that exceed their salgstsa

Travel agents obtain airline travel information asslie airline tickets through global distributgystems, or GDSs,
that enable them to make reservations on fliglusifa large number of airlines. GDSs are also ugddalel agents to make
hotel and car rental reservations. Copa particgpattively in all major international GDSs, inclndiSABRE, Amadeus,
Galileo and Worldspan. In return for access todlsstems, Copa pays transaction fees that areaijgrisased on the number
of reservations booked through each system.

Copa has a sales and marketing network consistifg domestic and international ticket offices,lirtting airport
and city ticket offices. Copa has 33 CTOs co-brdnaith Continental and 29 CTOs co-branded with Aspublica. During
the year ended December 31, 2008, approximately dr@&35% of its sales were booked through its tickeinters and call
center, respectively.

The call center that operates Copa’s reservatindsales services handles calls from Panama assveibst other
countries to which Copa flies. Such centralizatias resulted in a significant increase in teleplsates as it efficiently allowe
for improvements in service levels such as 24-todey, 7-days-a-week service, in three differemglmges.

We encourage the use of direct Internet bookinggsbgustomers because it is our most efficiertrihistion channel.
During mid 2002, Copa signed a contract with Amadeuwuse its booking engine to facilitate ticketghases on
www.copaair.com and launched the system on Jar@y&903. The cost of each booking via the websiteiughly 25% the cc
of a regular travel agency booking. In 2004, Copacpased a new booking engine in order to furteduce distribution costs;
7% of its 2008 sales were made via the websiteaBagpal is to channel more of its total salesulgiothe website.

Advertising and Promotional Activitie®ur advertising and promotional activities incluble use of television, print,
radio and billboards, as well as targeted publati@n events in the cities where we fly. We bedigkiat the corporate traveler is
an important part of our business, and we partitufomote our service to these customers by cgingethe reliability,
convenience and consistency of our service andinffealue-added services such as convention anfié@nce travel
arrangements, as well as our Business Rewardsyqyaigram for our frequent corporate travelers. 8\® promote package
deals among the destinations where we fly throughbined efforts with selected hotels and travehaggs.

AeroRepublica
AeroRepublica successfully implemented the OneRagsient flyer program in March 2006. AeroRepUbbdso
implemented e-ticket in January 2006 and e-tiakiriine with Copa and Amadeus during the secoradtgquof 2006,

complementing its call center, 24 city ticket officand 12 airport ticket offices. In February 2088roRepublica was brought
into Copa’'s SHARES reservations and check-in ptatfproviding significant benefits in terms of coatsd functionality.
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Competition

We face intense competition throughout our routevagk. Overall airline industry profit margins admw and
industry earnings are volatile. Airlines competeha areas of pricing, scheduling (frequency aighfltimes), on-time
performance, frequent flyer programs and otherisesv Copa competes with a number of other airlihascurrently serve the
routes on which we operate, including Grupo TACAeican Airlines Inc., Delta Air Lines, MexicanachAvianca. Some of
our competitors, such as American Airlines, havgdacustomer bases and greater brand recognititheimarkets we serve
outside Panama, and some of our competitors hguéisantly greater financial and marketing res@srthan we have. Airlin
based in other countries may also receive subsidirsncentives or other state aid from their eztjye governments, which ¢
not provided by the Panamanian government. The camement of, or increase in, service on the roneeserve by existing
or new carriers could negatively impact our opegtesults. Likewise, competitors’ service on reuteat we are targeting for
expansion may make those expansion plans lesstatéraWWe must constantly react to changes in praoel services offered by
our competitors to remain competitive.

Traditional hub-and-spoke carriers in the Unitealt&t and Europe have in recent years faced suilaszmd
increasing competitive pressure from low-cost easrdffering discounted fares. The low-cost castieperations are typically
characterized by point-to-point route networks fng on the highest demand city pairs, high aitargfization, single class
service and fewer in-flight amenities. As evidenbgdhe operations of Gol in Brazil and several hew-cost carriers which
have recently launched service or planning to semice in Mexico, among others, the “low-cosrieat business model
appears to be gaining acceptance in the Latin Ararraviation industry, and we may face new andtaukial competition fror
low-cost carriers in the future.

The main source of competition to Copa, and ouarate with Continental, come from the multinatio@alipo
TACA and American Airlines, the U.S. airline withet largest Latin American route network. Colomlgarrier Avianca is als
a significant competitor.

Grupo TACA's strategy has been to develop threestaitsan Jose, Costa Rica, San Salvador, El Saleadd_ima,
Peru, which serve more than 39 cities in 22 coestsind compete with Copa’s hub at Tocumen IntemaltiAirport. Grupo
TACA primarily operates a fleet of Airbus A320 fdynaircraft and they have announced their interntle delivery of a
significant number of new Airbus and Embraer 190raft between now and December 2009. We have sdatseveral of the
Central American and Caribbean countries where GMURCA has established service, including Guaterity, Havana,
Managua, San Jose, San Salvador, San Pedro Sata,[3amingo and Tegucigalpa.

American Airlines also offers significant compatditi American Airlines attracts strong brand rectignithroughout
the Americas and is able to attract brand loyditpugh its “AAdvantage” frequent flyer program. Arnoan Airlines competes
through its hubs at Miami and San Juan, Puerto.FPoterican Airlines was a founding member of thewaorld global
marketing alliance.

LAN Airlines is another oneworld alliance membeattbffers service to approximately 60 destinatigmsnarily in
Latin America. LAN Airlines is comprised of LAN Clei LAN Peru, LAN Ecuador, LAN Argentina, LAN Cargmd LAN
Express. While we do not compete directly with LAMIines on many of our current routes, LAN Airliséas grown rapidly
over the past several years and may become ais@ritompetitor in the future.

Copa has significant presence in destinations witreréocal airline is less viable and competitisech as the
Dominican Republic (Santo Domingo, Santiago dedaballeros and Punta Cana), Ecuador (Quito and &&uély and
Venezuela (Caracas, Maracaibo and Valencia).

Copa has also established itself as a significkayep on traffic to and from Colombia, with stromgrket share on
routes to and from Barranquilla, Bogota, Cali, @geina, Medellin and San Andres. AeroRepublica ctespaore directly witl
Avianca and other Colombian carriers in the Colanldomestic market. Avianca emerged from U.S. haptky protection,
after being purchased by Brazil's Synergy GroupiaAiga has announced its intention to transform Bogdo a major
international aviation hub which, if successfulll\wompete directly with our hub at Tocumen Intdiomal Airport. Avianca
recently commenced a fleet renovation project wimictudes the incorporation of the Boeing 787 dralAirbus A330 wide
body aircraft, as well as Airbus A320 and A319 oarbody aircraft.
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We cannot predict whether Avianca will become nemmpetitive in the future, or if its increased au@&ms from
Bogotéa will prove successful. The other Colombiarriers, Aerolineas de Antioquia, the state-ownidtha Satena, Easy Fly
and Aires, collectively accounted for approximat2B/2% of the domestic Colombian market in 2008lirgs that seek to
compete in the Colombian air transportation maf&e¢ substantial barriers to entry, as the Colomg@ernment requires an
airline to operate at least five aircraft and compith extensive filing and certification requirenme before it becomes eligible
to receive domestic route rights on certain Col@nbbutes between major cities. In addition, theber of air carriers offerir
service on any route is currently regulated byGboéombian Aviation Authority.

With respect to our cargo operations, we will coué to face competition from all of the major aifht companies,
most notably DHL, which has a cargo hub operatiohogumen International Airport.

Aircraft
Copa

As of December 31, 2008, Copa operated a fleetistimg of 42 aircraft, including 20 Boeing 737-7R@xt
Generation aircraft, seven Boeing 7870 Next Generation aircraft and 15 Embraer 19€ai. Copa currently has firm orde
including purchase and lease commitments, for thtiadal Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft. C@so has options for an
additional six Embraer 190s and purchase rightsoptidns for an additional three Boeing 737-Nexh&mation aircraft.

The current composition of the Copa fleet as ofddelger 31, 2008 is more fully described below:

Average
Term

of Lease
Number of Aircraft Remaining  Average Age Seating
Total Owned Leased (Years) (Years) Capacity
Boeing 73-700 20 14 6 2.2 6.5 124
Boeing 73-800 7 6 1 3.6 3.1 15t
Embraer 19( 15 15 — — 1.€ 94
Total 42 35 7 2.4 4.2 —

We expect our Copa fleet to continue to centetherBoeing 737-700 model, although we expect toicoatto add
Boeing 737-800s to our fleet to cover high-demandeas and Embraer 190s to serve underserved maketsll as fly
additional frequencies where we believe excess ddrazists. The table below describes the expedtedd$ our Copa fleet at
the end of each year set forth below, assumingeisliof all aircraft for which we currently haverfi orders but not taking into
account any aircraft for which we have purchashktsigind options:

Aircraft Type 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

737-700(1) 18 16 16 15 15
737-800(2) 10 13 18 20 20
Embraer 190(3 13 13 13 13 13
Total Fleet 41 42 47 48 48

(1) Assumes the return of leased aircraft upon expinatif lease contract

(2) We have the flexibility to choose between Boing 737-700 or the Boeing 737-800 aircraftrfurst of the 737-700
aircraft deliveries

(3) Assumes that two Embraer 190 aircraft from Copararesferred to AeroRepublica during 20
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The Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft currentlypur Copa fleet are fuel-efficient and suit ouegtions well for
the following reasons:

*  They have simplified maintenance procedu
*  They require just one type of standardized traifiargour crews
*  They have one of the lowest operating costs i ttass.

Our focus on profitable operations means that wingieally review our fleet composition. As a resuur fleet
composition changes over time when we concludeatiding other types of aircraft will help us aclaghis goal. The
introduction of any new type of aircraft to ourdtds only done if, after careful consideration, datermine that such a step will
improve our profitability. In line with this philaphy, after conducting a careful cost-benefit asialywe added the Embraer
190 aircraft because its combination of smallee sizd highly efficient operating characteristicdmi the ideal aircraft to
serve new mid-sized markets and to increase frexyurexisting destinations. The Embraer 190 inomafes advanced design
features, such as integrated avionics, fly-by-wigit controls, and efficient CF34-10 engines magle€General Electric. The
Embraer E190 has a range of approximately 2,000azumiles enabling it to fly to a wide range afstinations from short-
haul to certain medium-haul destinations. We hardigured Copa’s Embraer aircraft with a busindasssection similar to
the business class section we have on our BoeiftdNE3t Generation aircraft.

Through several special purpose vehicles, we ctiyrbave beneficial ownership of 35 of our aircraficluding 15
Embraer 190s. In addition, we lease six of our Bgéi37-700s and one of our Boeing 737-800s unchgderm operating lea:
agreements that have an average remaining termd g2rs. Leasing some of our aircraft providewits flexibility to change
our fleet composition if we consider it to be irr daest interests to do so. We make monthly rerggients, some of which are
based on floating rates, but are not required tkent@rmination payments at the end of the leasee@ily, we do not have
purchase options in any of our lease agreementeftJsur operating lease agreements, we are reguiggne cases to
maintain maintenance reserve accounts and in otts&rs to make supplemental rent payments at theféhd lease that are
calculated with reference to the aircrafts’ maiatece schedule. In either case, we must returnitbafh in the agreed upon
condition at the end of the lease term. Title ®dircraft remains with the lessor. We are respib@$or the maintenance,
servicing, insurance, repair and overhaul of tiheraft during the term of the lease.

To better serve the growing number of busines®teas, we introduced business clagdgse Ejecutivg in
November of 1998. Our business class service fesitwelve luxury seats in the Boeing -700s with a 38-inch pitch,
upgraded meal service, special check-in desks,domleage for full-fare business class passengetsaecess to VIP lounges.
Our Boeing 737-800s are currently configured widhblisiness class seats. In 2009, we plan to repaefiour Boeing 737-800
aircraft by adding two additional business clasgsand three additional economy seats, incredlsstptal number of seats
from 155 to 160. Our Embraer 190s have 10 busicless seats in a three abreast configuration asidcB8pitch.

Each of our Boeing 737-Next Generation aircrafidsvered by two CFM International Model CFM 56-7Rjaes.
Each of our Embraer 190 aircraft is powered by @#34-10 engines made by General Electric. We ctiyrbave seven spare
engines for service replacements and for periamtgtion through our fleet.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica’s operates a fleet of two leased MB;8wo leased MD-83s, four owned Embraer 190 arediéased
Embraer 190, with an average age in excess ofehafsyas of December 31, 2008. All of AeroRepuldicieEet is configured as
a single class, with the MD fleet having an avereggacity of 157 seats and the Embraer 190 fleghfa capacity of 106
seats. AeroRepublica has firm commitments to acdelptery of two Embraer 190 aircraft through timel @f 2009 and options
to purchase up to five additional Embraer 190 aftdhrough 2013.
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Maintenance
Copa

The maintenance performed on our Copa aircrafbeadivided into two general categories: line anaviye
maintenance. Line maintenance consists of rousicleeduled maintenance checks on our aircraft, diretupre-flight, daily and
overnight checks, “A-checks” and any diagnostiog autine repairs. Most of Copa’s line maintenaisgeerformed by Copa’s
own highly experienced technicians at our baseaimafha. Some line maintenance is also carried aiatbns outside Panama
by Copa employees or third-party contractors. Heagjntenance consists of more complex inspectiodsoaerhauls,
including “C-checks,” and servicing of the aircréfat cannot be accomplished during an overnigdit.\WMaintenance checks
are performed as defined by the aircraft manufactrhese checks are based on the number of hoaedemdar months flowi
We have contract with certified outside maintengmaiders, principally with Panama Aerospace Eagiing, a subsidiary of
Singapore Technologies Aerospace, which is cedtéi® an authorized repair station by the FAA aedXAC, for heavy aircra
maintenance services. Copa also has an exclusigetésm contract with GE Engines whereby they pdiform maintenance
on all of its CFM-56 engines. There were nine heaantenance events in 2008. When possible, Capmpts to schedule
heavy maintenance during its lower-demand seasépiih, May, October and November.

Copa employs over 200 maintenance professionalsidimg engineers, supervisors, technicians ancargcs, who
perform maintenance in accordance with maintenpnograms that are established by the manufactaeapproved and
certified by international aviation authorities.dfy mechanic is trained in factory procedures amesghrough our own rigoro
in-house training program. Every mechanic is lieehky the AAC and approximately 26 of our mechaniesalso licensed by
the FAA. Copa’s safety and maintenance proceduseseaiewed and periodically audited by the aitcnadnufacturer, the
AAC, the FAA, IATA and, to a lesser extent, eveoydign country to which its flies. Copa’s mainteoariacility at Tocumen
International Airport has been certified by the FA&an approved repair station, and each yearAAdrspects its facilities to
renew the certification. Copa’s aircraft are iriyiacovered by warranties that have a term of fgpemrs, resulting in lower
maintenance expenses during the period of covefdhef Copa’s mechanics are trained to perfornelmaintenance on both
the Boeing 737-Next Generation and Embraer 19@sadir

AeroRepublica

All line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s MD-80s dghbraer 190 is performed by AeroRepublica’s indeu
maintenance staff, while C-checks on the MD-80sparéormed by FAA certified third-party aviation imgenance companies.
All of AeroRepublica’s maintenance and safety pchres are performed according to Boeing standaettified by the FAA),
and certified by the Aeronautica Civil of Colomlaiad BVQi, the institute that issues ISO (InternadioOrganization for
Standardization) quality certificates. All of Aerefiblica’s maintenance personnel are licenseddyéronautica Civil of
Colombia. In December 2007, AeroRepublica receitetATA Operational Safety Audit (IOSA) compliancertification.

Safety

We place a high priority on providing safe andaklé air service. Copa has uniform safety standandssafety-
related training programs that cover all of its @piens. In particular, Copa periodically evaluatss skills, experience and
safety records of its pilots in order to maintdirics control over the quality of its pilot crewall of Copa’s pilots participate in
training programs, some of which are sponsorediyadt manufacturers, and all are required to wgdeecurrent training two
times per year. We have a full time program of lliData Analysis (FOQA) wherein the flight datarfr@every Copa flight is
analyzed for safety or technical anomalies. Duii§7, Copa successfully completed its second IOSA.

On July 17, 2007, one of our AeroRepublica Embi#8s overran a wet runway at Santa Marta, Colonitsiaa
result of this incident, six people suffered miimguries and the aircraft sustained damages thegezhits permanent removal
from service.

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulatenythorities of other countries. As a result oirtirevestigation,
each country is given an International AviationedafAssessment, or IASA, rating. Panama is culyeated as “Category 17,
which indicates a strong level of confidence in shéety regulation of the AAC.
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Airport Facilities

We believe that our hub at Panama City’s Tocumésrtiational Airport (PTY) is an excellent base pémtions for
the following reasons:

. Panama’s consistently temperate climate is ifteairport operations. For example, in recent gear
Tocumen was closed and unavailable for flight ofi@na for a total of less than two hours per year o
average

e Tocumen is the only airport in Central Americahativo operational runways. Also unlike some other
regional airports, we are currently not constraibgé lack of available gates/parking position@umen
and there is ample room to expa

. From Panama’s central location, our Boeing 73%tKBeneration can efficiently serve long-haul
destinations in South American cities such as &gatiChile; Montevideo, Uruguay; Cordoba, Argentina
Buenos Aires, Argentina; Santa Cruz de la Sierddivia; Belo Horizonte, Brazil; Rio de Janeiro, Bila
and S&o Paulo, Brazil as well as s-haul destinations in Central and South Amer

e  Travelers can generally make connections easityugh Tocumen because of its manageable size and
Panam’s policies accommodating-transit passenger

Tocumen International Airport is operated by arejpehdent corporate entity established by the gavent, where
stakeholders have a say in the operation and dawelot of the airport. The law that created thistgmalso provided for a
significant portion of revenues generated at Toqutoebe used for airport expansion and improvemé&iesdo not have any
formal, written agreements with the airport managetthat govern access fees, landing rights ocatlion of terminal gates.
We rely upon our good working relationship with #igport’s management and the Panamanian goverrimemnisure that we
have access to the airport resources we needcasytiat are reasonable.

We worked closely with the airport’'s management emasulted with the IATA infrastructure group t@pide plans
and guidance for Phase | of an airport expansiahgiovided eight new gate positions with jet begigsix new remote parking
positions, expanded retail areas and improved dggdge-handling facilities. The government autleati®70 million to cover
the costs of this expansion. Work on Phase | wagpbeted in the third quarter of 2006. Phase Ihef éxpansion of the termir
will add 12 additional jet bridge gates. Copa isvaty participating in the design of this expamsiand the project is scheduled
for completion in 2011.

We provide all of our own ground services and hiagdbf passengers and cargo at Tocumen Internatiinzort. In
addition, we provide services to several of thag@pal foreign airlines that operate at Tocumenmaist of the foreign airports
where we operate, foreign airport services compgamievide all of our support services other thdassaounter services and
some minor maintenance.

We lease a variety of facilities at Tocumen, inahgdour maintenance hangar and our operationstfasiin the
airport terminal. From our System Operations Cdrenter located within our corporate headquatteikling, we dispatch,
track and direct our aircraft throughout the hem@pe and respond to operational contingencies @sssaary. We generally
cooperate with the airport authority to modify thase terms as necessary to account for capitabiraments and expansion
plans. Currently, our elite passengers have atoes®resident’s Club at the airport, which is jlyioperated with Continental.
The President’s Club was recently expanded to aqopiedely one and half times its current size, zitilg space made available
during the recent expansion of the terminal.
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Fuel

Fuel costs are extremely volatile, as they areequilthp many global economic, geopolitical, weatkerironmental
and other factors that we can neither control wougately predict. Due to its inherent volatiliggrcraft fuel has historically
been our most unpredictable unit cost. As a redulie world’s economic condition, demand for aklsurged, especially in
fast-growing China. This increase in demand couplitd limited refinery capacity and instability @il-exporting countries has
led to a rapid increase in prices.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Copa
Average price per gallon of jet fuel
into plane (excluding hedge) (in
U.S. dollars) $ 1.32 $ 1.87 $ 2.1C $ 2.2¢ $ 3.21
Gallons consumed (in thousant 50,83 58,92 70,77( 85,46 100,26¢
Available seat miles (in millions 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢ 7,34z
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.4C 1.34 1.3t 1.3¢ 1.37
AeroRepublice(1)
Average price per gallon of jet fu
into plane (excluding hedge) (i
U.S. dollars) — $ 2.12 $ 2.24 $ 2.45 $ 3.4¢
Gallons consumed (in thousant — 17,881 28,32: 26,98« 24,79¢
Available seat miles (in millions — 95C 1,62 1,62( 1,50¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth — 1.8¢ 1.74 1.67 1.6%

(1) Since April 22, 2005

Since 2002, aircraft fuel prices have been risirgm 2004 to 2008, the average price of West Texasmediate
crude oil, a benchmark widely used for crude ditgs that is measured in barrels and quoted in dblfars, increased by 141
from $41.47 per barrel to $99.93 per barrel. Du20§8, fuel prices experienced significant volgtjlivith West Texas
Intermediate crude prices reaching the record miapproximately $145 per barrel in July. Pridesrt dropped to
approximately $44 per barrel at the end of DecemiMile prices have significantly decreased sitegrtpeak in 2008, we
believe that fuel prices are likely to increasé¢hia future. In 2008, we hedged 27% of our requirgséhrough the use of jet
fuel swap contracts and crude oil zero-cost callfe have hedged approximately 27%, 6% and 9% oéoticipated fuel
needs for 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. Wiecwiltinue to evaluate various hedging strategiad,we may enter into
additional hedging agreements in the future. Arglgrged increase in the price of jet fuel will likenaterially and negatively
affect our business, financial condition and ressaftoperation. To date, we have managed to ofts®ie of the increases in ft
prices with higher load factors, fuel surcharged fame increases. In addition, our relative youmigglet-equipped fleet also
helps us mitigate the impact of higher fuel prices.

Insurance

We maintain passenger liability insurance in an @amaonsistent with industry practice, and we iesour aircraft
against losses and damages on an “all risks” batshave obtained all insurance coverage requiyatidoterms of our leasing
and financing agreements. We believe our insuraogerage is consistent with airline industry staddand appropriate to
protect us from material loss in light of the aitiés we conduct. No assurance can be given, hawthat the amount of
insurance we carry will be sufficient to protectftam material losses. We have negotiated low puemsion our Copa
insurance policies by leveraging the purchasinggyat our alliance partner, Continental. Copa’d hal liability operations
are insured under Continental’s joint insurancacyakith Northwest Airlines. We maintain separatsurance policies for our
AeroRepublica operations.

Environmental

Our operations are covered by various local, natieand international environmental regulationseSénregulations
cover, among other things, emissions into the gpimexe, disposal of solid waste and aqueous efffyaitcraft noise and other
activities that result from the operation of aifer®ur aircraft comply with all environmental stards applicable to their
operations as described in this annual report. e Ihired a consulting firm to conduct an environtakaudit of our hanger
and support facilities at the Tocumen Internatickigbort to determine what, if any, measures wedneemplement in order to
satisfy the Panamanian effluent standards and éme@l Environmental Law at those facilities. Adoéise study of our
effluents was completed. We plan to implement absures required for compliance based on the emaiatal audit recently
finalized, in order to qualify for the EnvironmehEcellence Certification Program before the Eammental Authority.
Additionally, the Panamanian Civil Aviation CodeAR) contains certain environmental provisions #a& similar to those set
forth in the General Environmental Law regardinfiueits, although such provisions do not contaimgliance grace period
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In the event the AAC determines that our facilitiesnot currently meet the RAC standards, we cbeldubject to a fine. The
measures that will be implemented pursuant to tiver@nmental audit will also satisfy the requirerteeaf the RAC. We have
installed a water treatment plant to serve padusffacilities and seek to complete the preparatioan Environmental
Remediation and Management Program (PAMA) in otdeseek approval thereof by the Environmental ArithioSuch
program shall set forth an environmental compliasateedule. While we do not believe that complianith these regulations
will expose us to material expenditures, complianita these or other environmental regulations, thhbenew or existing, that
may be applicable to us in the future could inceeasr costs. In addition, failure to comply witlesie regulations could
adversely affect us in a variety of ways, includattyerse effects on our reputation.

Regulation
Panama

Authorization and LicenseBanamanian law requires airlines providing comna¢sgrvices in Panama to hold an
Operation Certificate and an Air Transportationdrise/Certificate issued by the AAC. The Air Trangpton Certificate
specifies the routes, equipment used, capacityttaétequency of flights. This certificate mustuplated every time Copa
acquires new aircraft, or when routes and frequesnit a particular destination are modified.

Panamanian law also requires that the aircraftadpdrby Copa be registered with the PanamaniamiNatAviation
Registrar kept by the AAC, and that the PanamaNmtipnal Aviation Authority certify the airworthiiss of each aircraft in
Copa’s fleet. Copa’s aircraft must be re-certifea@ry year. This requirement does not apply to Remiblica’s aircraft which
are registered in Colombia.

The Panamanian government does not have an eqgtérgst in our company. Bilateral agreements sidnyetthe
Panamanian government have protected our operbfiosion and route network, allowing us to hawd’anama a significant
hub to transport intraregion traffic within and lwetn the Americas and the Caribbean. All intermatidares are filed and
technically subject to the approval of the Panaaragovernment. Historically, we have been able ¢difig ticket prices on a
daily basis to respond to market conditions. Oatust as a private carrier means that we are nairesjunder Panamanian law
to serve any particular route and are free to withdservice from any of the routes we currentlwsexs we see fit, subject to
bilateral agreements. We are also free to deterthimérequency of service we offer across our roetsvork without any
minimum frequencies imposed by the Panamanian Htidso

Safety Assessmefri.May 2001, the FAA downgraded Panama’s IASA mfiom a Category 1 rating to a Category
2 rating due to alleged deficiencies in Panamaaiagafety standards and the AAC’s capacity to jg®vegulatory oversight.
We collaborated with the Panamanian governmergdtore the countrg’Category 1 status, a status that is importart toothe
operations of Copa as an airline and the generakép#on of Panama as a country, particularly ewof the fact that the major
initiative is to boost tourism in Panama. The coyistCategory 1 status was restored in April 2004.

Ownership Requirement8he most significant restriction on our company as@d by the Panamanian Aviation Act,
as amended and interpreted to date, is that Panamaationals must exercise “effective control” otlee operations of the
airline and must maintain “substantial ownershifh&se phrases are not defined in the Aviation &etfiand it is unclear how
a Panamanian court would interpret them. The shareership requirements and transfer restrictiomgéained in our Articles «
Incorporation, as well as the structure of our @sitock described under the caption “Descriptibapital Stock,” are
designed to ensure compliance with these owneestdpcontrol restrictions created by the Aviatiort. Ahile we believe that
our ownership structure complies with the ownersinigd control restrictions of the Aviation Act aseirpreted by a recent
decree by the Executive Branch, we cannot assuréhas a Panamanian court would share our intexfioet of the Aviation
Act or the decree or that any such interpretativosld remain valid for the entire time you hold d@iass A shares.
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Although the Panamanian government does not clyreave the authority to dictate the terms of emwie, the
government is responsible for negotiating the bit@tagreements with other nations that allow u$ytto other countries.
Several of these agreements require Copa to reteii@ctively controlled” and “substantially ownety Panamanian nationals
in order for us to use the rights conferred byageements. Such requirements are analogous Ratilemanian aviation law
described above that requires Panamanian contmirdfusiness.

Antitrust Regulationdn 1996, the Republic of Panama enacted antiteggslation, which regulates industry
concentration and vertical anticompetitive practiaad prohibits horizontal collusion. The Consufeatection and Free Trade
Authority is in charge of enforcement and may ingfises only after a competent court renders ae@@judgment. The law
also provides for direct action by any affected kaaparticipant or consumer, independently or tiocigss actions. The law
does not provide for the granting of antitrust inmity, as is the case in the United States. In FalyrQ006, the antitrust
legislation was amended to increase the maximuesfihat may be assessed for violations to $1,00G@er se violations
and $250,000 for relative violations of antitruesvl

Noise Restriction®?anama has adopted Annex 16 of the ICAO regulatiadshe noise abatement provisions of
ICAOQ, through Book XIV of the Panamanian Civil Atin Regulations (RAC). Thus, articles 227-229 obR XIV of the
RAC require aircraft registered in Panama to comti at least Stage 2 noise requirements, angrallaft registered for the
first time with the Panamanian Civil Aviation Auttity after January 1, 2003, to comply with Stageo&e restrictions.
Currently, all the airplanes we operate or havermier meet the most stringent noise requirememablkshed by both ICAO
and the AAC.

Colombia

The Colombian aviation market is heavily regulabgadhe Colombian Civil Aviation Administration, Uted Especi:
Administrativa de Aeronautica Civil, or AeronautiCavil. Colombia is a Category 1 country under E#A’s IASA program.
With respect to domestic aviation, airlines mustsgnt feasibility studies to secure specific roiglets, and no airline may
serve the city pairs with the most traffic unldsattairline has at least five aircraft with validsorthiness certificate. In
addition, Aeronautica Civil sets maximum faresdach route and a maximum number of competing aBlfor each route
based on the size of the city pairs served. AiglimeColombia must also add a surcharge for fuéhed ticket prices. In
addition, since November 2006, airlines must havehiarge an administrative fee (“Tarifa administaf) for each ticket sold
through an airline’s direct channels. Passenge@iombia are also entitled by law to compensaitiaihe event of delays in
excess of four hours, over-bookings and cancefiatiCurrently, the San Andres, Bogota, Cali, Canag Medellin, Monteria
and Barranquilla airports are under private managgmrrangements. Furthermore, the governmenhJatjzing other airports
in order to finance necessary expansion projeasranease the efficiency of operations, which ey to increases in landi
fees and facility rentals at those airports.

Colombia has open-skies agreements with Arubalamdihdean Pact nations of Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru
(Comunidad Andina). AeroRepublica has been gratitedise of 30 of the 56 available route rightsskenvice by Colombian
carriers between Colombia and Panama, and as I teyan scheduled service between the two casimilate 2005. In
addition, AeroRepublica was granted 33 additionlakéral frequencies per week, 13 of these freqigsno Panama from
Bucaramanga, Pereira and Barranquilla, have yee tatilized.

u.s.
Operations to the United States by non-U.S. aslisech as Copa, are subject to Title 49 of the Odsle, under

which the DOT, the FAA and the TSA exercise regqratuthority. The U.S. Department of Justice &las jurisdiction over
airline competition matters under the federal amitlaws.
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Authorizations and Licensebhe DOT has jurisdiction over international aviatieith respect to air transportation to
and from the United States, including regulatiomed@ted route authorities, the granting of whioh subject to review by the
President of the United States. The DOT exercisgsiisdiction with respect to unfair practiceslanethods of competition by
airlines and related consumer protection mattets a# airlines operating to and from the Unitedt8s. We are authorized by
the DOT to engage in scheduled and charter aisp@mation services, including the transportatibpeysons, property
(cargo) and mail, or combinations thereof, betwgeints in Panama and points in the United Statdsbayond (via
intermediate points in other countries). We holel nlecessary authorizations from the DOT in the fofm foreign air carrier
permit, an exemption authority and statements tifaization to conduct our current operations td tom the United States.
The exemption authority was granted by the DOTeahrary 1998 and was due to expire in February 286Wvever, the
authority remains in effect by operation of law anthe terms of the Administrative Procedure Actding final DOT action o
the application we filed to renew the authorityJamuary 3, 2000. There can be no assurance thBQhewill grant the
application. Our foreign air carrier permit hasexpiration date.

Our operations to the United States are also sutgjgegulation by the FAA with respect to aviateafety matters,
including aircraft maintenance and operations, @geint, aircraft noise, ground facilities, dispatobynmunications, personnel,
training, weather observation, air traffic contaold other matters affecting air safety. The FAAuregs each foreign air carrier
serving the United States to obtain operationatifipations pursuant to 14 CFR Part 129 of its tagjons and to meet
operational criteria associated with operating gjgecequipment on approved international routes. bélieve that we are in
compliance in all material respects with all regmients necessary to maintain in good standing merations specifications
issued by the FAA. The FAA can amend, suspend kewo terminate those specifications, or can temmigrsuspend or
permanently revoke our authority if we fail to cdsnpith the regulations, and can assess civil p@sfor such failure. A
modification, suspension or revocation of any aof DOT authorizations or FAA operating specificagarould have a material
adverse effect on our business. The FAA also casdiafety audits and has the power to impose &ndsother sanctions for
violations of airline safety regulations. We hawe imcurred any material fines related to operatidrhe FAA also conducts
safety International Aviation Safety AssessmentS) as to Panama’s compliance with Internationall@iviation
Organization (ICAO) safety standards. Panama iseatly considered a Category 1 country that corsphigh ICAO
international safety standards. As a Class 1 cguntr limitations are placed upon our operatinfptsgo the Unites States. If
the FAA should determine that Panama does not thedCAO safety standards, the FAA and DOT wouktriet our rights to
expand operations to the United States. We cam néf@ssurance of Panama’s continued compliand¢el@AO safety
standards.

Security.On November 19, 2001, the U.S. Congress passedharRtesident signed into law, the Aviation and
Transportation Security Act, (the “Aviation Secyrict”). This law federalized substantially all aspectsiuil @aviation securit
and created the TSA, an agency of the Departmedbofeland Security, to which the security respaiisés previously held
by the FAA were transitioned. The Aviation Secudgt requires, among other things, the implemeatatf certain security
measures by airlines and airports, such as theresgent that all passengers, their bags and allochhe screened for explosives
and other security related contraband. Fundingiftine and airport security required under theaiin Security Act is
provided in part by a $2.50 per segment passergerity fee for flights departing from the U.S.bgact to a $10 per roundtrip
cap; however, airlines are responsible for costsried to meet security requirements beyond thoséged by the TSA. The
United States Government is considering increas#sg fee as the TSA's costs exceed the revermeeéives from these fees.
Implementation of the requirements of the Aviat®ecurity Act has resulted in increased costs ftinas and their passengers.
Since the events of September 11, 2001, the U.8gi@ss has mandated and the TSA has implementeeraussecurity
procedures and requirements that have imposed #éintbntinue to impose burdens on airlines, paseengnd shippers.

Passenger Facility ChargeMost major U.S. airports impose passenger fadilitgrges. The ability of airlines to
contest increases in these charges is restrictéedeyal legislation, DOT regulations and judiadakisions. With certain
exceptions, air carriers pass these charges asstepgers. However, our ability to pass throughgrager facility charges to
our customers is subject to various factors, inalganarket conditions and competitive factors. Theent cap on passenger
facility charges is $4.50 per segment, subjectt8E8 per roundtrip cap; however, there is legstain Congress to raise the
cap on passenger facility charges.

Airport AccessTwo U.S. airports at which we operate, John F. Kelyrinternational Airport in New York (“JFK")
and Reagan National Airport in Washington, D.Cyehbeen designated by the FAA as “high densityitrafrports”. From
time to time, operations at these airports have Isegject to arrival and departure slot restrididaring certain periods of the
day. Although slot restrictions at JFK were eliméthas of January 1, 2007, on January 15, 200&;AlAeissued an order
limiting the number of scheduled flight operati@isIFK during peak hours to address the over-sdingdeongestion and
delays at JFK during 2007. The DOT also recentiyesl a notice of proposed amendment to its AifRates and Charges
policy that would allow airports to establish noeight based fees during peak hours and to apparédain expenses from
“reliever” airports to the charges for larger aifgan an effort to limit congestion. We cannotgiot the outcome of this
potential rule change on our costs or ability teragpe in congested airports.
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Noise RestrictiondJnder the Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 199@ aelated FAA regulations, aircraft that fly to
the United States must comply with certain Stagei8e restrictions, which are currently the moshgent FAA operating
noise requirements. All of our Copa aircraft méet tage 3 requirement.

Other RegulationFAA regulations also require compliance with thaffic Alert and Collision Avoidance System,
approved airborne windshear warning system andjagjneraft regulations. Our fleet meets these meguénts. In addition, all
air carriers are subject to certain provisionshef Communications Act of 1934, because of theiersite use of radio and otl
communication facilities, and are required to ab& aeronautical radio license from the Federah@anications Commissic
(FCC). To the extent we are subject to FCC requergs) we have taken and will continue to take efleassary steps to comply
with those requirements. Additional U.S. laws aegulations have been proposed from time to timedbald significantly
increase the cost of airline operations by imposidditional requirements or restrictions on aigin€here can be no assurance
that laws and regulations currently enacted or tedkio the future will not adversely affect ourlabito maintain our current
level of operating results.

Other Jurisdictions

We are also subject to regulation by the aviategutatory bodies which set standards and enforgeraé aviation
legislation in each of the jurisdictions to whicle fly. These regulators may have the power toasesf enforce environmental
and safety standards, levy fines, restrict opematisithin their respective jurisdictions or any etipowers associated with
aviation regulation. We cannot predict how thesious regulatory bodies will perform in the futwaed the evolving standards
enforced by any of them could have a material abreffect on our operations.

C. Organizational Structure

The following is an organizational chart showingp@d-oldings and its principal subsidiaries.

Copa Holdings, 5.A.

(Panama)
29 B 09 Oly* L1005
| |
Compafia Panameiia de AeroRepiablica, S.A. Owval Financial Leasing,
Aviacion, 5.A. (Copa) {Colombia) Lid.
(Panama) {British Virgin 1slands)

*  Includes ownership by us held through wh-owned holding companies organized in the BritistgWi Islands

Copa is our principal airline operating subsididrgt operates out of our hub in Panama and proyidssenger
service in North, South and Central America andGhebbean. AeroRepublica S.A. is our operatingsaliary that is primarily
engaged in domestic air travel within Colombia amdrnational service from various points in Coldanto Panama City and
Caracas. Oval Financial Leasing, Ltd. controlsspecial purpose vehicles that have a beneficiatést in the majority of our
aircraft.
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D. Property, Plants and Equipment
Headquarters

In 2005, we moved into a newly built headquarteriéding located six miles away from Tocumen Inteioral
Airport. We have leased five floors consisting ppeoximately 104,000 square feet of the buildirgrfrDesarollo Inmobiliario
del Este, S.A., an entity controlled by the sanmugrof investors that controls CIASA, under a 1@sjease at a rate of
$106,000 per month during the first three year& 0§00 per month during year 4 through year 6, ¥iBduring year 7
through year 9 and $116,000 per month in year hiclwwe believe to be a market rate. During thetfoquarter of 2006, we
sold our previous headquarters building in Panamat@a third party.

Other Property

At Tocumen International Airport, we lease a maiatece hangar, operations offices in the termirmalnter space,
parking spaces and other operational properties fhe entity that manages the airport. We pay apprately $85,000 per
month for this leased property. Around Panama @ityalso lease various office spaces, parking space other properties
from a variety of lessors, for which we pay appnaaiely $10,000 per month in the aggregate.

In each of our destination cities, we also leasesat the airport for check-in, reservations anbet ticket office
sales, and we lease space for CTOs in more thaffi tBése cities.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica leases most of its airport and CTgned properties include one city ticket officayarehouse clos
to the airport and one floor in a high-rise builglin downtown Bogota.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospest
A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion in conjiamcwith our consolidated financial statements dinel related
notes and the other financial information includddewhere in this annual report.

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlpessenger and cargo service through our two pahoiperating
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRepublica. Copa opehatesits strategically located position in the Rbfic of Panama, and
AeroRepublica provides service primarily within Gamibia complemented by international flights fromieas cities in
Colombia to Panama City and Caracas. We currepiyaie a fleet of 55 aircraft, 27 Boeing 737-Negn€ration aircraft, 24
Embraer 190 aircraft and four MD-80 aircraft. Wereatly have firm orders, including purchase aras&ecommitments, for 15
Boeing 737-Next Generation and two Embraer 190$ pamchase rights and options for up three additi@oeing 737-Next
Generation and 11 additional Embraer 190s.

Copa currently offers approximately 152 daily sakled flights among 45 destinations in 24 countiieNorth,
Central and South America and the Caribbean frerRénama City hub. Copa provides passengers wigsa¢o flights to
more than 120 other destinations through codeslraaagements with Continental pursuant to whictheadine places its
name and flight designation code on the othergghfi. Through its Panama City hub, Copa is abt®tsolidate passenger
traffic from multiple points to serve each destioateffectively.
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Copa operates a modern fleet of 27 Boeing 737-Sexteration aircraft and 15 Embraer 190 aircrafb\ait average
age of approximately 4.2 years as of December @18 2To meet its growing capacity requirements,Clags firm orders,
including purchase and lease commitments, to ad®ptery of 15 additional aircraft through 2012aras purchase rights and
options that, if exercised, would allow it to actdplivery of up to nine additional aircraft thrdug012. Copa’s firm orders are
for 15 additional Boeing 737-Next Generation aificrand its purchase rights and options are forougiree Boeing 737-Next
Generation aircraft and up to six Embraer 190s.

Copa started its strategic alliance with Continkintd998. Since then, it has conducted joint manigeand code-
sharing arrangements, and participated in the awarding OnePass frequent flyer loyalty programbglitly and on a co-
branded basis in Latin America. We believe that&®po-branding and joint marketing activities w@bntinental have
enhanced its brand in Latin America, and that étationship with Continental has afforded it cadted benefits, such as
improving purchasing power in negotiations witrceaft vendors and insurers. Copa’s alliance aratedlservices agreements
with Continental are in effect until 2015.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was tleesd-largest
domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of numbepa$sengers carried in 2005, which at the time geml/point-topoint service
among 11 cities in Colombia. AeroRepublica currenperates a fleet of nine Embraer 190 and four 8Dand has expanded
its routes to include international pointfioint service from various Colombian cities to FaaaCity and Caracas. As part of
fleet modernization and expansion plan, AeroRepaltias firm orders, including purchase and leasedtments, to accept
delivery of two Embraer 190 aircraft through thel @fi 2009 and options to purchase up to five agdidéi Embraer 190 aircraft
through 2013.

Fuel is our single largest operating expense asd,rasult, our results of operations are likelgdotinue to be
materially affected by the cost of fuel as compawétti prior periods. From 2004 to 2008, the avenagee of West Texas
Intermediate crude oil, a benchmark widely usectfade oil prices that is measured in barrels arategl in U.S. dollars,
increased by 141% from $41.47 per barrel to $9p&3varrel. During 2008, fuel prices experienceghiicant volatility, with
West Texas Intermediate crude prices reachingetberd price of approximately $145 per barrel iryJBrices then dropped to
approximately $44 per barrel at the end of Decemiviile prices have decreased since their peak®82we believe that fuel
prices are likely to increase in the future. Toegdate have managed to offset some of the increéadesl prices by managing
load factors, fuel related price increases, whiely make the form of fare increases or fuel surodsrgnd cost cutting
initiatives. We estimate that we were able to daffggproximately 100% of the increase in unit cast3008 as compared to
2007 through higher unit revenues. Although theeeadher factors affecting unit costs, managemensiders the 100% cost
recoverability to be a fair estimate of the coverafjincremental fuel prices, as most of the ingega unit costs is related to
fuel price. We have hedged approximately 27%, 6#% of our anticipated fuel needs for 2009, 204@ 2011, respectively.
We will continue to evaluate various hedging stas, and we may enter into additional hedging eents in the future.
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Regional Economic Environment

Our historical financial results have been, andewgect them to continue to be, materially affedigdhe general
level of economic activity and growth of per captaposable income in North, South and Central Araegind the Caribbean
(drivers of our passenger revenue) and the volunmade between countries in the region (the ppakdriver of our cargo
revenue).

According to data fronThe Preliminary Overview of the Economies of Latinerica and the Caribbegran annual
United Nations publication prepared by the Econobéwelopment Division, the economy of Latin Amer{gzcluding the
Caribbean) grew by approximately 4.6% and 5.7%0id82and 2007, respectively. In recent years, ti@manian economy h
closely tracked the economies of the United Stateksof Latin America. In 2008, however, the Panaaraaconomy grew in
real terms by approximately 8.3% (versus 8.5% id720according to the International Monetary FureSimates, and
significantly exceeded the growth rate of the ragloflation in Panama rose approximately 5.8%00& (versus 3.8% in
2007). Additionally, the Colombian economy has eigreced relatively stable growth. According to theernational Monetary
Fund estimates, the Colombian gross domestic ptagaw by approximately 6.8% 2006, 6.6% in 2007 496 in 2008 with
inflation (as indicated by the consumer price indésing by approximately 4.3% in 2006, 5.5% in 2Ghd 7.3% in 2008.

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from passengersprartation which represents approximately 94%unfrevenues
with approximately 6% derived from cargo and otteafenues.

We recognize passenger revenue when transporiatovided and when unused tickets expire. Pagsergenues
reflect the capacity of our aircraft on the routesfly, load factor and yield. Our capacity is ma&sl in terms of available seat
miles (ASMs) which represents the number of seaddable on our aircraft multiplied by the numbémailes the seats are
flown. Our usage is measured in terms of revengegrager miles (RPMs) which is the number of revgrassengers multipli¢
by the miles these passengers fly. Load factah@percentage of our capacity that is actuallylisepaying customers, is
calculated by dividing RPMs by ASMs. Yield is theeseage amount that one passenger pays to fly oiee Wie use a
combination of approaches, taking into accountdggflight load factors and effects on load factfrsonnecting traffic,
depending on the characteristics of the marketsedeto arrive at a strategy for achieving the lpessible revenue per
available seat mile, balancing the average faregeltbagainst the corresponding effect on our laatbfs.

We recognize cargo revenue when transportatioroiggied. Our other revenue consists primarily afesss baggage
charges, ticket change fees and charter flights.

Overall demand for our passenger and cargo serigdeghly dependent on the regional economic emvirent in
which we operate, including the GDP of the coustrie serve and the disposable income of the residéthose countries. V
believe that approximately 50% of our passengessetrat least in part for business reasons, andrtheth of intraregional
trade greatly affects that portion of our busin@$ge remaining 50% of our passengers are tounidtaeelers visiting friends
and family.

The following table sets forth our capacity, loadtbr and yields for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2007 2008

Copa Segmer

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 5,239.! 6,297.¢ 7,341.¢

Load factor 77.8% 78.4% 78.8%

Yield (in cents) 15.4¢ 15.3: 16.81
AeroRepublica Segme

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 1,627.: 1,620.¢ 1,502.°

Load factor 57.% 57.2% 61.7%

Yield (in cents)(1 17.7¢ 22.7¢ 26.31

(1) AeroRepublica has not historically distinguishetiNeen revenue passengers and non-revenue passaigesse
implementing systems at AeroRepublica to recortlitifarmation.
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Seasonality

Generally, our revenues from and profitability of dlights peak during the northern hemisphereimisier season in
July and August and again during the December andaly holiday season. Given our high proportiofixaid costs, this
seasonality is likely to cause our results of ofiena to vary from quarter to quarter.

Operating Expenses

The main components of our operating expensesit@rafafuel, salaries and benefits, passengerica;
commissions, aircraft maintenance, reservationssafess and aircraft rent. A common measure of pircasts in the airline
industry is cost per available seat mile (CASM)jchihis generally defined as operating expenseslidid/by ASMs.

Aircraft fuel. The price we pay for aircraft fuel varies signifitig from country to country primarily due to local
taxes. While we purchase aircraft fuel at all thpaats to which we fly, we attempt to negotiatelfag contracts with
companies that have a multinational presence iardaibenefit from volume purchases. During 20@8a aesult of the location
of its hub, Copa purchased approximately 58% ddiitsraft fuel in Panama, where it was able to iobibetter prices due to
volume discounts. Copa has over 15 suppliers ofafirfuel across its network. In some cases wketafuel in order to
minimize our cost by fueling in airports where fpeices are lowest. Our aircraft fuel expenses/ar@ble and fluctuate based
on global oil prices. From 2004 to 2008, the averpdce of West Texas Intermediate crude oil, echarark widely used for
crude oil prices that is measured in barrels arateglin U.S. dollars, increased by 141% from $4pdi7barrel to $99.93 per
barrel. To date, we have managed to offset sonieedhcreases in fuel prices with higher load fesstéuel surcharges and fare
increases. In addition, our relatively young, wetegtquipped fleet also helps us mitigate the impébigher fuel prices.
Historically, we have not hedged a significant ortof our fuel costs. We have hedged approximat@ks, 6% and 9% of our
anticipated fuel needs for 2009, 2010 and 201 pesvely.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Copa Segmer
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into planedexiing

hedge) (in U.S. dollars $ 132 $ 187 $ 21C $ 22¢ $ 321
Gallons consumed (in thousani 50,83: 58,92+ 70,77( 85,46 100,26t
Available seat miles (in millions 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢ 7,342
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.4C 1.34 1.3t 1.3¢ 1.37
AeroRepublice(1)
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into planedlexiing

hedge) (in U.S. dollars — $ 212 $ 224 $ 24 $  3.4¢
Gallons consumed (in thousant — 17,881 28,321 26,98¢ 24,79¢
Available seat miles (in millions — 95C 1,627 1,62( 1,50
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth — 1.8¢ 1.74 1.67 1.6t

(1) Since April 22, 2005

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits expenses have historicallgased at the rate of inflation and by the
growth in the number of our employees. In someg;ase have adjusted salaries of our employeesrtesmond to changes in
the cost of living in the countries where these leyges work. We do not increase salaries baseemiority.

Passenger servicing expens@sir passenger servicing expenses consist of expémskability insurance, baggage

handling, catering, in-flight entertainment andesthosts related to aircraft and airport servigégse expenses are generally
directly related to the number of passengers wey @arthe number of flights we operate.
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CommissionsOur commission expenses consist primarily of paymfor ticket sales made by travel agents and
commissions paid to credit card companies. Tragehts receive base commissions, not including leackincentive program
ranging from 0% to 6% depending on the country.iuthe last few years we have reduced our comarnsskpense per
available seat mile as a result of an industry-wided of paying lower commissions to travel agesand by increasing the
proportion of our sales made through direct chanrWlk expect this trend to continue as more otcastomers become
accustomed to purchasing through call centersfamodgh the internet. While increasing direct sabey increase the
commissions we pay to credit card companies, weebpat the savings from the corresponding redndti travel agency
commissions will more than offset this increaserdeent years, base commissions paid to travetadewe decreased
significantly. At the same time, we have encouragadel agencies to move from standard base cormmums$o incentive
compensation based on sales volume and fare types.

Maintenance, material and repair expendg@sr maintenance, material and repair expensesstasfsiircraft repair
and charges related to light and heavy maintenahoar aircraft, including maintenance materialaiMenance and repair
expenses, including overhaul of aircraft componearts charged to operating expenses as incurret. aiaverage age of only
4.2 years as of December 31, 2008, our Copa #egtires a low level of maintenance compared toltier fleets of some of
our competitors. We also currently incur lower nt@irance expenses on our Boeing and Embraer aibaediuse a significant
number of our aircraft parts remain under multirywarranties. As the age of our fleet increasesveimeh our warranties
expire, our maintenance expenses will increaseolfeconduct line maintenance internally and outsetneavy maintenance
to independent third party contractors. In 2003 negotiated with GE Engine Services a maintenanseper hour program for
the repair and maintenance of our CFM-56 enginashwower our Boeing 737 Next Generation fleet. ©ugine maintenance
costs are also aided by the sea-level elevati@muohub and the use of winglets which allow usperate the engines on our
Boeing 737 Next Generation aircraft with lower #irithus putting less strain on the engines.

Line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s MD-80s and Eaebfleet is performed by AeroRepublica’s in-house
maintenance staff. Heavy maintenance for the MDi8@erformed by FAA-certified third-party aviatiomaintenance
companies. The average age of AeroRepublica’s dieetff December 31, 2008 was 5.7 years.

Aircraft rent. Our aircraft rental expenses are generally fixethgyterms of our operating lease agreements.
Currently, six of Copa’s operating leases havedirates which are not subject to fluctuations teriest rates and the seventh is
tied to LIBOR. All of AeroRepublica’s operating E=s have fixed rates which are not subject todhtains in interest rates.
Our aircraft rent expense also includes rental paysrelated to our wet-leasing of freighter aiftdiasupplement our cargo
operations.

Reservations and sales expen€ds reservations and sales expenses arise prinfiamity payments to global
distribution systems, such as Amadeus and Sataelishour flight offerings on reservation systeansund the world. These
reservation systems tend to raise their rates gieetly, but we expect that if we are successfudnigouraging our customers to
purchase tickets through our direct sales chantiesge costs will decrease as a percentage ofpauating costs. A portion of
our reservations and sales expense is also codpismur licensing payments for the SHARES reséowaand check-in
management software we use, which is not expeotelange significantly from period to period.

Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rentadse generally directly related to the number aftfts we operate.

Otherincludes publicity and promotion expenses, expersased to our cargo operations, technology rdlate
initiatives and miscellaneous other expenses.
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Taxes

We pay taxes in the Republic of Panama and in aentries in which we operate, based on regulatioreffect in
each respective country. Our revenues come prithgifpam foreign operations and according to the&aanian Fiscal Code
these foreign operations are not subject to inctamén Panama.

We have elected to calculate our Panamanian incaxnith the alternative gross tax election. Unithés method,
based on Article 121 of the Panamanian Fiscal Cademe for international transportation compaisesalculated based on a
territoriality method that determines gross revene@ned in Panama by applying the percentagele$ fitown within the
Panamanian territory against total revenues. Utldemethod, loss carry-forwards cannot be appbeaffset tax liability.
Dividends from our Panamanian subsidiaries, incigdCopa, are separately subject to a ten perceiftgach dividends can be
shown to be derived from Panamanian income thahbbbeen otherwise taxed.

We are also subject to local tax regulations irhezche other jurisdictions where we operate,gteat majority of
which are related to the taxation of our incomesdme of the countries to which we fly, we do nay pny income taxes
because we do not generate income under the lathesd countries either because they do not haearia taxes or due to
treaties or other arrangements those countries\wakéPanama. In the remaining countries, we pagptime tax at a rate ranging
from 25% to 34% of our income attributable to thosantries. Different countries calculate our ineoim different ways, but
they are typically derived from our sales in thelagable country multiplied by our net margin or &presumed net margin set
by the relevant tax legislation. The determinatibour taxable income in several countries is based combination of
revenues sourced to each particular country andltheation of expenses to that particular countiye methodology for
multinational transportation company sourcing efereue and expense is not always specifically pitgesdiin the relevant tax
regulations, and therefore is subject to interpi@teby both ourselves and the respective tax aitids®. Additionally, in some
countries, the applicability of certain regulatigy@/erning non-income taxes and the determinatimuofiling status are also
subject to interpretation. We cannot estimate theumt, if any, of the potential tax liabilities thaight result if the allocations,
interpretations and filing positions we use in @m@pg our income tax returns were challenged bytakeauthorities of one or
more countries. It is possible that we may becontgest to tax in jurisdictions in which, for prigears, we had not been
subject to tax and that, in the future, we may bezsubject to increased taxes in the countrieshiohwwve fly.

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a biatagreement between Panama and the United Staesge
exempt from the U.S. source transportation inceemederived from the international operation of aft

We paid taxes totaling approximately $11.3 millior2006, $16.6 million in 2007, and $14.9 millian2008.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires our ragament to
adopt accounting policies and make estimates aighjents to develop amounts reported in our cores@libifinancial
statements and related notes. We strive to maiatpitocess to review the application of our acdagrpolicies and to evaluate
the appropriateness of the estimates requirechéopteparation of our consolidated financial statets. We believe that our
estimates and judgments are reasonable; howeveal aesults and the timing of recognition of sachounts could differ from
those estimates. In addition, estimates routinedyiire adjustments based on changing circumstamzethe receipt of new or
better information.

Critical accounting policies and estimates arergfias those that are reflective of significangjuénts and
uncertainties and potentially result in materiaifferent results under different assumptions amtitions. For a discussion of
these and other accounting policies, see Noteolit@nnual consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognitiofassenger revenue is recognized when transportatovided rather than when a ticket is
sold. The amount of passenger ticket sales nategeignized as revenue is reflected in the “Airficdfability” line on our
consolidated balance sheet. Fares for ticketshtdnas expired and/or are more than one year oldeamgnized as passenger
revenue upon expiration.
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Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized wiegorovide the shipping services and thereby cetafihe
earning process. Other revenue is primarily coneprisf excess baggage charges, commissions earn@ttets sold for flights
on other airlines and charter flights and is reéogghwhen transportation or service is provided.

Frequent flyer programWe participate in Continental’s frequent flyer praigy “OnePass,” through which our
passengers receive all the benefits and privileffesed by the OnePass program. Continental isoresiple for the
administration of the OnePass program. Under tlest@f our frequent flyer agreement with Contingri@mePass members
receive OnePass frequent flyer mileage credit&rémel on Copa and AeroRepublica, and we pay Cental a per mile rate for
each mileage credit granted by Continental, at vpigint we have no further obligation. The amouwlus to Continental under
this agreement are expensed by us as the mileadiéscare earned.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived purchased intangilalssetsin accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and @the
Intangible Assets”, we perform impairment testifiggoodwill separately from impairment testing ofl@finitedived intangibles
We test goodwill for impairment, at least annually,comparing the book value to the fair valuehatreporting segment level
and individually test indefinite-lived intangibles, least annually, by comparing the individual bealues to fair values.
Considerable management judgment is necessaratoate the impact of operating and macroecononaagés and to
estimate future cash flows to measure fair valusuinptions used in our impairment evaluations ansistent with internal
projections and operating plans. We did not recgyany impairment charges for goodwill or intangibhssets during the ye
presented. All of our goodwill and indefiniteed intangible are allocated in the AeroRepUbegment and are tested annu
for impairment. For the years ended December 20@32807, amounts of goodwill and intangible ashaise changed due to
exchange effect.

Derivative instruments and hedging activiti#ée account for derivatives and hedging activitreaécordance with
FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivatimsttuments and Certain Hedging Activities, as amadnd/hich requires
entities to recognize all derivative instrument®#iser assets or liabilities on their balance shéeéheir respective fair values.
For derivatives designated as hedges, changes faithvalue are either offset against the chandair value, for the risk being
hedged, of the assets and liabilities through egmior recognized in accumulated other compretemscome until the hedg
item is recognized in earnings.

We enter into derivative contracts that we desigm@ata hedge of a forecasted transaction or thebiley of cash
flows to be received or paid related to a recoghi&sset or liability (cash flow hedge). For all b relationships we formal
document the hedging relationship and its risk-rgan@ent objective and strategy for undertaking gk, the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of thelv&skg hedged, how the hedging instrument’s effeatess in offsetting the
hedged risk will be assessed prospectively andgpéctively, and a description of the method ofsueag ineffectiveness. We
also formally assess, both at the hedge’s inceptimhon an ongoing basis, whether the derivativasare used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsettingltélsws of hedged items.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative thatighly effective and that is designated and qualifis a cash-flow
hedge are recorded in accumulated other comprefgeimsiome to the extent that the derivative isaife as a hedge, until
earnings are affected by the variability in casiwB of the designated hedged item. The ineffeg@ortion of the change in fair
value of a derivative instrument that qualifiesaasash-flow hedge is reported in earnings.

We discontinue hedge accounting prospectively whemetermine that the derivative is no longer eiffedn
offsetting cash flows of the hedged item, the deiise expires or is sold, terminated, or exercisleel derivative is de-
designated as a hedging instrument because itikelynthat a forecasted transaction will occurhmnagement determines that
designation of the derivative as a hedging instmirreeno longer appropriate.

In all situations in which hedge accounting is diginued and the derivative is retained, we comtitaucarry the
derivative at its fair value on the balance sheetr@cognize any subsequent changes in its faievial earnings. When it is
probable that a forecasted transaction will nouocwe discontinue hedge accounting and recognireeidiately in earnings
gains and losses that were accumulated in otheprmansive income.
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Maintenance and repair costslaintenance and repair costs for owned and ledggd équipment, including the
overhaul of aircraft components, are charged toaijmg expenses as incurred. Engine overhaul costsred by power-by-the-
hour arrangements are paid and expensed as incarrdélde basis of hours flown per the contract. &fttle terms of our power-
by-the-hour agreements, we pay a set dollar anfpeméngine hour flown on a monthly basis and tlvel4barty vendor
assumes the obligation to repair the engines adddional cost to us, subject to certain speciégdusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreensesecifically provide that we, as lessee, arearsiple for
maintenance of the leased aircraft, we do, undgaioeof our existing lease agreements, pay madamtea reserves to aircraft
and engine lessors that are to be applied towhsdsdst of future maintenance events. These resareecalculated based on a
performance measure, such as flight hours, andpaeifically to be used to reimburse thpdrty providers that furnish servic
in connection with maintenance of our leased dirciathere are sufficient funds on deposit to piag invoices submitted, they
are paid. However, if amounts on deposit are ingefit to cover the invoices, we must cover therghlb because, as noted
above, we are legally responsible for maintainhmglease aircraft. Under our aircraft lease agreésnéd there are excess
amounts on deposit at the expiration of the lelgelessor is entitled to retain any excess amoiiigs maintenance reserves
paid under our lease agreements do not transfearatie obligation to maintain the aircraft or tust risk associated with the
maintenance activities to the aircraft lessor.ddigion, we maintain the right to select any thiraty maintenance providers.
Therefore, we record these amounts as prepaid emainte within “Other Assets” on our consolidateldmee sheet and then
recognize maintenance expense when the underlyaigtemance is performed, in accordance with ountaaance accounting
policy. Any excess amounts retained by the lesponuhe expiration of the lease, would be recoghaeadditional aircraft
rental expense when it becomes probable that wédwami benefit from such excess, mostly at expirabf the lease.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardaf8 (FASB) issued Statement No. 161, “Disclosaissut
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities —anendment of FASB Statement No. 133" (“SFAS 163HAS 161
requires entities that utilize derivative instrungeto provide qualitative disclosures about théjeotives and strategies for
using such instruments, as well as any detailsaficrisk-related contingent features containethiniderivatives. SFAS 161
also requires entities to disclose additional infation about the amounts and location of derivatleeated within the financial
statements, how the provisions of SFAS 133 hava beplied, and the impact that hedges have on té#y'srfinancial positior
financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS 16dffisctive for fiscal years and interim periods begig after November 15,
2008, with early application encouraged. We dobadieve the adoption of SFAS 161 will have a matémpact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In October 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position NS 157-3, “Determining the Fair Value of a Fineh@sset
When the Market for That Asset is Not Active” (F887-3). FSP 157-3 clarifies the application of SF&T, in cases where a
market is not active. We have considered the guelgmovided by FSP 157-3 in its determination dfested fair values as of
December 31, 2008, and the impact was not material.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No, ‘Bt Fair Value Option for Financial Assets andancial
Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”). The standard allows digs to voluntarily choose, at specified electiated, to measure many
financial assets and financial liabilities (as wadlcertain non-financial instruments that arelsinto financial instruments) at
fair value (the “fair value option”). The electi@mmade on an instrument-fystrument basis and is irrevocable. If the faiue
option is elected for an instrument, SFAS 159 dgcthat all subsequent changes in fair valuetfat instrument shall be
reported in earnings. SFAS 159 becomes effectivehiofiscal years beginning after November 15,20e did not elect to
adopt SFAS 159.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No(Rétised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS (B)1).
SFAS 141(R) will change the accounting for busirmssabinations. Under SFAS 141(R), an acquiringtgntill be required to
recognize all the assets acquired and liabilitsssimed in a transaction at the acquisitiate fair value with limited exceptior
SFAS 141(R) will change the accounting treatmentdiaclosure for certain specific items in a busgneombination. SFAS
141(R) applies prospectively to business combinatfor which the acquisition date is on or after lieginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after Delpeni5, 2008. The impact of our adoption of SFAS(RJ will depend upo
nature and terms of business combinations, if trat,we consummate on or after January 1, 2009.

In December 2008, the FASB affirmed Staff Posithm FAS 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about
Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets” (“FSP FAS 132(R. FSP FAS 132(R)-1 requires additional discl@s about assets held
in an employee’s defined benefit pension or otlustietirement plan, primarily related to categoseed fair value
measurements of plan assets. We do not believadihygtion of the FSP FAS 132(R)-1 will have a matémpact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Gain from Involuntary Conversion

In 2007, we recorded an $8.0 million gain on invibéry conversion of non-monetary assets to monetssgts
related to insurance proceeds in excess of airocafk value.

Special Fleet Charges

In 2007, we decided to terminate early five MD-8@mft leases, in connection with the transitidn o
AeroRepublica’s fleet to Embraer 190. Penaltiesl fai early termination are recognized as SpedegtFCharges in the
Statement of Income.

Results of Operation

The following table shows each of the line itemsim income statements for the periods indicateal parcentage of
our total operating revenues for that period:

Year Ended December 31

2006 2007 2008

Operating revenues:
Passenger reven 93.9% 94.1% 94.5%
Cargo, mail and othe 6.1% 5.€% 5.5%

Total 100.% 100.% 100.(%
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel (25.6% (25.9% (31.9%
Salaries and benefi (20.9)% (11.9H% (10.9%
Passenger servicir (7.€)% (8.)% (7.71%
Commissions (6.89)% (6.49% (5.2%
Reservation and sal (4.5% 4.7% (4.9%
Maintenance, materials and reps (5.9% (5.0% (5.2%
Depreciatior (2.9% (3.9% (3.9%
Flight operation: (4.0% (4.9% (4.9%
Aircraft rentals (4.5% (3.9% (3.9%
Landing fees and other rent: (2.9% (2.6)% (2.5%
Other (5.9% (5.9% (4.5%
Special fleet charge — (0.9% —
Gain from involuntary conversic — 0.8% —

Total (80.5)% (80.6)% (82.6%
Operating incom: 19.5% 19.2% 17.4%
Non-operating income (expense
Interest expens (3.9% (4.9% (3.9%
Interest capitalize 0.2% 0.2% 0.1%

Interest incomt 0.S% 1.2% 0.9%



Other, ne
Total
Income/(loss) before income tax
Income taxe:
Net income
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Year 2008 Compared to Year 2007

Our consolidated net income in 2008 totaled $1hdllfon, a 26.7% decrease over net income of $1&iilBon in
2007. This decrease was due to a $54.9 millionitosise fair value of fuel derivative instrumen®perationally, we had a
consolidated income of $224.0 million in 2008, a4®8 increase over operating income of $197.5 milliv2007. Our
consolidated operating margin in 2008 was 17.4#eaease of 1.8 percentage points over an openatngin of 19.2% in
2007.

Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $1.3 billion i0&0a 25.5% increase over operating revenue offillién in 2007
due to increases in both passenger and cargo resenu

Copa segment operating revenue

Copa’s operating revenue totaled $1.0 billion i020a 28.5% increase over operating revenue of.38@8lion in
2007 due to increases in both passenger and cavgaues.

Passenger revenuPassenger revenue totaled $973.2 million in 20@8.3% increase over passenger revenue of
$756.4 million in 2007. This increase resulted puiity from the addition of capacity (ASMs incread®d16.6% in 2008 as
compared to 2007) that resulted from an increaskepartures and, to a lesser extent, longer avetage length. Revenues &
increased due to our higher overall load factoadléactor increased from 78.4% in 2007 to 78.8%068) during the period
and the simultaneous increase in passenger yididhwose by 9.7% to 16.81 cents in 2008.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other revenue totaled $62.7 miliipA007, a 26.1% increase over cargo, |
and other revenue of $49.8 million in 2007. Thizrgase was primarily the result of higher exceggage fees and higher
cargo revenue resulting from an increase in bglice capacity available.

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue

AeroRepublica’s operating revenue totaled $26418aniin 2008, an increase of $38.9 million overeogting
revenue of $226.0 million registered during 2005uteng from an increase in both passenger andaangenues. This increase
resulted primarily from higher passenger yield Iyiacreased from 22.74 cents in 2007 to 26.31cen2008) during the
period, partly due to a stronger Colombian currethasing the year and higher ticket prices.

Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $llidrbin 2008, a 28.3% increase over operating esps of
$829.8 million in 2007 that was primarily attribbte to the growth of our operations and higher fugsit.

In 2008, our operating expenses per availableragatexcluding aircraft fuel was 7.46 cents, a 4ifgsease over
operating expenses per available seat mile exdualircraft fuel of 7.13 cents in 2007. Aircraft fyer available seat mile was
4.58 cents in 2008, compared to 3.35 cents in 2002008, our total operating expenses per avalabat mile was 12.04 cel
a 14.9% increase over operating expenses per hleagaat mile of 10.48 cents in 2007.
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An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $404.7 million in 2008, a 5% increase over aircraft fuel of $265.4 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of higinel prices and higher fuel consumption.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $139.4 million in@019.5% increase over salaries and benefits
of $116.7 million in 2007. This increase was priityaa result of an overall increase in headcourgupport our operations.

Passenger servicingtassenger servicing totaled $98.8 million in 2@G089.1% increase over passenger servicing of
$82.9 million in 2007. This increase was primaslyesult of an increase in Copa’s capacity andaarédpassengers.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $67.2 million in 2008, a 1.9%réase over commissions of $65.9 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of higheesssenger revenue offset by lower average corunsss

The remaining operating expenses totaled $354Jiomih 2008, an increase of $55.9 million in 2008.
Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per availaaemile is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 Percent
2007 2008 Change
(in cents)

Operating Expenses per ASM
Salaries and benefi 1.4¢ 1.4¢ 2.4%
Passenger servicir 1.0¢ 1.11 1.6%
Commissions 0.74 0.71 (3.€%0)
Reservation and sal 0.57 0.5t (2.€%)
Maintenance, materials and reps 0.62 0.6: 0.6%
Depreciatior 0.4¢ 0.52 6.4%
Flight operation: 0.5¢ 0.64 8.7%
Aircraft rentals 0.44 0.4: (3.4%)
Landing fees and other rent: 0.32 0.3¢ 1.8%
Other 0.61 0.5t (8.8%)
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.9C 6.94 0.5%
Aircraft fuel 3.17 4.3¢ 36.7%
Total operating expenses per A¢ 10.0¢ 11.2% 11.€%

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $318.2 million in 2008, a 8% increase over aircraft fuel of $199.7 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of @37 increase in the all-in average price per gadibjet fuel ($3.14 in 2008
compared to $2.29 in 2007) and the consumptior6di% more fuel due to a 18.9% increase in depariamel an increase in
average stage length. Aircraft fuel per availalelat snile increased by approximately 36.7% dueddribrease in average fuel
cost per gallon.
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Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $108.9 million in&0919.4% increase over salaries and benefits
of $91.2 million in 2007. This increase was maialsesult of an overall increase in operating headtto support increased
capacity deployed during the year. Salaries anéfiterper available seat mile increased by 2.5%.

Passenger servicingtassenger servicing totaled $81.2 million in 2@0818.4% increase over passenger servicing of
$68.6 million in 2007. This increase was primasdlyesult of Copa’s 16.6% increase in capacity. &ragy servicing per
available seat mile increased by 1.6%.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $52.1 million in 2008, a 12 jB¥ease over commissions of $46.4 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of highessenger revenue partially offset by lower ay@@mmission rates.
Commissions per available seat mile decreaseda$y.3.

Reservations and saléReservations and sales totaled $40.7 million in82@013.5% increase over reservations and
sales of $35.9 million in 2007. This increase wamarily a result of a 15.4% increase in board passengers. Reservations
sales expenses per available seat mile decreaseé%y

Maintenance, materials and repaifdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $45l@®min 2008, a 17.2%
increase over maintenance, materials and repa$3®® million in 2007. This increase was primadlyesult of a 16.6%
increase in capacity. Maintenance, materials apdir@er available seat mile increased by 0.6%.

Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $38.1 million in 2008, a 24.it#rease over depreciation of $30.7 million in 2{
as a result of higher depreciation attributableunacquisition of five new Embraer 190 and two rigweing 737800 aircraft ir
2007, and four new Embraer 190 and one new Boe&diig8D0 in 2008. Depreciation per available sea¢ mitreased by 6.4%.

Flight operations, aircraft rentalandlanding fees and other rentalSombined, flight operations, aircraft rentals and
landing fees and other rentals increased from $&llion in 2007 to $101.9 million in 2008, primyyrias a result of Copa’s
16.6% increase in capacity. Combined flight opersdj aircraft rentals and landing fees and oth&ate per available seat mile
increased by 3.1%.

Other.Other expenses totaled $40.6 million in 2008, &®6idcrease over other expenses of $38.1 millio20di7.
This increase was primarily a result of an incraag@nePass frequent flyer miles earned by custsmiering the period. Other
expenses per available seat mile decreased by 8.8%.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses
AeroRepublica’s operating expenses totaled $24%min 2008, an increase of $48.7 million ovgrevating
expenses of $200.5 million reported during 200vparily due to higher aircraft fuel cost and high&intenance expenses
related to the retirement of the older MD-80 aificra

Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totaled®$8iflion in 2008, an increase over non-operagrgenses of
$18.6 million in 2007, attributable primarily td&4.9 million loss in the market value of fuel dative instruments.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $77.4 million in 2008increase from non-operating expense of $6lliomin 2007,
attributable primarily to a $54.5 million loss imet market value of fuel derivative instruments.

Interest expensdnterest expense totaled $36.2 million in 2008,3%®decrease over interest expense of
$36.3 million in 2007, primarily resulting from I@w average interest rates during the period. Theage effective interest ra
on our debt decreased by 88 basis points from 5difi%ag 2007 to 4.68% during 2008. At period’s einderest rate on
approximately 47% of our outstanding debt was fiaedn average effective rate of 4.89%.
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Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $1.9 million in 206825.3% decrease over interest capitalized of
$2.6 million in 2007, resulting from lower averagenthly balance relating to pre-delivery paymemtsawcraft.

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $10.5 million in 2008, a326 decrease over interest income of $11.7 million
in 2007. This decrease was mainly a result of loawerage interest rates during the period, partafset by a higher average
cash and investment balance.

Other, netOther, net loss totaled $53.6 million in 2008, camgal to a $15.9 million other, net income in 200is
change was primarily the result of a $54.5 millioss in the market value of fuel derivative instants during the period.

AeroRepublica segment non-operating income (expense

Non-operating expense totaled $10.5 million in 2008ecrease over non-operating expense of $12i@nmn 2007,
attributable primarily to lower interest expense.

Year 2007 Compared to Year 2006

Our consolidated net income in 2007 totaled $164ilBon, a 20.9% increase over net income of $138ilion in
2006. We had consolidated operating income of $l8illion in 2007, an 18.9% increase over operatimogpme of
$166.1 million in 2006. Our consolidated operatmargin in 2007 was 19.2%, a decrease of 0.3 pexgergoints over an
operating margin of 19.5% in 2006.

Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $1.0 billion i@20a 20.7% increase over operating revenue of 288illion in
2006 due to increases in both passenger and cavgaues.

Copa segment operating revenue

Copa’s operating revenue totaled $806.2 millioB007, a 19.2% increase over operating revenue @.26nillion
in 2006 due to increases in both passenger and cavgnues.

Passenger revenuPassenger revenue totaled $756.4 million in 200B.8% increase over passenger revenue of
$631.1 million in 2006. This increase resulted @uity from the addition of capacity (ASMs increadsd20.2% in 2007 as
compared to 2006) that resulted from an increasiepartures and, to a lesser extent, longer avetage length. Revenues ¢
increased due to our higher overall load factoadléactor increased from 77.8% in 2006 to 78.4%0@7) during the period,
partially offset by a 1.0 decrease in passengéd ye15.33 cents.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other revenue totaled $49.8 mililo#007, a 10.5% increase over cargo, |
and other revenue of $45.0 million in 2006. Thisrgase was primarily the result of higher exceggage fees and higher
cargo revenue resulting from an increase in bglce capacity available.

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue
AeroRepublica’s operating revenue totaled $22610aniin 2007, an increase of $50.2 million overeogating
revenue of $175.9 million registered during 200€uténg from an increase in both passenger ancaangenues. This increase

resulted primarily from higher passenger yield Iyiacreased from 17.79 cents in 2006 to 22.74)ahiring the period, part
due to a stronger Colombian currency.
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Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $888li8n in 2007, a 21.1% increase over operatingesses of
$685.0 million in 2006 that was primarily attribhte to the growth of our operations and higher fugsit.

In 2007, our operating expenses per availablersgatexcluding aircraft fuel was 7.13 cents, a 4ifgsease over
operating expenses per available seat mile exdualircraft fuel of 6.81 cents in 2006. Aircraft fyer available seat mile was
3.35 cents in 2007, compared to 3.17 cents in 2008007, our total operating expenses per avalabht mile was 10.48 cel
a 5.0% increase over operating expenses per alasabt mile of 9.98 cents in 2006.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $265.4 million in 2007, a 8% increase over aircraft fuel of $217.7 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of higinel costs and higher fuel consumption.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $116.7 million in20027.7% increase over salaries and benefits
of $91.4 million in 2006. This increase was prirtyaa result of an overall increase in headcourstujgport our operations.

Passenger servicingtassenger servicing totaled $82.9 million in 2@0Z8.8% increase over passenger servicing of
$64.4 million in 2006. This increase was primaslyesult of an increase in Copa’s capacity andaarédpassengers.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $65.9 million in 2007, a 14.ib%ease over commissions of $57.8 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of higheessenger revenue.

The remaining operating expenses totaled $2988&mih 2007, an increase of $45.1 million in 2007.
Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per avail&alemile is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 Percent
2006 2007 Change
(in cents)

Operating Expenses per ASM:
Salaries and benefi 1.4z 1.4t 1.4%
Passenger servicir 1.0 1.0¢ 5.2%
Commissions 0.77 0.74 (4.5%
Reservation and sal 0.5¢ 0.57 (2.1)%
Maintenance, materials and reps 0.52Z 0.6z 18.£%
Depreciatior 0.4t 0.4¢ 7.6%
Flight operation: 0.54 0.5¢ 7.4%
Aircraft rentals 0.4€ 0.44 (3.2%
Landing fees and other rent: 0.3t 0.3z (9.9%
Other 0.64 0.61 (4.9%
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.7¢ 6.9C 1.8%
Aircraft fuel 2.95 3.17 7.6%
Total operating expenses per A¢ 9.7: 10.0¢ 3.6%
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Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $199.7 million in 2007, a 2% increase over aircraft fuel of $154.3 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of &&i0crease in the all-in average price per gallbjetafuel ($2.29 in 2007
compared to $2.14 in 2006) and the consumptiord@&% more fuel due to a 16.2% increase in departame an increase in
average stage length. Aircraft fuel per availalelat snile increased by approximately 7.6% due tartbeease in average fuel
cost per gallon.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $91.2 million in 20021.9% increase over salaries and benefits
of $74.9 million in 2006. This increase was maialgesult of an overall increase in operating headtto support increased
capacity deployed during the year. Salaries aneéfiisrper available seat mile increased by 1.4%.

Passenger servicingtassenger servicing totaled $68.6 million in 2@0Z6.7% increase over passenger servicing of
$54.2 million in 2006. This increase was primaslyesult of Copa& 20.2% increase in capacity and the effect ohfytb highe
cost destinations. Passenger servicing per avaiksat mile increased by 5.2%.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $46.4 million in 2007, a 14i8¥ease over commissions of $40.4 million in
2006. This increase was primarily a result of highesssenger revenue partially offset by lower aye@mmission rate.
Commissions per available seat mile decreased39y.4.

Reservations and saléReservations and sales totaled $35.9 million in72@017.7% increase over reservations and
sales of $30.5 million in 2006. This increase wamarily a result of an 11.3% increase in charggated to global distribution
systems resulting from a 13.9% increase in on-bpassengers and a 4.3% increase in average rassvations and sales
expenses per available seat mile decreased by 2.1%.

Maintenance, materials and repaifdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $39lBmin 2007, a 42.8%
increase over maintenance, materials and repa$2@6 million in 2006. This increase was primaalyesult of more overhaul
events. Maintenance, materials and repair perablailseat mile increased by 18.8%.

Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $30.7 million in 2007, a 29.4#rease over depreciation of $23.7 million in &f
as a result of higher depreciation attributableuoacquisition of four new Embraer 190 and two rBaveing 737700 aircraft ir
2006, and five new Embraer 190 and two new BoeBW800 aircraft in 2007. Depreciation per availablatsaile increased t
7.6%.

Flight operations, aircraft rentalandlanding fees and other rentalSombined, flight operations, aircraft rentals and
landing fees and other rentals increased from $7T@I®N in 2006 to $84.7 million in 2007, primayiks a result of Copa’s
20.2% increase in capacity. Combined flight operstj aircraft rentals and landing fees and oth&ate per available seat mile
remained flat.

Other.Other expenses totaled $38.1 million in 2007, 8%increase over other expenses of $33.3 millidc20iP6.
This increase was primarily a result of an incraagenePass frequent flyer miles earned by custsmiering the period, as w
as higher transaction taxes in several of the cmanve fly. Other expenses per available seat datzeased by 4.3%.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses

AeroRepublica’s operating expenses totaled $20alBmin 2007, an increase of $24.1 million ovgrevating
expenses of $176.4 million reported during 2006nprily due to a 5.7% increase in departures, tlemgthening of the
Colombian currency and the effect of special fldwrges related to costs associated with termstiaégg for the early
termination of three MD-80 aircraft as a resuldgroRepublica’s ongoing transition to a more fuéicent all Embraer 190
fleet.
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Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totalecs$t8lion in 2007, a decrease over non-operatixueases of
$20.0 million in 2006, attributable primarily todfier other non-operating income and higher inténesime, partially offset by
higher interest expense.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $6.1 million in 2G0@dgecrease from non-operating expense of $11libmih 2006,
attributable primarily to higher interest incomealdrnigher other nomperating income partially offset by higher interespense

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $36.3 million in 20074®% increase over interest expense of
$26.9 million in 2006, primarily resulting from tliell year effect of the financing related to aaftrpurchased in 2006, as well
as the effect of the financing related to aircpafichased in 2007. The average effective intee#ssron our debt also increased
by 32 basis points from 5.24% during 2006 to 5.56%ng 2007. At period’s end, interest rate on agpnately 49% of our
outstanding debt was fixed at an average effectiteof 4.71%.

Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $2.6 million in 20@750.2% increase over interest capitalized of
$1.7 million in 2006, resulting from higher averagenthly balance relating to pre-delivery paymemtsaircraft.

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $11.7 million in 2007, a2P@ increase over interest income of $6.9 million
in 2006. This increase was mainly a result of aghér average cash and investment balance oveetreand higher interest
rates during the period.

Other, netOther, net income totaled $15.9 million in 2007 $&17 million increase over other, net income of
$7.2 million in 2005. This change was primarily tiesult of an increase of $9.1 million in the mankalue of fuel hedge
instruments.

AeroRepublica segment non-operating income (expense

Non-operating expense totaled $12.2 million in 2Q0Vincrease over non-operating expense of $8l@min 2006,
attributable primarily to higher interest expense.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

In recent years, we have been able to meet ourimgdapital requirements through cash from our af@ns. Our
capital expenditures, which consist primarily ateaft purchases, are funded through a combinatia@ur cash from operatio
and long-term financing. From time to time, we fioa pre-delivery payments related to our aircratfh wedium-term
financing in the form of commercial banks loans/anthonds privately placed with commercial bankar @ccounts receivable
at December 31, 2008 increased by $1.0 million amexghwith December 31, 2007, primarily as a resfulhe growth in
operating revenues.

Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investnambecember 31, 2008 increased by $88.5 mittion
$396.8 million. At December 31, 2008, we had $38ilfion in restricted cash within short-term invesnts, which are cash
collateral deposits with counterparties under dgiwe contracts and $7.6 million in restricted casthin longterm investment
as collateral for letters of credits. At Decembgy 2008 we had available credit lines totaling $3tillion under which there
were no amounts outstanding. As a result of exabaogtrols in Venezuela, cash generated from dpesin Venezuela and
not yet repatriated in U.S. dollars may not be labée to fund our cash obligations.

Operating Activities
We rely primarily on cash flows from operationsptovide working capital for current and future cgténs. Cash
flows from operating activities totaled $198.1 moitl in 2008, $221.9 million in 2007 and $193.5 il in 2006. The decrease

in operating cash flow during 2008 was primarilg tiesult of restricted cash used to secure obdigatielated to hedge
contracts.
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Investing Activities

During 2008, our capital expenditures were $21518am, which consisted primarily of expendituredated to our
purchase of four Embraer 190 aircraft and one Bp&Bi/-800 aircraft, as well as to expenditurestedléo advance payments
on aircraft purchase contracts. During 2007, opitabexpenditures were $366.1 million, which catesil primarily of
expenditures related to our purchase of nine Emldri@@ aircraft and two Boeing 737-800 aircraftyadl as to expenditures
related to advance payments on aircraft purchastazs. During 2006, our capital expenditures vi&82.0 million, which
consisted primarily of expenditures related to purchase of five Embraer 190 aircraft and two Bg&iB7-00 aircraft, as we
as to expenditures related to advance payments@afapurchase contracts.

Financing Activities

Financing activities during 2008 consisted primaof $160.2 million of financing for four Embrae®Q aircraft, one
Boeing 737-800 aircraft and aircraft pre-deliveayments, the repayment of $84.5 million in long¥tetebt and $16.2 million
in dividends declared and paid.

Financing activities during 2007 consisted primyaof $329.1 million of financing for nine Embrae®@ aircraft, two
Boeing 737-800 aircraft and aircraft pre-deliveayments, the repayment of $87.3 million in long¥tetebt and $13.6 million
in dividends declared and paid.

Financing activities during 2006 consisted primyaof $254.6 million of financing for Embraer 190agft, two
Boeing 737-700 aircraft and aircraft pre-deliveayments, the repayment of $27.5 million in privatelaced bonds, the
repayment of $77.2 million in long-term debt and38&illion in dividends declared and paid.

We have generally been able to arrange medium4ieancing for pre-delivery payments through loarthw
commercial banks. Although we believe that finagaam similar terms should be available for our fataircraft pre-delivery
payments, we may not be able to secure such fingrari terms attractive to us.

Over the past year, banks and other financialtirtgins worldwide have announced multi-billion dolivrite-downs
related primarily to their credit losses. Although have not experienced any difficulty obtainingaficing, these write downs,
combined with other factors, has led to a tightgninthe credit markets, which has increased tis¢ @oour lease and debt
financing and we may not be able to continue teeréinancing on terms attractive to us, or atialthe future.

We have financed the acquisition of 20 Boeing 7&Nseneration aircraft and three spare enginesigfr
syndicated loans provided by international finahicistitutions with the support of partial guaraegdssued by the Export-
Import Bank of the United States, or Ex-Im, witlpagment profiles of 12 years. The Ex-Im guaranseggport 85% of the net
purchase price and are secured with a first pyioniortgage on the aircraft in favor of a secunitystee on behalf of Ex-Im. The
documentation for each loan follows standard mafidns for this type of financing, including stamdavents of default. Our
Ex-Im supported financings amortize on a quartbdyis, are denominated in dollars and originallyrlyeterest at a floating
rate linked to LIBOR. Our Ex-Im guarantee faciktigypically offer an option to fix the applicablgérest rate. We have
exercised this option with respect to $348.9 millas of December 31, 2008 at an average weighteckst rate of 4.69%. The
remaining $30.3 million bears interest at an avenagighted interest of LIBOR plus 0.03%. At Decenthk, 2008, the total
amount outstanding under our Ex-Im-supported fimagectotaled $379.2 million.
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We have effectively extended the maturity of certafiour Boeing aircraft financing to 15 years tigh the use of a
“Stretched Overall Amortization and Repayment,'S@AR, structure which provides serial drdewns calculated to result it
100% loan accreting to a recourse balloon at thtimity of the Ex-Im guaranteed loan. The SOAR s of our facilities
require us to maintain certain financial covenaimsluding an EBITDAR to fixed charge ratio, a letegm obligations to
EBITDAR ratio and a minimum unrestricted cash baéarmTo comply with the first ratio, our EBITDA pladrcraft rent
expense, or EBITDAR, for the prior year must b&east 2.0 times our fixed charge expenses (inctytfiterest, commission,
fees, discounts and other finance payments) faryar. To comply with the second ratio, our loagst obligations must be no
more than six times EBITDAR. Third, our cash, caghivalents and short-term investment balance dhoeilat least
$50 million. As of December 31, 2008, we compligithvall required covenants. We also pay a commitrfeon the
unutilized portion of our SOAR loans.

We also have financed approximately 10% of the Ipage price of certain of our Boeing aircraft thlowgmmercial
loans. Under the commercial loan agreements foradtrreceived in 2002, we are required to comgity fiour specific
financial covenants. The first covenant requiresEBITDAR for the prior year to be at least 2.0 éisour finance charge
expenses (including interest, commission, feegodists and other finance payments). The seconcheotvdimits our net
borrowings to 85% of our capitalization. The thimvenant requires our tangible net worth to beastt $120 million. The last
covenant requires us to maintain a minimum of $80am in available cash (including cash equivakeahd committed credit
facilities). As of December 31, 2008, we complieithvall required covenants.

Our Embraer aircraft purchases are not eligibleeboim guaranteed financing. During 2005, we sed@senior
term loan facility in the amount of $134 millionrfthe purchase of six Embraer 190 aircraft. Thaddzave a term of twelve
years. During 2005, we utilized $44 million of thiéility and the remaining $90 million was drawuritig 2006. During 200¢
we secured a senior and junior term loan facihityhie amount of $240 million for the purchase of Eanbraer 190 aircraft. The
loans have a term of twelve years. During 2006utilzed $24 million of this facility and the renmaler was drawn during
2007. During 2008, we secured a senior term loettitiain the amount of $100 million for the purcdeof four Embraer 190
aircraft. The loans have a term of twelve yeargiigu2008, we utilized all of this facility. Undéne 2006 loan agreement we
are required to comply with certain financial coants. The first covenant requires our EBITDAR fue prior year to be at le
2.5 times our fixed charge expenses (including@sie commission, fees, discounts and other finpagenents) for that year.
The second covenant requires a total liability mipsrating leases minus operating cash to tang#tievorth ratio of less than
5.5. The third covenant requires our tangible natlwto be at least $160 million. The last covenmanqtires us to maintain a
minimum of $75 million in available cash, cash eglents and short-term investments. As of DecerBlteP008, we complied
with all required covenants.

During 2007, we secured a medium term loan fadititthe amount of $38 million for the financingmfe-delivery
payments of two Boeing 737-800 aircraft having sl months of July and December 2009. We havetgdaror the benefit
of the bank, a first priority security interesttire rights, title and interest over the two Boer3y-800 aircraft. Interest on the
loans is paid on a quarterly basis with the priatimlance to be repaid upon delivery of the aftcra

Capital resourcesWe finance our aircraft through long term debt apdrating lease financings. Although we expect
to finance future aircraft deliveries with a comdgion of similar debt arrangements and financirgés, we may not be able to
secure such financing on attractive terms. To kterg we cannot secure financing, we may be reduoenodify our aircraft
acquisition plans or incur higher than anticipdiedncing costs. We expect to meet our operatirigations as they become
due through available cash and internally generateds, supplemented as necessary by short-terlit tiress.

As of December 31, 2008, we had placed firm purelmders with The Boeing Company for thirteen Bgei37-
Next Generation aircraft and we have purchasegightl options for an additional three Boeing-Next Generation aircraft.
We have also options to purchase an additionalritbr&er 190 aircraft. The schedule for delivery af firm purchase orders is
as follows: three in 2009, three in 2010, five 012 and two in 2012. We meet our pre-delivery deépeguirements for our
Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft by paying casHyy using medium-term borrowing facilities andéendor financing for
deposits required 24 to 6 months prior to deliv®ne-delivery deposits for our Embraer 190 aircaadt required 18, 12 and
6 months prior to delivery. We fund these depaosith our own cash.

59




Table of Contents

We maintain available facilities for letters of ditewith several banks with outstanding balance$3s.6 million and
$33.8 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respeyg. These letters of credit are pledged focift rentals, maintenance
and guarantees for airport facilities. Of this to#20.0 million are letters of credit opened om&lé of AeroRepublica for the
same purposes listed above. In addition, we hararitied lines of credit totaling $31.1 million, inding one line of credit for
$15 million with Banco General and an overdrafélof credit of $10 million with Towerbank. Theseds of credit have been
put in place to bridge liquidity gaps and for otpetential contingencies. As of December 31, 2008¢ of these lines of credit
had outstanding balances.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licensess.

We believe that the Copa brand has strong valuéralichtes superior service and value in the LAtimerican travel
industry. We have registered the trademarks “Capa’“Copa Airlines” with the trademark office infgana and have filed
requests for registration in other countries, idoig the United States. We license certain bralodes and trade dress under
trademark license agreement with Continental rdlegeour alliance. We will have the right to comginto use our current logos
on our aircraft for up to five years after the @fdhe alliance agreement term. AeroRepublica’srbgsstered its name as a
trademark in Colombia for the next ten years, dadsto register its trademark in Panama, Ecuatemezuela and Peru.

We operate a number of software products undendiee from our vendors, including our booking enging
automated pricing system from SMG Technologies,SABRE revenue management software and our Carga{yéanent
system. Under our agreements with Boeing, we ascadarge amount of Boeing'’s proprietary informatio maintain our
aircraft. The loss of these software systems drrtieal support information from Boeing could negaly affect our business.

D. Trend Information

We seek to expand our Copa Airlines operation ldirapfrequencies and new routes with the additiofive new
aircraft to our fleet in 2009, including three Bogi737 Next Generation. For the remainder of 20@9¢expect to continue to
concentrate on keeping our operating costs lowpamsiuing ways to make our operations more efficient

We intend to continue developing initiatives to noye the operations at AeroRepublica. As part offsan to
modernize AeroRepublica’s fleet, we expect to taékevery of two Embraer aircraft during 2009. Wels¢o make further
improvements at AeroRepublica, including a contthfexzus on on-time performance, which during 26@8s the highest of
any Colombia carrier; further integration of Coparsl AeroRepublica’s network through codesharingemments; and
improvement of overall efficiency.

We expect jet fuel prices will continue to be vidéain 2009 and expect to continue evaluating hdging programs
to help protect us against short-term movementside oil prices.

We expect our operating capacity to increase 132009, primarily as a result of the addition ofeanew aircraft to
Copa’s fleet, and to a lesser extent due to théiadabf AeroRepublica’s two new aircraft.

E. Off-balance sheet arrangements
None of our operating lease obligations are refi@cn our consolidated balance sheet and we hawthrooff-

balance sheet arrangements. We are responsikddl foaintenance, insurance and other costs asedaidth operating these
aircraft; however, we have not made any residulaievar other guarantees to our lessors.
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F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

Our non-cancelable contractual obligations at Ddimm31, 2008 included the following:

At December 31, 2008

Less than : 1-3 35 More than 5
Total Year Years Years Years
(in thousands of dollar:
Aircraft and engine purchase commitme 470,64t 156,94¢ 268,72. 44,97¢ —
Aircraft operating lease 254,26: 41,197 77,82’ 60,20¢ 75,03
Other operating leas: 43,44¢ 10,12« 14,407 11,01: 7,90:
Shor-term debt and lor-term debt(1] 1,050,55 149,16° 204,62: 201,89¢ 494,87:
Total 1,818,91 357,43 565,57¢ 318,09: 577,80!

(1) Includes actual interest and estimated interedidating-rate debt based on December 31, 2008 r

Most contract leases include renewal options. Noeradt related leases have renewable terms ofyeae, and their
respective amounts included in the table above baea estimated through 2013, but we cannot egiarabunts with respect
to those leases for later years. Our leases dmcdlode residual value guarantees.

The Company has a Prepaid Pension Asset, but ésfirtieat contribution payments to the plan, wheftect
expected future services, will be $1.0 million 2809.

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees
A. Directors and Senior Management

We are managed by our Board of Directors whichenity consists of eleven members who serve two-gzars and
may be re-elected. The number of directors eleet@th year alternates between six directors andifreetors. Messrs. Pedro
Heilbron, Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo A. Arias, Mdgkwin, Alfredo Arias Loredo and Roberto Artavia we¥ach re-elected for
two-year terms at our annual shareholders’ medtéid in May 2008. At our 2007 annual shareholderséting held on May ¢
2007, Messrs. Stanley Motta, José Castafieda \d&eme Arias, Alberto C. Motta Jr., and Joseph Fidanwere re-elected as
directors until the 2009 annual shareholders’ megetDur charter does not have a mandatory retireaganfor our directors.

The following table sets forth the name, age arsitipm of each member of our Board of Director®fblarch 31,
2009. A brief biographical description of each memaf our Board of Directors follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Officer and Directi 51
Stanley Motte Chairman and Directc 63
Osvaldo Heilbror Director 83
Jaime Arias Director 74
Ricardo Alberto Arias Director 69
Alberto C. Motta, Jr Director 62
Mark Erwin Director 53
Joseph Fidanque | Director 42
Jose Castafieda Vel Director 65
Roberto Artavia Lorie Director 50
Alfredo Arias Loredc Director 62

Mr. Pedro Heilbron . See “00 Executive Officers.”

Mr. Stanley Motta has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®86 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. Since 1990, he has ses/dte President of Motta Internacional, S.A. aerimational importer and
distributor of consumer goods. Mr. Motta is thethes of our director, Alberto C. Motta Jr. He sem the boards of directors
of Motta Internacional, S.A., BG Financial GroupAS ASSA Compafiia de Seguros, S.A., Televisoradtat, S.A.,
Inversiones Bahia, Ltd. and GBM Corporation. Mr.tMas a graduate of Tulane University.
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Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit?86 and a director of Copa Holdings,
since it was established in 1998. Mr. Heilbrorhis tather of Mr. Pedro Heilbron, our chief execetofficer. He serves on the
boards of directors of CIASA, Desarrollo Costa Bete, S.A., Harinas Panama, S.A., Televisora Nati@A. and SSA
Panama Inc.

Mr. Jaime Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit@83 and a director of Copa Holdings, since it
was established in 1998. He is a founding parth&adindo, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias holds a B.Aofn Yale University, a
J.D. from Tulane University and legal studies at thniversity of Paris, Sorbonne. He serves on teds of directors of
Televisora Nacional, S.A., ASSA Compafiia de Segu8ads. , Empresa General de Inversiones, S.A.pRets Delta, S.A., Be
International Bank, Inc., Direct Vision, S.A. antbfed, S.A.

Mr. Ricardo Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®85 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. He is a founding parth&adindo, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias is the formeaamanian ambassadol
the United Nations. Mr. Arias holds a B.A. in imational relations from Georgetown University, dnB. from the University
of Puerto Rico and an LL.M. from Yale Law Schook bkrves on the boards of directors of Banco Gerira and Empresa
General de Inversiones, S.A., which is the holdiagipany that owns Banco General S.A. Mr. Ariadde &sted as a principal
or alternate director of several subsidiary comgsoif Banco General, S.A. and Empresa Generahgediones, S.A.

Mr. Arias is a former Director and President of Benamanian Stock Exchange.

Mr. Alberto Motta, Jr. has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®83 and a director of Copa Holdings,
since it was established in 1998. He is a ViceiBeas of Inversiones Bahia, Ltd. Mr. Motta attendleel University of
Hartwick. He is the brother of Mr. Stanley Mottae Hiso serves on the boards of directors of Matirhacional, S.A., BG
Financial Group, S.A., Inversiones Costa del ESt8,, ASSA Compariia de Seguros, S.A., PetroleomP8IA., Productos
Toledanos, S.A., Financiera Automotriz, S.A., Tederva Nacional, S.A., Hotel Miramar Inter-Contingraind Industrias
Panama Boston, S.A.

Mr. Mark Erwin has been one of the directors of Copa Airlines@opa Holdings since 2004. He is the Senior
President Corporate Development and Alliances oafti@ental Airlines and serves on the Board of Diives of Continental
Micronesia, Inc., the wholly owned western Pacifibsidiary of Continental Airlines, Inc. Mr. Erwireld the position of Seni
Vice President of Airport Services of Continentadlides, Inc. from 1995 through 2002. Mr. Erwinagraduate of Portland
State University.

Mr. Joseph Fidanque IIl has been one of the directors of Copa Airlineses2@06. He is President of Fidanque
Hermanos e Hijos, S.A. and Star Contact, Ltd. Heeseon the boards of directors of Multiholding @amration — Panama,
Fundacién Filantropica Fidanque, Colon Import argdit and Sky Technologies Network. Mr. Fidanquiba B.S. in
Economics from Tufts University.

Mr. Roberto Artavia Loria is one of the independent directors of Copa Holsliite is Chairman of Viva Trust and
Viva Services, President of the Fundacion LatinaiscaéPosible in Panama and Costa Rica, Board Meamvisiting
professor of INCAE Business School, and DirectoMefViva Foundation in Panama. Mr. Artavia Loriaalso an advisor to
the governments of five countries in Latin Ameriaad a strategic advisor to Purdy Motor, S.A.,Pa@ama Canal Authority,
Coyol Free Zone and Business Park, Grupo NaciorFandDESA, among other organizations in the reghdn. Artavia Loria
also serves on the Board of Directors of the WBddources Institute and the Foundation for Manageiaucation in Central
America, both in Washington, Compafiia Cervecerididaragua, OBS Americas in Costa Rica, and IDC e@at@mala.

Mr. José Castafieda Velers one of the independent directors of Copa Holglite is currently director of MMG
Bank Corporation, MMG Fiduciary & Trust Corp., ati@ Instituto de Gobierno Corporativo de PanaméviBusly,
Mr. Castafieda Velez was the chief executive offifdBanco Latinoamericano de Exportaciones, S.BI-ADEX and has hel
managerial and officer level positions at Banco &da Plata, Citibank, N.A., Banco de Credito®efu and Crocker National
Bank. He is a graduate of the University of Lima.

Mr. Alfredo Arias Loredo is one of the independent directors of Copa Holslifite is the former Executive
President of Cerveceria Nacional, S.A. Mr. Ariasddp is a member of the Board of Trustees of ANQ@sbciacion Nacion:
para la Conservacion de la Naturaleza). Mr. Arggeived a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering and an M.8dustrial
Management, both from Georgia Institute of Techgplo
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The following table sets forth the name, age arsitipm of each of our executive officers as of Ma&4, 2009. A
brief biographical description of each of our exa@uofficers follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Office 51
Victor Vial Chief Financial Office 43
Daniel Gunr Senior VicePresident of Operatior 41
Jaime Aguirre Vice-President of Maintenanc 46
Vidalia de Casad Vice-President of Passenger Servi 52
David Lindskoo¢ Vice-President of Flight Operatiol 58
Leo Marchosky Vice-President of Human Resourc 52
Joe Mohar Vice-President of Commercial and Planr 39
Roberto Junguito Pomk Chief Executive Officer of AeroRepublic 39

Mr. Pedro Heilbron has been our Chief Executive Officer for 20 yebis.received an M.B.A. from George
Washington University and a B.A. from Holy Cross.. Meilbron is the son of Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron, amber of our Board «
Directors. Mr. Heilbron is a Member of the BoardG@fvernors of IATA.

Mr. Victor Vial has been our Chief Financial Officer since 2000nf1995 until 2000, Mr. Vial served as our
Director of Planning. Prior to his service at Colgia, Vial was a Senior Financial Analyst for HBOri@ Warner. Mr. Vial
holds a B.B.A. in International Business from GeowWjashington University.

Mr. Daniel Gunn has been our Senior Vice-President of Operatiareedrebruary 2009. Prior to this Mr. Gunn had
served as Vice-President of Commercial and PlanaimbVice-President of Planning and Alliances. iPiagoining Copa in
1999, he spent five years with American Airlinesdireg positions in Finance, Real Estate and AllesmdJr. Gunn received a
B.A. in Business & Economics from Wheaton Collegd an M.B.A. with an emphasis in Finance and Iragomal Business
from the University of Southern California.

Mr. Jaime Aguirre has been our Vice President of Maintenance sin62.2@rior to that, he served as our Directc
Engineering and Quality Assurance. Before joinirgp&, Mr. Aguirre was the Technical Services DireatoAvianca, S.A.
Mr. Aguirre received a B.S. in Mechanical Enginagrfrom Los Andes University, a Master of Enginegnivith an emphasis
on Engineering Management from Javeriana Univeesity a M.B.A. from the University of Louisville.

Ms. Vidalia de Casadohas been our Vice-President of Passenger Seniitas 5995. She joined Copa in 1989 and
served as our Passenger Services Manager fromt@98®5. Prior to joining Copa, she spent sevemsyas Human Resource
and Service Director with Air Panama Internacio®ah. Ms. de Casado received a B.S. in Business tdoiversidad Latina
and an M.B.A. from the University of Louisville.

Captain David Lindskoog has been our Vice-President of Flight OperationsesR008. Captain Lindskoog has
worked in the airline industry since 1981, bothiie operations and in management. Prior to joirdoga he held management
positions at North American Airlines and ATA Airbis. Captain Lindskoog received a B.S. in ProfesdiBilot Technology
from Purdue University.

Dr. Leo Marchosky has been our Vice-President of Human Resources Sialbruary 2008. Before joining Copa, he
was CEO and President of Novartis Mexico and preslioheld top management and regional position thi¢ same company
in Latin America, Asia and Europe. Dr. Marchoskyg laaMaster in Business Administration from the Baalo Business Schc
in Brazil, and is also an MD with a specialty irdmal Medicine.
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Mr. Joe Mohan has been our Viceresident of Commercial and Planning since FebrR@@g. Prior to joining Cop
he was the Senior Vice President of Sales at Araeii@nd Lease and held several senior positio@®atinental Airlines.
Mr. Mohan received a B.A. in Economics from the Wmsity of Florida and a M.B.A. with an emphasissbrategy from
Georgetown University.

Mr. Roberto Junguito Pombo joined our company on November 8, 2005 as the Ghietutive Officer of our
AeroRepublica operating subsidiary. Mr. Junguiteviusly spent two years with Avianca, holding piosis as the Vice
President of Planning, Chief Operating Officer &fdef Restructuring Officer. Avianca declared bamkcy in March 2003.
Mr. Junguito received a B.S. in Industrial Enginegrat the Universidad de Los Andes, an M.A. irefnaitional Studies from
the Joseph H. Lauder Institute of the UniversityPehnsylvania and an M.B.A. with an emphasis carfoe from the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania.

The business address for all of our senior manageisie/o Copa Airlines, Avenida Principal y Aveaide la
Rotonda, Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejorigass Park, Torre Norte, Parque Lefevre Panama atyama.

B. Compensation

In 2008, we paid an aggregate of approximately $#lon in cash compensation to our executiveasfs. Although
in 2006 we set aside $3.0 million for payment toisemanagement related to covenants not to convpigtieus in the future,
we have not set aside any other funds for futuyengats to executive officers.

Members of our Board of Directors that are notaaifs of either Copa or Continental receive $25@80year plus
expenses incurred to attend our Board of Direatoestings. In addition, members of committees ofBbard of Directors
receive $1,000 per committee meeting, with theroham of the audit committee receiving $2,000 peeting of the audit
committee. All of the members of our Board of Dimrs and their spouses receive benefits to trav&lapa flights as well.

Incentive Compensation Program

In 2005, the Compensation Committee of our BoarDicdctors eliminated the then existing Long Teretdtion
Plan and approved a one time non vested stock rmar] program for certain executive officers (ftock Incentive Plan”).
Non vested stock delivered under the Stock Incerfélan may be sourced from treasury stock, or aiagwbur-issued shares.
In March 20086, in accordance with this program,@wenpensation Committee of our Board of Directoented 935,650
restricted stock awards. Senior management wergegta®47,625 non vested stock awards, which vestfoxe years in yearly
installments equal to 15% of the awarded stockamh @f the first three anniversaries of the gratéd25% on the fourth
anniversary and 30% on the fifth anniversary. Managofficers and key employees, not on our senamagement team, were
granted 88,025 non vested stock awards which velt@second anniversary of the grant date. In Barich 2007 and
February 2008, the Compensation Committee of oardof Directors granted 16,955 and 73,374 shdresmvested stock
awards, respectively, to certain named executifieass, which vest over three years in yearly ilhstents equal to one-third of
the awarded stock on each of the three annivessafithe grant date. Non-vested stock awards wessuared at their fair
value, which is the same amount for which a siryilegstricted share would be issued to third pastythe grant date. The fair
value of these non-vested stocks award was $3838/14 and $21.10 for the 2008, 2007 and 2006 giraedpectively.

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of owarBmf Directors granted, for the first time, 35/65uity stock
options to certain named executive officers, whieht over three years in yearly installments etpahe-third of the awarded
stock on each of the three anniversaries of thetglae. The exercise price of the options is $53ahich is the market price
the Company’s stock at the grant date. The stotkmphave a contractual term of 10 years.
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The weighted-average fair value of the stock ogtianthe grant date was $22.33, and was estimated the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model assuming an expeciadahd yield of 0.58%, expected volatility of appimately 37.8% based
on historical volatility, weighted average riskdrmterest rate of 4.59%, and an expected termyeffs calculated under the
simplified method.

The Compensation Committee plans to make additiegaity based awards under the plan from timente ti
including additional non vested stock and stockampawards. While the Compensation Committee wiihin discretion to var
the exact terms of future awards, we anticipateftitare employee non vested stock and stock ogtwards granted pursuant
to the plan will generally vest over a three yeanigr and the stock options will carry a ten yeant

The total compensation cost recognized for nonegestocks and options awards was $5.7 and $4.Bmifi 2008
and 2007, respectively, and was recorded as a coempof “Salaries and benefits” within OperatingpErse.

During first quarter of 2009 the Compensation Cotteniof our Board of Directors approved one newlsto
compensation plans. Awards were granted under theseplans for 124,052 shares of non-vested staekds, which will vest
over three years. We estimate the fair value afagtevards to be approximately $2.7 million and2®@9 compensation cost"
these plans to be $0.9 million.

C. Board Practices

Our Board of Directors currently meets quarterlgddfionally, informal meetings with Continental dreld on an
ongoing basis, and are supported by quarterly fomegtings of an “Alliance Steering Committee,” wiidirects and reports
on the progress of the Copa and Continental Alea@ur Board of Directors is focused on providing overall strategic
direction and as a result is responsible for eistainlg our general business policies and for agpw@rour executive officers al
supervising their management.

Currently, our Board of Directors is comprised l#ven members. The number of directors elected gaah
alternates between six directors and five directdesssrs. Pedro Heilbron, Osvaldo Heilbron, Alfrégltas Loredo, Ricardo
Arias, Mark Erwin, and Roberto Artavia were eactekected to two-year terms at our annual sharehgldeeeting held in
May 2008. Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime Arias, Alib€. Motta Jr., Joseph Fidanque and José Castaimdae-elected to
two-year terms at our annual shareholders’ medtéid in May 2007. Our charter does not have a mangaetirement age for
our directors.

Pursuant to contractual arrangements with us aA&£&) Continental is entitled to designate one af divectors.
Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee. The primary function of the Audit Committee is st the Board of Directors in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities by reviewing:

» the integrity of financial reports and other fiwéal information made available to the public oy a
regulator or governmental boc

» the effectiveness of our internal financial cohtind risk management systems; the effectiveniessro
internal audit function, the independent audit psscincluding the appointment, retention, compémsat
and supervision of the independent auditor;

» the compliance with laws and regulations, as aglthe policies and ethical codes established by
management and the Board of Directi

The Audit Committee is also responsible for impletireg procedures for receiving, retaining and assirey

complaints regarding accounting, internal contral auditing matters, including the submission offitential, anonymous
complaints from employees regarding questionabtewating or auditing matters.
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Messrs. Jose Castafieda, Roberto Artavia and Alffeids, all independent non-executive directorsarrtte
applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange,the current members of the committee, which &reld by Mr. Jose
Castarnieda. All members are financially literate Blessrs. Jose Castafieda and Roberto Artavia havedstermined to be
financial experts by the Board of Directors.

Compensation Committee Our Compensation Committee is responsible for éhecsion process of the Chief
Executive Officer and the evaluation of all exeeetofficers (including the CEQ), recommending tireel of compensation ai
any associated bonus. The charter of our Compens@bmmittee requires that all its members shalidreexecutive director:
of which at least one member will be an independé@ettor under the applicable rules of the Newky8tock Exchange.
Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime Arias and José Caddiadire the members of our Compensation CommitteelMa. Stanley
Motta is the Chairman of the Compensation Committee

Nominating and Corporate Governance CommitteeOur Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee i
responsible for developing and recommending catfar selecting new directors, overseeing evalaatif the Board of
Directors, its members and committees of the Bo&flirectors and handling other matters that aecjgally delegated to the
compensation committee by the Board of Directassftime to time. Our charter documents require tthate be at least one
independent member of the Nominating and Corpdeatecrnance Committee until the first shareholderséting to elect
directors after such time as the Class A shareeratitted to full voting rights. Messrs. Ricardoids, Osvaldo Heilbron and
Roberto Artavia are the members of our Nominating @orporate Governance Committee, and Mr. Ricaui#ms is the
Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Govern&mamittee.

Independent Directors Committee.Our Independent Directors Committee is createduryAaticles of Incorporatio
and consists of any directors that the Board oé@ors determines from time to time meet the inddpace requirements of 1
NYSE rules applicable to audit committee memberf®dign private issuers. Our Articles of Incorpiava provide that ther
will be three independent directors at all timesjsct to certain exceptions. Under our Articlednaforporation, the
Independent Directors Committee must approve:

* any transactions in excess of $5 million betweeangsour controlling shareholde

» the designation of certain primary share issusiticat will not be included in the calculation bét
percentage ownership pertaining to the Class BesHar purposes of determining whether the Class A
shares should be converted to voting shares undekrticles of Incorporation, an

» theissuance of additional Class B shares ors@ashares to ensure Copa Airline’s compliance with
aviation laws and regulatior

The Independent Directors Committee shall also lzayeother powers expressly delegated by the Bofbdrectors
Under the Articles of Incorporation, these poweas only be changed by the Board of Directors aciisig whole upon the
written recommendation of the Independent Direcommittee. The Independent Directors Committeé anily meet
regularly until the first shareholders’ meetingndtich the Class A shareholders will be entitleddte for the election of
directors and afterwards at any time that Clasha@es are outstanding. All decisions of the InddpahDirectors Committee
shall be made by a majority of the members of tirernittee. See “Iltem 10B. Memorandum and Articless$ociation—
Description of Capital Stock.”

D. Employees

We believe that our growth potential and the adtieent of our results-oriented corporate goals meettly linked to
our ability to attract, motivate and maintain thesbprofessionals available in the airline busineserder to help retain our
employees, we encourage open communication chabeeigen our employees and management. Our CEG mpe&tterly
with all of our Copa employees in Panama in towlh$tgtle meetings during which he explains the camygs performance and
encourages feedback from attendees. A similar ptatien is made by our senior executives at eacuoforeign stations. Our
compensation strategy reinforces our determindatiartain talented and highly motivated employeaes$ia designed to align
the interests of our employees with our sharehslt@ough profit-sharing.
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Approximately 75% of Copa’s employees are locateBanama, while the remaining 24% are distributedray our
foreign stations. Copa’s employees can be categmas follows:

December 31

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Pilots 224 23t 29¢ 37t 492
Flight attendant 372 44¢ 514 57t 71¢
Mechanics 18¢ 20C 15¢ 21z 247
Customer service agents, reservation agents, rachp a

other 1,47(C 1,62¢ 1,861 1,89¢ 2,27(
Management and cleric 49¢ 587 67E 742 807
Total employee 2,754 3,09¢ 3,50¢4 3,80z 4,53¢

Our profit-sharing program at Copa reflects ourdfghat our employees will remain dedicated to suecess if they
have a stake in that success. We identify key padace drivers within each employse&ontrol as part of our annual objecti
plan, or “Path to Success.” Typically, we pay bawim February based on our performance duringrdeeding calendar year.
For members of management, 75% of the bonus anmbased on our performance as a whole and 25%siscbon the
achievement of individual goals. Bonuses for nomagement employees are based on the company’siparioe, and is
typically a multiple of the employee’s weekly sglalFor 2008, the non-management employees receipéd six weeks’
salary, depending on their position. The bonus paymare approved by our compensation committeety@ieally make
accruals each month for the expected annual bosies are reconciled to actual payments at thispetsal in the first
quarter.

We provide training for all of our employees indhugltechnical training for our pilots, dispatchdight attendants
and other technical staff. In addition, we provideurrent customer service training to frontlingffstas well as leadership
training for managers. In 2005, we leased a LeviiigBt simulator for Boeing 73 MNext Generation training that served 80%
our initial training, transition and upgrade traigiand 100% of our recurrent training needs reajatinthat aircraft. During 20C
we upgraded this simulator to provide 100% of miifidl training. In 2008, we leased a similar fligtimulator for Embraer 190
training that serves for all of our initial and veent training needs.

We generally maintain good relations with our unéo non-union employees and have not experienogk w
stoppages during the past twenty years. Approxim&t2 of Copa’s employees are unionized. Therecareently five unions
covering our Copa employees in Panama: the pilotgin (SIPAC); the flight attendants’ union (SIPABA the mechanics’
union (SINTECMAP); the traffic agents union (UGETRA); and a generalized union, SIELAS, which repnesground
personnel, messengers, drivers, counter agentsthadnon-executive administrative staff. In Novembf 2007, Copa
negotiated a new collective bargaining agreemetit itd pilot union that will remain in effect forare than four years, with the
next negotiation scheduled for August 2012. Copared into new collective bargaining agreements w# general union and
its flight attendants’ union in July 2008 and A#006, respectively. After extensive negotiatiorsolr did not lead to a
mutually satisfactory resolution, Copa and the naeats’ union entered into a governmaméndated arbitration and a collect
bargaining agreement was agreed to on March 20@6esult of such arbitration proceeding. Previpusk have not had to
resort to arbitration to resolve negotiations vathr unions. In April 2009, we entered into a newesttive bargaining
agreement with the mechanics union. Collective diaigg agreements in Panama typically extend for j@ars. We also have
agreements with our Copa employees in Sdo Paudzjlind Mexico. We have traditionally experienged relations with
our unions, and we generally agree to terms inviitle the economic environment affecting Panama,company and the
airline industry generally.

AeroRepublica’s pilots and flight attendants aggresented by two separate unions. The pilots’ yisociacion
Colombiana de Aviadores CivilACDAC), represents AeroRepublica’s 160 pilots apebilots. The flight attendants’ union,
Asociacion Colombiana de Auxiliares de VU(ACAV), represents all of AeroRepublica’s 208 fligittendants.
AeroRepublica’s entered into a new collective barigg agreement with ACDAC on March 3, 2008 and b effect until
December 31, 2010. Typically, collective bargainamgeements in Colombia are valid for a periodaaf to four years.
AeroRepublica has traditionally experienced godati@ns with its unions.
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E. Share Ownership

The members of our Board of Directors and our etteewfficers as a group own 0.9% of our Class Arel. See
“ltem 7A. Major Shareholders and Related Party Saations.”

For a description of stock options granted to ooat8l of Directors and our executive officers, see “
Compensation—Incentive Compensation Program”.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transations
A. Major Shareholders
The following table sets forth information relatit@gthe beneficial ownership of our Class A shassf
December 31, 2008 by each person known to us tefiseily own 5% or more of our common shares ahdw directors and

officers as a group. Class A shares are limitethgathares entitled only to vote in certain spediftircumstances. See
“Iltem 10B. Additional Information — Memorandum aAdticles of Association — Description of Capitabo8k.”

Class A Shares
Beneficially Owned
Shares (%) D
CIASA @ — —
Executive officers and directors as a group (28 @es) 282,24¢ 0.€%
Bank of America Corg® 2,872,54 9.4%
Orbis groug® 2,665,80! 8.8%
Others 24,595,84 85.1%
Total 30,416,44 10C%

(1) Based on a total of 30,416,441 Class A sharesandstg.
(2) CIASA owns 100% of the Class B shares of Copa Hgisli representing 29.2% of our total capital st

(3) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEed February 12, 2009, in which Bank of AmericapCand certain related
parties, reported beneficial ownership of 2,872,648ss A Share!

(4) Based on Schedule 13G filed with the SECedi&ebruary 17, 2009, in which Orbis Investment &pgment Limited and
Orbis Asset Management Limited reported benefmiahership of 2,645,230 and 20,570 Class A Shaespectively

Although at the time of our initial public offeririg 2005 Continental held 49% of our capital statkas since
divested its entire interest through a series blipwfferings. In June 2006, Continental redudsdivnership of our total
capital stock from 27.3% to 10.0%. In May 2008, @uwental sold down its remaining shares in the joutlarket.

CIASA currently owns 100% of the Class B share€aopa Holdings, representing all of the voting poafour
capital stock. CIASA is controlled by a group ohBeanian investors representing several promirggnilies in Panama. This
group of investors has historically acted togethex variety of business activities both in Panamd elsewhere in Latin
America, including banking, insurance, real estiiecommunications, international trade and consmand wholesale.
Members of the Motta, Heilbron and Arias familiegldheir affiliates beneficially own approximat&@% of CIASA’s shares.
Our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Pedro Heilbrondaseveral of our directors, including Messrs. Stamotta and Alberto C.
Motta Jr., Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron, Mr. Jaime Ariasgda¥r. Ricardo Alberto Arias as a group hold beniafiownership of
approximately 78% of CIASA'’s shares.

The holders of more than 78% of the issued andandgg stock of CIASA have entered into a shamdws!
agreement providing that the parties to the agreem#l vote all of their shares in CIASA togethas a group on all matters
concerning CIASA’s holdings of Class B shares. Aiddally, the shareholders’ agreement restrictssiers of CIASA shares
to non-Panamanian nationals. Messrs. Stanley MaoitaAlberto C. Motta Jr. together exercise effectiontrol of CIASA.
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The address of CIASA is Corporacion de Inversiohégas, S.A., c/o Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.
Boulevard Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y Adenile la Rotonda, Urbanizacion Costa del Este, GgmpBusiness Park,
Torre Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Panaimaatidress of Continental is Continental Airlinas,, 1600 Smith Street,
Houston, Texas 77002.

B. Related Party Transactions
Supplemental Agreement

Copa Holdings is a party to supplemental agreemé&htCIASA and Continental entered into in connetivith
Continental's May 2008 offering of our shares (t8epplemental Agreement”). The Supplemental Agregrterminates the
shareholders’ agreement that existed prior to @ental’s exit and further amends the amended astdtesl registration rights
agreement between the parties. Pursuant to theeSnpptal Agreement, Continental has the right woagt a member of its
senior management to our Board of Directors duttiregterm of our alliance agreement with Continental

Registration Rights Agreement

Under the amended and restated registration ragresement, as amended by the Supplemental AgreeGI&8A
continues to have the right to make up to two dafeam us with respect to the registration and sateir common stock held
by them. One half of the registration expensesriigclin connection with the first demand registatiequested after the date
hereof, which expenses exclude underwriting distand commissions, will be paid ratably by eactusty holder
participating in such offering in proportion to thember of their shares that are included in tlieriofg, and the balance of su
expenses will be paid by the Copa Holdings for slefmand registrations.

Commercial Agreements with Continental

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gaved by several interrelated agreements between &upa
Continental. Each of the agreements as amenderkataded will expire only upon three years’ writtestice by one of the
airlines to the other, which may not be given beflay 2012. Other events of termination are séhfiorthe descriptions of tt
major alliance-related agreements set forth below.

Alliance AgreementJnder our alliance agreement with Continental, #tlines agree to continue their codesharing
relationship with extensions as they feel are gppate and to work to maintain our antitrust imntyniith the DOT. In order
to support the codesharing relationship, the atkasgreement also contains provisions mandatirgéncied frequent flyer
relationship between the airlines, setting mininewels of quality of service for the airlines armteuraging cooperation in
marketing and other operational initiatives. Coatital and Copa are prohibited by the alliance agee from entering into
commercial agreements with certain classes of ctingpairlines, and the agreement requires bothgsatd include each other,
as practicable, in their commercial relationshifithwther airlines. Other than by expiration asodieed above, the agreement
is also terminable by an airline in cases of, amathgr things, uncured material breaches of theramé agreement by the other
airline, bankruptcy of the other airline, termimattiof the services agreement for breach by the aihlgne, termination of the
frequent flyer participation agreement without eimig into a successor agreement by the other ajrtgrmination by
Continental upon the material unremedied breatchethareholders agreement or the registratiomsriggreement by CIASA
or Copa Holdings, termination by Copa upon the nigtanremedied breach of the shareholders agreeonghe registration
rights agreement by Continental, certain competititivities, certain changes of control of eitbithe parties and certain
significant operational service failures by theesthirline.

Services Agreemerifinder the services agreement, both airlines agrpeovide to each other certain services over
the course of the agreement at the providing aéggriecremental cost, subject to certain limitasoServices covered under the
agreement include consolidating purchasing poweedoipment purchases and insurance coveragenghagnagement
information systems, pooling maintenance prograntsiaventory management, joint training and empéogrchanges, sharing
the benefits of other purchase contracts for gamdisservices, telecommunications and other servidgéner than by expiration
as described above, the agreement is also termibgldn airline in cases of, among other thingsuted material breaches of
the alliance agreement by the other airline, baptieyuof the other airline, termination of the sees agreement for breach by
the other airline, termination of the frequent flparticipation agreement without entering intauacessor agreement by the
other airline, termination by Continental upon thaterial unremedied breach of the shareholderseaget or the registration
rights agreement by CIASA or Copa Holdings, terrtioraby Copa upon the material unremedied breatcheoShareholders
agreement or the registration rights agreementdatiGental, certain changes of control of eithethaf parties and certain
significant operational service failures by theasthirline.
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Frequent Flyer Participation Agreemeidnder the frequent flyer participation agreemerd,participate in
Continental’s OnePass frequent flyer global progesntt on a co-branded basis in Latin America. Custsrim the program
receive credit for flying on segments operated $ywhich can be redeemed for award travel on agint and those of other
partner airlines. The agreement also governs joarketing agreements under the program, settleprenedures between the
airlines and revenue-sharing under bank card &ffrelationships. Further, if the Services Agreetmenerminated or expires,
the compensation structure of the frequent flyegpam will be revised to be comparable to otheComtinentals frequent flye
relationships. We also have the right under theamgent to participate on similar terms in any sssoeprogram operated by
Continental. Other than by expiration as descréigalve, the agreement is also terminable by amaiiti cases of, among other
things, uncured material breaches of the alliagreeament by the other airline, bankruptcy of theeotirline, termination of
the services agreement for breach by the othénajiermination of the frequent flyer participatiagreement without entering
into a successor agreement by the other airlimégioechanges of control of either of the partied aertain significant
operational service failures by the other airline.

Trademark License Agreemebtnder the trademark license agreement, we haveghieto use a logo incorporating
globe design that is similar to the globe desig€ofitinental’s logo. We also have the right to Geatinental’s trade dress,
aircraft livery and certain other Continental mauksler the agreement that allow us to more clogldy our overall product
with our alliance partner. The trademark licenseeament is coterminous with the Alliance Agreenserd can also be
terminated for breach. In most cases, we will hmperiod of five years after termination to ceasade the marks on our
aircraft, with less time provided for signage ariokeo uses of the marks or in cases where the agrgamterminated for a
breach by us.

Agreements with our controlling shareholders and tleir affiliates

Our directors and controlling shareholders haveyrmher commercial interests within Panama anduinout Latin
America. We have commercial relationships with salvef these affiliated parties from which we pussk goods or services,
described below. In each case we believe our tctiosa with these affiliated parties are at armsigth and on terms that we
believe reflect prevailing market rates.

Banco General, S.A.

We have a strong commercial banking relationship Banco General, S. A., a Panamanian bank pgroalthed by
our controlling shareholders. We have obtainedriireg from Banco General under short to medium-témancing
arrangements for part of the commercial loan traraffone of the Company’s Export-Import Bank fdig. We also maintain
general lines of credit and time deposit accouiitis Banco General. Interest payments to Banco Génatialed $0.2 million,
$0.6 million and $1.4 million in 2008, 2007 and BO@espectively, and interest received from Baneadsal amounted to
$0.2 million, $4.5 million, and $1.5 million in 2802007 and 2006, respectively. The outstanding blalance at December 31,
2008, amounted to $1.1 million and $4.8 millior2B08 and 2007, respectively. These amounts anedadlin “Current
maturities of long-term debt” and “Long-term debti our consolidated balance sheet.

ASSA Compafiia de Seguros, S.A.

Panamanian law requires us to maintain our ins@rgoticies through a local insurance company. We ha
contracted with ASSA, an insurance company coretdolly our controlling shareholders, to provide sarigally all of our
insurance. ASSA has, in turn, reinsured almostfahe risks under those policies with insurancaganies around the world.
The net payment to ASSA, after taking into accdbietreinsurance of these risks, is approximate@,®B per year.
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Petréleos Delta, S.A.

During 2005, we entered into a contract with PewsélDelta, S.A. to supply our jet fuel needs. Tieepagreed to
under this contract is based on the two week aeevathe U.S. Gulf Coast Waterborne Mean index fduoal taxes, certain
third-party handling charges and a handling chémdeelta. The contract has a one year term thanaatically renews for one
year periods unless terminated by one of the manhile our controlling shareholders do not holtbatrolling equity interes
in Petréleos Delta, S.A., several of our direcemes also board members of Petréleos Delta, S.AnBais to Petréleos Delta
totaled $185.8 million in 2008, $126.0 million i6@7, and $77.9 million in 2006.

Desarollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A.

During January 2006, we moved into our recentlystarcted new headquarters located six miles awag frocume!
International Airport. We lease five floors consigtof approximately 104,000 square feet of thdéding from Desarollo
Inmobiliario del Este, S.A., an entity controlleg the same group of investors that controls CIAB#der a 10-year lease at a
rate of $0.1 million per month, which we believeb®a market rate. Payments to Desarrollo Inmaholidel Este, S.A. totaled
$2.0 million, $1.9 million, 1.8 million in 2008, BJ and 2006, respectively.

Galindo, Arias & Lopez

Most of our legal work is carried out by the lawnfiGalindo, Arias & Lopez. Messrs. Jaime Arias &icardo
Alberto Arias, partners of Galindo, Arias & Lopexe indirect shareholders of CIASA and serve onBnard of Directors.
Payments to Galindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.3ioml $0.4 million, and $0.3 million in 2008, 20@nd 2006, respectively.

Other Transactions

We also purchase most of the alcohol and someeafttiier beverages served on our aircraft from Maternacional
S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., both of which aretoalted by our controlling shareholders. We do hate any formal contrac
for these purchases, but pay wholesale prices lmsedce lists periodically submitted by those ortprs. We paid
approximately $0.7 million in 2008, $0.6 million 2007 and $0.5 million in 2006 to these entities.

Our telecommunications services have been prowgetkelecarrier. Some of the controlling sharehdde#rCIASA
have a controlling interest in Telecarrier. PayraaatTelecarrier totaled $0.6 million, $0.6 milliand $0.5 million in 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

The advertising agency that we use in Panama, RoQ&lz Publicidad (RDP), is owned by the brothedaw of our
chief executive officer. Gross invoices for all\sees performed through RDP totaled $1.2 millioh,85million and
$1.5 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

We have received services from Call Center Corpmraa call center that operates Copa’s reservatmm sales
services and handles calls from Panama as well m®s$t other countries to which Copa flies. Onewfdirectors, Joseph

Fidanque lll, is one of the owners of this call tsenPayments to Call Center Corporation totale® $4illion, $2.6 million and
$2.4 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Infomation

See “Item 3. Key Informatiofl Selected Financial Data” and “ltem 18. Financiat&ments.”
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Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we areygarvarious legal actions, which we believe a@dantal to the
operation of our business. While legal proceedargsinherently uncertain, we believe that the outeof the proceedings to
which we are currently a party are not likely toed@ material adverse effect on our financial pasjtresults of operations and
cash flows. The Antitrust Administrative Agency (@isién de Libre Competencia y Asuntos del ConsumidoCLICAC),
together with a group of travel agencies, has fdedntitrust lawsuit against Copa, Continental.efican Airlines, Grupo
TACA and Delta Airlines in the Panamanian CommaérTiébunal alleging monopolistic practices in rethgtravel agents’
commissions. The outcome of this lawsuit is stitertain and may take several years. We believérilibe worst scenario the
airlines could be required to pay up to $20 millitmaddition, ACES, a now-defunct Colombian aglifiled an antitrust
lawsuit against Copa, Avianca and SAM, alleging oymiistic practices in relation to their code-shgragreements. The court
of first instance ruled in favor of Copa, but thefehdant has appealed the decision and it is diyreeing reviewed by the
superior court. This case could take several yedos resolved. If Copa, Avianca and/or SAM wenani at fault and in breach
of antitrust legislation, they could be potentidible for up to $11 million.

Dividends and Dividend Policy

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgetttd discretion of our Board of Directors. UndanBmanian law,
we may pay dividends only out of retained earnimgs capital surplus. So long as we do not defawur payments under our
loan agreements, there are no covenants or otsigicteons on our ability to declare and pay divids. Our Articles of
Incorporation provide that all dividends declargdooir Board of Directors will be paid equally withspect to all of the Class
and Class B shares. See “Item 10B. Additional imfmiion —Memorandum and Articles of AssociatioBescription of Capite
Stock—Dividends.”

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend pdlat provides for the payment of approximatel9616f our
annual consolidated net income to shareholdersdagdend to be declared at our annual sharehdldeegting and paid short
thereafter. Our Board of Directors may, in its sticretion and for any reason, amend or discoattha dividend policy. Our
Board of Directors may change the level of dividepdovided for in this dividend policy or entiraliscontinue the payment of
dividends. Future dividends with respect to shafesur common stock, if any, will depend on, amatiger things, our results
of operations, cash requirements, financial coodjtcontractual restrictions, business opportusiifieovisions of applicable
law and other factors that our Board of Directomyrdeem relevant.

On May 7, 2008, our Board of Directors declaredanual dividend of $0.37 per share payable Jun2ds to
shareholders of record as of May 30, 2008 whichesgnted an aggregate dividend payment of $16/miOn May 9, 2007,
our Board of Directors declared an annual divideh#l0.31 per share payable June 15, 2007 to shdexsmf record as of
May 31, 2007 which represented an aggregate didigagment of $13.6 million. On May 11, 2006, ouraBbof Directors
declared an annual dividend of $0.19 per sharehpaylune 15, 2006 to shareholders of record asayf 34, 2006 which
represented an aggregate dividend payment of $#i8rmIn addition, we paid an extraordinary dieitd of $10 million to our
shareholders in December 2004 and another extreosddividend of $10 million in June 2005. Priorithe December 2004
dividend payment, we had not paid a dividend stheeformation of Copa Holdings in 1998.

B. Significant Changes

None.
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing
A. Offer and Listing Details
Our Class A shares have been listed on the New 8tw&k Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “CPAtsi

December 14, 2005. The following table sets fdhthe periods indicated, the high and low prifeshe Class A shares on
the NYSE for the periods indicated.

Low High

2005

Annual @) 21.9¢ 27.4C

2006

Annual 20.31 49.0¢

2007

Annual 30.2¢ 73.3¢
First quartel 46.7( 66.47
Second quarte 50.5¢ 71.0C
Third quartel 38.31 73.3:¢
Fourth quarte 30.2¢ 45.2¢

2008

Annual 18.0C 43.6¢
First quartel 30.0C 41.9i
Second quarte 27.5¢ 43.6¢4
Third quartel 24.6¢ 42.0C
Fourth quarte 18.0C 34.0C

Last Six Months
November 200t 18.0C 27.0C
December 200 21.6( 30.9C
January 200! 25.4¢ 32.0C
February 200! 25.3¢ 33.1(
March 200¢ 20.3¢ 28.9¢
April 2009 27.2( 34.31

@) Period beginning December 14, 2005 through Dece®be2005
B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.
C. Markets

Our Class A shares have been listed on the NYSEruthd symbol “CPA” since December 14, 2005. Oas€IB
shares are not listed on any exchange and areubbtly traded.
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D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.
E. Dilution
Not applicable.
F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.
Item 10. Additional Information
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

Copa Holdings was formed on May 6, 1998 as a catfor(sociedad anénimajuly incorporated under the laws of
Panama with an indefinite duration. The Registimnégistered under Public Document No. 3.989 of Mal998 of the Notary
Number Eight of the Circuit of Panama and recordetie Public Registry Office, Microfilm (Mercargi] Section, Microjacke
344962, Film Roll 59672, Frame 0023.

Objects and Purposes

Copa Holdings is principally engaged in the investivin airlines and aviation-related companies\aures,
although our Articles of Incorporation grant us gext powers to engage in any other lawful businebgther or not related to
any of the specific purposes set forth in the AeBof Incorporation.

Description of Capital Stock

The following is a summary of the material term€opa Holding's capital stock and a brief summatygertain
significant provisions of Copa Holding’s ArticleSlacorporation. This description contains all ma# information
concerning the common stock but does not purpdsetoomplete. For additional information regarditige common stock,
reference is made to the Articles of Incorporatiartopy of which has been filed as an exhibit toregistration statement.

For purposes of this section only, reference tor"aar “the company” shall refer only to Copa Holdgs and
references to “Panamanians” shall refer to thos¢itegs or natural persons that are considered Paaaran nationals under
the Panamanian Aviation Act, as it may be amendéniterpreted.

Common Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 80 milldtrares of common stock without par value, diviskad Class A
shares, Class B shares and Class C shares. Agefriber 31, 2008, we had 31,031,129 Class A shsesaed, 12,778,125
Class B shares issued and outstanding, and no Clakares outstanding. Class A and Class B shakesthe same economic
rights and privileges, including the right to reaedividends, except as described in this section.
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Class A Shares

The holders of the Class A shares are not entitlewte at our shareholders’ meetings, except imeotion with the
following specific matters:

» atransformation of Copa Holdings into another ooage type
* amerger, consolidation or s-off of Copa Holdings

e achange of corporate purpo

e voluntarily delisting Class A shares from the NY¢

»  approving the nomination of Independent Directainated by our board of director's Nominatingl an
Corporate Governance Committee following our nextual general shareholders meeting;

* any amendment to the foregoing special votingigions adversely affecting the rights and privée®f the
Class A share

At least 30 days prior to taking any of the actibisted above, we must give notice to the Classié @lass B shareholders of
our intention to do so. If requested by sharehasldepresenting at least 5% of our outstanding sh#ire Board of Directors
shall call an extraordinary shareholders’ meetmggprove such action. At the extraordinary shddste’ meeting,
shareholders representing a majority of all ofdhtstanding shares must approve a resolution amthgithe proposed action.
For such purpose, every holder of our shares idezhto one vote per share. See “—Shareholderdintge”

The Class A shareholders will acquire full votingfits, entitled to one vote per Class A share bmatters upon
which shareholders are entitled to vote, if infiltere our Class B shares ever represent fewer1B&mof the total number of
shares of our common stock and the IndependentidreCommittee shall have determined that suchtiaddl voting rights ¢
Class A shareholders would not cause a triggenegtereferred to below. In such event, the righthef Class A shareholders
vote on the specific matters described in the glageparagraph will no longer be applicable. Thésltreshold described in
the first sentence of this paragraph will be calted without giving effect to any newly issued &isasold with the approval of
the Independent Directors Committee.

At such time, if any, as the Class A shareholdegaime full voting rights, the Board of Directorsadl call an
extraordinary shareholders’ meeting to be heldiwi@® days following the date as of which the Classhares are entitled to
vote on all matters at our shareholders’ meetiAg$he extraordinary shareholders’ meeting, theaaiders shall vote to elect
all eleven members of the Board of Directors itadéesrecommended by the Nominating and Governaweendttee. The terms
of office of the directors that were serving piioithe extraordinary shareholders’ meeting shathiieate upon the election held
at that meeting.

Class B Shares
Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to avte per share on all matters for which shareholdey®ntitled to
vote. Class B shares will be automatically convkntéo Class A shares upon the registration ofsfiemnof such shares to

holders which are not Panamanian as described halder “—Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stdgk&nversion of
Class B Shares.”
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Class C Shares

Upon the occurrence and during the continuancetiofgering event described below in "—Aviation Rig
Protections,” the Independent Directors Committeeun Board of Directors, or the Board of Directasa whole if applicable,
are authorized to issue Class C shares to the Blastders pro rata in proportion to such ClassRlérs’ ownership of Copa
Holdings. The Class C shares will have no econamiige and will not be transferable, but will possssgch voting rights as the
Independent Directors Committee shall deem necgssansure the effective control of the companylyamanians. The
Class C shares will be redeemable by the compasiycit time as the Independent Directors Commiti¢erohines that such a
triggering event shall no longer be in effect. Tass C shares will not be entitled to any divideadany other economic
rights.

Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stock; Convensiof Class B Share

The Class B shares may only be held by Panamardadsjpon registration of any transfer of a Clash&re to a
holder that does not certify that it is Panamansaich Class B share shall automatically conveotan€lass A share.
Transferees of Class B shares will be requirecktiver to us written certification of their statas a Panamanian as a condition
to registering the transfer to them of Class B eha€lass A shareholders will not be required titled to provide such
certification. If a Class B shareholder intendsetl any Class B shares to a person that has tieedsl a certification as to
Panamanian nationality and immediately after giveffgct to such proposed transfer the outstandiagsB shares would
represent less than 10% of our outstanding stoakuding newly issued shares sold with the appro¥alur Independent
Directors Committee), the selling shareholder nmfstrm the Board of Directors at least ten daysptd such transfer. The
Independent Directors Committee may determinefigsesto register the transfer if the Committee seably concludes, on the
basis of the advice of a reputable external aetizawounsel, that such transfer would be reaslgriddely to cause a
triggering event as described below. After thet fitsareholders’ meeting at which the Class A shadeis are entitled to vote
for the election of our directors, the role of thdependent Directors described in the precedintesee shall be exercised by
the entire Board of Directors acting as a whole.

Also, the Board of Directors may refuse to registéransfer of stock if the transfer violates angvsion of the
Articles of Incorporation.

Tag-along Rights

Our Board of Directors may refuse to register aapdfer of shares in which CIASA proposes to skEEE€B shares
pursuant to a sale at a price per share that é&egréhan the average public trading price peresbathe Class A shares for the
preceding 30 days to an unrelated third partywmatld, after giving effect to such sale, have ilgatrto elect a majority of the
Board of Directors and direct our management aridips, unless the proposed purchaser agrees te,maakpromptly as
possible, a public offer for the purchase of alistanding Class A shares and Class B shares aeagar share equal to the
price per share paid for the shares being soldIBgB&. While our Articles of Incorporation providenited rights to holders of
our Class A shares to sell their shares at the gaime as CIASA in the event that a sale of Clash&es by CIASA results in
the purchaser having the right to elect a majaritgur board, there are other change of contraolsiations in which holders of
our Class A shares would not have the right toigipgte, including the sale of interests by a p#ngt had previously acquired
Class B shares from CIASA, the sale of interestarmther party in conjunction with a sale by CIA$#e sale by CIASA of
control to more than one party, or the sale of diinig interests in CIASA itself.

Aviation Rights Protection:

As described in “Regulation—Panama,” the Panamafiaation Act, including the related decrees angulations,
and the bilateral treaties between Panama and otlertries that allow us to fly to those countrieguire that Panamanians
exercise “effective control” of Copa and maintagighificant ownership” of the airline. The Indepentl Directors Committee
have certain powers under our Articles of Incorfiorato ensure that certain levels of ownership emtrol of Copa Holdings
remain in the hands of Panamanians upon the ocm@ref certain triggering events referred to below.
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In the event that the Class B shareholders représssithan 10% of the total share capital of tragany (excluding
newly issued shares sold with the approval of adependent Directors Committee) and the Indeperidigattors Committee
determines that it is reasonably likely that Copa’€opa Holdings’ legal ability to engage in theaéion business or to
exercise its international route rights will be sked, suspended or materially inhibited in a manvtdch would materially and
adversely affect the company, in each case asui tdssuch non-Panamanian ownership (each a tiilggevent), the
Independent Directors Committee may take eithdyotin of the following actions:

» authorize the issuance of additional Class Beshtr Panamanians at a price determined by th@éndient
Directors to reflect the current market value aftsghares ¢

e authorize the issuance to Class B shareholdetsraumber of Class C shares as the Independerttbise
Committee, or the Board of Directors if applicalleems necessary and with such other terms andticmsd
established by the Independent Directors Commiltaedo not confer economic rights on the Clasb&es

Dividends

The payment of dividends on our shares is subetite discretion of our Board of Directors. UndanBmanian law,
we may pay dividends only out of retained earniugs capital surplus. Our Articles of Incorporatfmovide that all dividends
declared by our Board of Directors will be paid apwith respect to all of the Class A and Classhares. Our Board of
Directors has adopted a dividend policy that presitbr the payment of approximately 10% of our ahiconsolidated net
income to Class A and Class B shareholders. OurdBaiaDirectors may, in its sole discretion and oy reason, amend or
discontinue the dividend policy. Our Board of Dieas may change the level of dividends providedrdhis dividend policy
or entirely discontinue the payment of dividends.

Shareholder Meeting:
Ordinary Meetings

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to hold@inary annual meeting of shareholders withinfitst five
months of each fiscal year. The ordinary annualtmgef shareholders is the corporate body thatteldhe Board of Directors,
approves the annual financial statements of Cogdiftys and approves any other matter that doesagpiire an extraordinary
shareholders’ meeting. Shareholders representitegst 5% of the issued and outstanding commork stotitled to vote may
submit proposals to be included in such ordinagraholders meeting, provided the proposal is subdhit least 45 days prior
to the meeting.

Extraordinary Meetings

Extraordinary meetings may be called by the Bodidiectors when deemed appropriate. Ordinary and
extraordinary meetings must be called by the Bo&ildirectors when requested by shareholders reptieseat least 5% of the
issued shares entitled to vote at such meeting, @atters that have been described in the noties @xtraordinary meeting
may be dealt with at that extraordinary meeting.

Vote required

Resolutions are passed at shareholders meetinte laffirmative vote of a majority of those shaeestled to vote &
such meeting and present or represented at théngeet
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Notice and Location

Notice to convene the ordinary annual meeting traexdinary meeting is given by publication ineas$t one nation
newspaper in Panama and at least one national apesswidely read in New York City not less thanda®s in advance of the
meeting. We intend to publish such official notiges national journal recognized by the NYSE.

Shareholders’ meetings are to be held in Pananya Rdinama unless otherwise specified by the Bdalbdrectors.
Quorum

Generally, a quorum for a shareholders’ meetirgptablished by the presence, in person or by pafxshareholders
representing a simple majority of the issued sheligible to vote on any actions to be considertesliah meeting. If a quorum
is not present at the first meeting and the orignagice for such meeting so provides, the meetiaag be immediately
reconvened on the same day and, upon the meeting tezonvened, shareholders present or represanthd reconvened
meeting are deemed to constitute a quorum regardfake percentage of the shares represented.

Proxy Representation

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that, for kmg as the Class A shares do not have full vatigigts, each holde
by owning our Class A shares, grants a generalypimihe Chairman of our Board of Directors or gieyson designated by our
Chairman to represent them and vote their sharésednbehalf at any shareholders’ meeting, proditheit due notice was
made of such meeting and that no specific proxgkiag or replacing the general proxy has been veckirom such holder
prior to the meeting in accordance with the ingtams provided by the notice.

Listing

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE undesythwol “CPA.” The Class B shares and Class C shailénot
be listed on any exchange unless the Board of irecletermines that it is in the best interegshefcompany to list the Class
shares on the Panama Stock Exchange.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Classaeshis Mellon Investor Services LLC. Until the Bibaf Directors
otherwise provides, the transfer agent for our €Bishares and any Class C shares is Galindo, &riaypez which maintains
the share register for each class in Panama. Eansf Class B shares must be accompanied byificzgion of the transferee
that such transferee is Panamanian.

Other Shareholder Rights

As a general principle, Panamanian law bars thernitgjof a corporation’s shareholders from imposiagolutions
which violate its articles of incorporation or tlav, and grants any shareholder the right to chg#e within 30 days, any
shareholders’ resolution that is illegal or thailates its articles of incorporation or laws, by requesting the annulment of ¢
resolution and/or the injunction thereof pendindi¢ial decision. Minority shareholders representiidpast 5% of all issued
and outstanding shares have the right to reqyindge to call a shareholders’ meeting and to agmoirindependent auditor
(revisor) to examine the corporate accounting bptilesbackground of the company’s incorporatioitoperation.

Shareholders have no pre-emptive rights on theiefnew shares.

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that directawill be elected in staggered two-year terms, Wwinay have the
effect of discouraging certain changes of control.
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Summary of Significant Differences between Sharetiei’'s Rights and Other Corporate Governance Mattersdém
Panamanian Corporation Law and Delaware Corporatidaw

Copa Holdings is a Panamanian corporatisadiedad anénima The Panamanian corporation law was originally
modeled after the Delaware General Corporation l&swsuch, many of the provisions applicable to Rear@ian and Delaware
corporations are substantially similar, includidy & director’s fiduciary duties of care and loyati the corporation, (2) a lack
of limits on the number of terms a person may servéhe board of directors, (3) provisions allowstareholders to vote by
proxy and (4) cumulative voting if provided fortime articles of incorporation. The following tathligihlights the most
significant provisions that materially differ betarePanamanian corporation law and Delaware corparkw.

Panama Delaware

Directors

Conflict of Interest Transactionslransactions involving a  Conflict of Interest TransactionsTransactions involving a
Panamanian corporation and an interested directofficer ~ Delaware corporation and an interested directdhaitf
are initially subject to the approval of the boafdlirectors.  corporation are generally permitted

At the next shareholders’ meeting, shareholderstiagin (1) the material facts as to the interested dirtelationship
have the right to disapprove the board of direcesision  or interest are disclosed and a majority of disegted directors
and to decide to take legal actions against thecttirs or approve the transaction;

officers who voted in favor of the transaction.
(2) the material facts are disclosed as to theeasted director’s
relationship or interest and the stockholders appthe
transaction; o

(3) the transaction is fair to the corporationhat time it is
authorized by the board of directors, a committieth® board c
directors or the stockholdel

Terms. Panamanian law does not set limits on the leafjith Terms. The Delaware General Corporation Law generally

the terms that a director may serve. Staggeredstarm provides for a one-year term for directors. Howetles

allowed but not required. directorships may be divided into up to three @assith up to
three-year terms, with the years for each clasgieggn
different years, if permitted by the articles ofanporation, an
initial by-law or a b-law adopted by the shareholde

Number. The board of directors must consist of a minimumNumber. The board of directors must consist of a minimafm
of three members, which could be natural persoresga one member.
entities.

Authority to take Action. In general, a simple majority of t Authority to take Action. The articles of incorporation or by-
board of directors is necessary and sufficienake tany laws can establish certain actions that requiratipgoval of
action on behalf of the board of directc more than a majority of directol
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Shareholder Meetings and Voting Rights

Quorum. The quorum for shareholder meetings must be seQuorum. For stock corporations, the articles of incorpioraor

by the articles of incorporation or the by-lawsthé articles
of incorporation and the notice for a given meetng
provide, if quorum is not met a new meeting can be
immediately called and quorum shall consist of ¢hpsesent
at such new meetini

bylaws may specify the number to constitute a gomolput in nc
event shall a quorum consist of less than one-tifichares
entitled to vote at a meeting. In the absence offisu
specifications, a majority of shares entitled ttevshall
constitute a quorun

Action by Written Consel. Panamanian law does not permitAction by Written Consel. Unless otherwise provided in the

shareholder action without formally calling a megti

articles of incorporation, any action required errpitted to be
taken at any annual meeting or special meetingookbolders
of a corporation may be taken without a meetingheuit prior
notice and without a vote, if a consent or consanteriting,
setting forth the action to be so taken, is sigmgthe holders ¢
outstanding shares having not less than the minimumber of
votes that would be necessary to authorize ordakh action ¢
a meeting at which all shares entitled to votegberwere
present and note

Other Shareholder Rights

Shareholder ProposalsShareholders representing 5% of th&hareholder ProposalsDelaware law does not specifically

issued and outstanding capital of the corporatmretthe
right to require a judge to call a general sharedéws
meeting and to propose the matters for vote.

grant shareholders the right to bring businessrbeda annual
or special meeting. If a Delaware corporation igjsct to the
SEC's proxy rules, a shareholder who owns at 82£00 in
market value, or 1% of the corporation’s securigattled to
vote, may propose a matter for a vote at an aroruspecial
meeting in accordance with those ru

Appraisal Right:. Shareholders of Panamanian corporation Appraisal Rights. Delaware law affords shareholders in certain

do not have the right to demand payment in casheof
judicially determined fair value of their sharesconnectior
with a merger or consolidation involving the corgtion.
Nevertheless, in a merger, the majority of shamdrsl coulc
approve the total or partial distribution of caisistead of
shares, of the surviving entity.

Shareholder Derivative ActiondAny shareholder, with the
consent of the majority of the shareholders, cansubehalf
of the corporation, the directors of the corporafior a
breach of their duties of care and loyalty to tbeporation or
a violation of the law, the articles of incorpocatior the by-
laws.

cases the right to demand payment in cash of tieigly-
determined fair value of their shares in connectiith a
merger or consolidation involving their corporatiétowever,
no appraisal rights are available if, among othargs and
subject to certain exceptions, such shares weesllsn a
national securities exchange or designated natioasgket
system or such shares were held of record by rhare 2,000
holders.

Shareholder Derivative ActionsSubject to certain requireme
that a shareholder make prior demand on the bdatulextors
or have an excuse not to make such demand, a sidgeimay
bring a derivative action on behalf of the corpimato enforce
the rights of the corporation against officersediors and third
parties. An individual may also commence a claggmasuit on
behalf of himself and other similarkituated stockholders if tt
requirements for maintaining a class action underelaware
General Corporation Law have been met. Subjeafjtitable
principles, a thregear period of limitations generally applies
such shareholder suits against officers and direc
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Inspection of Corporate Recor. Shareholders representing Inspection of Corporate Recor. A shareholder may inspect or

at least 5% of the issued and outstanding sharée of
corporation have the right to require a judge tpaapt an
independent auditor to examine the corporate adoayn
books, the background of the company’s incorponatioits
operation.

obtain copies of a corporation’s shareholder it &s other
books and records for any purpose reasonably cetate
person’s interest as a shareholder.

Anti-takeover Provisions

Panamanian corporations may include in their asicf
incorporation or by-laws classified board and supajority
provisions.

Panamanian corporation law’s anti-takeover prowisiapply
only to companies that are(1) registered with the&/Gor a
period of six months before the public offering, f@ve over
3,000 shareholders, and(3) have a permanent daffice
Panama with full time employees and investmenthén
country for more than $1,000,000.

These provisions are triggered when a buyer maleskc
offer to acquire 5% or more of any class of sharéis a
market value of at least $5,000,000. In sum, theebmust
deliver to the corporation a complete and accusttement
that includes(1) the name of the company, the nurobine
shares that the buyer intends to acquire and trehpse
price;(2) the identity and background of the peraoquiring
the shares;(3) the source and amount of the fundther
goods that will be used to pay the purchase pdgdéhe plan:
or project the buyer has once it has acquired ¢tinéral of the
company;(5) the number of shares of the compartythlea
buyer already has or is a beneficiary of and tluvgeed by
any of its directors, officers, subsidiaries, ortpars or the
same, and any transactions made regarding thessinaitee
last 60 days;(6) contracts, agreements, businéssore or
negotiations regarding securities issued by thepamy in
which the buyer is a party;(7) contract, agreemednisiness
relations or negotiations between the buyer anddinegtor,
officer or beneficiary of the securities; and(8y ather
significant information. This declaration will be@mpaniet
by, among other things, a copy of the buyer’s faiah
statements

Delaware corporations may have a classified bcander-
majority voting and shareholders’ rights plan.

Unless Delaware corporations specifically eleceotlise,
Delaware corporations may not enter into a “busines
combination,” including mergers, sales and leasessets,
issuances of securities and similar transactioith, an
“interested stockholder,” or one that beneficialyns 15% or
more of a corporation’s voting stock, within thsesars of such
person becoming an interested shareholder ur

(1) the transaction that will cause the personretmoe an
interested shareholder is approved by the boaditettors of
the target prior to the transactions;

(2) after the completion of the transaction in vhibe person
becomes an interested shareholder, the interelstedtwlder
holds at least 85% of the voting stock of the cosion not
including shares owned by persons who are direetodsalso
officers of interested shareholders and shares dwpe
specified employee benefit plans; or

(3) after the person becomes an interested shaehohe
business combination is approved by the boardrettiirs of
the corporation and holders of at least 66.67%efautstandin
voting stock, excluding shares held by the inteest
shareholder.
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If the board of directors believes that the statendees not
contain all required information or that the stageins
inaccurate, the board of directors must send titersient to
the CNV within 45 days from the buyer’s initial de&ry of
the statement to the CNV. The CNV may then holdlalip
hearing to determine if the information is accuiatel
complete and if the buyer has complied with thaleg
requirements. The CNV may also start an inquirg thie
case, having the power to decide whether or nottiee may
be made

Regardless of the above, the board of directorsHeas
authority to submit the offer to the consideratidrthe
shareholders. The board should only convene alsblaers’
meeting when it deems the statement delivered dyptteror
to be complete and accurate. If convened, the Bblters’
meeting should take place within the next 30 dAyshe
shareholders’ meeting, two-thirds of the holderthefissued
and outstanding shares of each class of sharée of t
corporation with a right to vote must approve tfferoand
the offer is to be executed within 60 days from the
shareholders’ approval. If the board decides nobtovene
the shareholders’ meeting within 15 days following
receipt of a complete and accurate statement fnenofferor
shares may then be purchased. In all cases, tbhgse of
shares can take place only if it is not prohibibgcan
administrative or judicial order or injunctio

The law also establishes some actions or recoofgbs
sellers against the buyer in cases the offer isenmrad
contravention of the lav

Previously Acquired Rights

In no event can the vote of the majority sharehsldeprive No comparable provisions exist under Delaware
the shareholders of a corporation of previouslyuaeql

rights. Panamanian jurisprudence and doctrine siabkshe:

that the majority shareholders cannot amend theestof

incorporation and deprive minority shareholders of

previously-acquired rights nor impose upon them an

agreement that is contrary to those articles dfriparation.

Once a share is issued, the shareholders becoitieceta
the rights established in the articles of incorgioraand such
rights cannot be taken away, diminished nor existoed
without the express consent of the shareholdeideshto
such rights. If by amending the articles of incagtimn, the
rights granted to a class of shareholders is someiditered
or modified to their disadvantage, those sharehsldsl
need to approve the amendment unanimol
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C. Material Contracts
Commercial Agreements with Continental Airlines

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gawed by several interrelated agreements. We havadsdeand
restated each of these agreements and extendedttrargh 2015 in connection with our initial pubtitfering in
December 2005.

Alliance Agreement between Continental and Copbngs. Under the alliance agreement, both airlines agree t
continue their codesharing relationship with exiens as they feel are appropriate and to work tmta our antitrust
immunity with the DOT. In order to support the cellaring relationship, the alliance agreement atstiains provisions
mandating a continued frequent flyer relationstepaeen the airlines, setting minimum levels of gualf service for the
airlines and encouraging cooperation in marketimd @her operational initiatives.

Services Agreement between Continental and CopiadsrUnder the services agreement, both airlines agree t
provide to each other certain services over theseoaf the agreement at the providing carrier’santental cost, subject to
certain limitations. Services covered under theagrent include consolidating purchasing power fpiigment purchases and
insurance coverage, sharing management informayistems, pooling maintenance programs and inventanjagement, joint
training and employee exchanges, sharing the berwdfother purchase contracts for goods and sesytelecommunications
and other services.

Frequent Flyer Participation Agreement between @rital and Copa AirlinedJnder the frequent flyer
participation agreement, we participate in Contiabs OnePass frequent flyer global program and en-branded basis in
Latin America. Customers in the program receivaitifer flying on segments operated by us, which ba redeemed for aw:
travel on flights and those of other partner a@dinThe agreement also governs joint marketingeaggats under the program,
settlement procedures between the airlines andhueveharing under bank card affinity relationships.

Trademark License Agreement between ContinentaCapad AirlinesUnder the trademark license agreement, Copa
has the right to use a logo incorporating a glodsgh that is similar to the globe design of Coetital’s logo. Copa also has
right to use Continental’s trade dress, aircraftry and certain other Continental marks undeatireement that allow us to
more closely align our overall product with ouiiaice partner.

Aircraft General Terms Agreement between The Boeingcompany and Copa Airlines

In 1998, Copa entered into an agreement with theri@pCompany for the purchase of aircraft, instafaof buyer
furnished equipment provided by Copa, customer sugervices and product assurance. In additidghdaircraft supplied,
The Boeing Company will provide maintenance tragrémmd flight training programs, as well as operaiengineering support.
The agreement has been amended several timeslsémgenost recently in February 2008.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Airlines

In 2003, Copa entered into a purchase agreemeintBmitpresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A (Embrierhe
purchase of aircraft, customer support servicest@tthical publications.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amnautica, S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A.

In February 2006, we entered into a purchase agneewith Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.AlfEaar) for
the purchase of aircraft, customer support senaoekstechnical publications.

D. Exchange Controls

There are currently no Panamanian restrictionderexport or import of capital, including foreigrchange controls,
and no restrictions on the payment of dividendmt@rest, nor are there limitations on the rightfoeeign stockholders to hold
or vote stock.
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E. Taxation
United States

The following summary describes the material UnB¢altes federal income tax consequences of thershipeand
disposition of our Class A shares as of the datedieThe discussion set forth below is applicablenited States Holders (as
defined below) that beneficially own our Class Asds as capital assets for United States federairia tax purposes
(generally, property held for investment). This saany does not represent a detailed descriptioheofJnited States federal
income tax consequences applicable to you if yewsabject to special treatment under the UniteteStaderal income tax
laws, including if you are:

e abank;

e adealer in securities or currenci
e afinancial institution

e aregulated investment compal
e areal estate investment tru

e aninsurance compan

e ata»-exempt organizatior

« aperson holding our Class A shares as parheflging, integrated or conversion transaction,restractive sale
or a straddle

» atrader in securities that has elected the -to-market method of accounting for your securit
* aperson liable for alternative minimum t;

* aperson who owns 10% or more of our voting st

» apartnership or other pi-through entity for United States federal incomeparposes; o

» aperson whos“functional currenc” is not the United States doll:

The discussion below is based upon the provisibtiseolnternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended'@bde”),
and regulations, rulings and judicial decisionge¢ieder as of the date hereof, and such authonitigsbe replaced, revoked or
modified so as to result in United States fedarabime tax consequences different from those disdusslow.

If you are considering the purchase, ownership oridposition of our Class A shares, you should congwlour
own tax advisors concerning the United States fedarincome tax consequences to you in light of yogarticular
situation as well as any consequences arising undiie laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, “United States Holder” means afii@akowner of our Class A shares that is for @ditStates
federal income tax purposes:

. an individual citizen or resident of the Unitedt8&

e acorporation (or other entity treated as a catimn for United States federal income tax purgpsecated or
organized in or under the laws of the United Staday state thereof or the District of Columt

e an estate the income of which is subject to Un8tates federal income taxation regardless of itsc& or
e atrustifit (1) is subject to the primary swasion of a court within the United States and onenore United

States persons have the authority to control &i$tsntial decisions of the trust or (2) has a velattion in effec
under applicable United States Treasury regulatiore treated as a United States per
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Taxation of Dividends

Distributions on the Class A shares (including amsuwvithheld to reflect Panamanian withholding &)eany) will
be taxable as dividends to the extent paid outotarrent or accumulated earnings and profitsledasrmined under United
States federal income tax principles. Such incam@uding withheld taxes) will be includable in yogross income as ordinary
income on the day actually or constructively reediby you. Such dividends will not be eligible fbe dividends received
deduction allowed to corporations.

With respect to non-corporate United States Hold=egain dividends received in taxable years b@gmbefore
January 1, 2011 from a qualified foreign corpomatisay be subject to reduced rates of taxation.réigm corporation general
is treated as a qualified foreign corporation wéhpect to dividends paid by that corporation carehthat are readily tradable
on an established securities market in the UnitateS. United States Treasury Department guidamtieates that our Class A
shares, which are listed on the NYSE, are readilgable on an established securities market itthied States. There can be
no assurance, however, that our Class A sharedevibnsidered readily tradable on an establisbedrisies market in later
years. No-corporate United States Holders that do not meeingmum holding period requirement during whicleyhare not
protected from the risk of loss or that elect &atrthe dividend income as “investment income” pans to Section 163(d)(4) of
the Code will not be eligible for the reduced radétaxation regardless of our status as a qudlifieeign corporation. In
addition, the rate reduction will not apply to dignds if the recipient of a dividend is obligatedrtake related payments with
respect to positions in substantially similar dated property. This disallowance applies evehéfminimum holding period
has been met. You should consult your own tax adsieegarding the application of these rules tary@uticular circumstance

Subject to certain conditions and limitations, Raaaian withholding taxes on dividends may be trtateforeign
taxes eligible for credit against your United Séafederal income tax liability. For purposes ofccidditing the foreign tax credit,
dividends paid on the Class A shares will be tetateincome from sources outside the United Statdswill generally
constitute passive income. Further, in certainucitstances, if you:

* have held Class A shares for less than a spécifiaimum period during which you are not protediean risk
of loss, ot

e are obligated to make payments related to the eldd,

you will not be allowed a foreign tax credit foréign taxes imposed on dividends paid on the Qlasisares, if any.
The rules governing the foreign tax credit are clexpYou are urged to consult your tax advisorardiong the availability of
the foreign tax credit under your particular cir@tances.

To the extent that the amount of any distributimoeds our current and accumulated earnings affidsdiar a
taxable year, as determined under United Statesdbthcome tax principles, the distribution wilist be treated as a tax-free
return of capital, causing a reduction in the ajddasis of the Class A shares (thereby increabgmount of gain, or
decreasing the amount of loss, to be recognizehbyon a subsequent disposition of the Class Aesaand the balance in
excess of adjusted basis will be taxed as captial Igcognized on a sale or exchange (as discheded under “—Taxation of
Capital Gains”). Consequently, such distributiomgxcess of our current and accumulated earningipiriits would generally
not give rise to foreign source income and you wasenerally not be able to use the foreign taxitegtsing from any
Panamanian withholding tax imposed on such dididbs unless such credit can be applied (subjeappdicable limitations)
against United States federal income tax due oerdtiieign source income in the appropriate catefrforeign tax credit
purposes. However, we do not intend to keep easrang profits in accordance with United Statesrf@dacome tax principle
Therefore, you should expect that a distributiol génerally be treated as a dividend (as discuabede).
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Passive Foreign Investment Company

We do not believe that we are a passive foreigastment company (a “PFIC”) for United States fedi@@ome tax
purposes (or that we were one in 2008), and weattpeperate in such a manner so as not to beedptdC. If, however, we
are or become a PFIC, you could be subject to iadadit United States federal income taxes on gaingmized with respect to
the Class A shares and on certain distributionss ph interest charge on certain taxes treatedasgbeen deferred under the
PFIC rules. Further, non-corporate United Statelsiéts will not be eligible for reduced rates ofatimn on any dividends
received from us in taxable years beginning paadanuary 1, 2011, if we are a PFIC in the taxgbse in which such
dividends are paid or the preceding taxable year.

Taxation of Capital Gains

For United States federal income tax purposeswithuecognize taxable gain or loss on any salehexge or
redemption of a Class A share in an amount equaletaifference between the amount realized fotass A share and your
tax basis in the Class A share. Such gain or laég@nerally be capital gain or loss. Capital gaof individuals derived with
respect to capital assets held for more than oaeare eligible for reduced rates of taxation. @bductibility of capital losses
is subject to limitations. Any gain or loss recamgd by you will generally be treated as United &taource gain or loss.

Information reporting and backup withholding

In general, information reporting will apply to ddends in respect of our Class A shares and theepds from the
sale, exchange or redemption of our Class A shihegsare paid to you within the United States (gnckrtain cases, outside 1
United States), unless you are an exempt recipigett as a corporation. A backup withholding tax rmpgly to such payments
if you fail to provide a taxpayer identification miber or certification of other exempt status ok timireport in full dividend and
interest income.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholdiakes will be allowed as a refund or a credit agayosir United
States federal income tax liability provided thquieed information is timely furnished to the Imaf Revenue Service.

Panamanian Taxation

The following is a discussion of the material Paaaran tax considerations to holders of Class Aeshander
Panamanian tax law, and is based upon the taxdadsegulations in force and effect as of the Hateof, which may be
subject to change. This discussion, to the extesthtes matters of Panamanian tax law or legatlasions and subject to the
qualifications herein, represents the opinion ofiri@gi®, Arias & Lopez, our Panamanian counsel.

General principles

Panama’s income tax regime is based on territoriplinciples, which define taxable income onlytlaat revenue
which is generated from a source within the ReputfiPanama, or for services rendered outside wama, but which, by their
nature, are intended to directly benefit the l@mahmercial activities of individuals or corporatsowhich operate within its
territory. Said taxation principles have governee Panamanian fiscal regime for decades, and heare Uppheld through
judicial and administrative precede

Taxation of dividends

Distributions by Panamanian corporations, whethehé form of cash, stock or other property, atgext to a 10%
withholding tax for the portion of the distributidhat is attributable to Panamanian sourced incameégefined pursuant to the
territoriality principles that govern Panamaniax lew. Distributions made by a holding company vbhiorrespond to
dividends paid by its subsidiary for which the dimind tax was paid, are not subject to any furth#thelding under
Panamanian law. Therefore, distributions on thes€ha shares would not be subject to withholdingsato the extent that said
distributions are attributable to dividends recdifiom any of our subsidiaries.
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Taxation of capital gains

As long as the Class A shares are registered hatlCNV and are sold through an organized marketamanian
taxes on capital gains will not apply either to &aanians or other countries’ nationals. As pathefoffering process, we have
registered the Class A shares, with both the Nevk ‘Btock Exchange and the CNV.

Other Panamanian taxes

There are no estate, gift or other taxes imposetidyanamanian government that would affect agnatithe
Class A shares, whether such holder were Panaman&national of another country.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the informational requirementthefU.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whichl$® known as
the Exchange Act. Accordingly, we are requiredi®rieports and other information with the Commussiincluding annual
reports on Form 20-F and reports on Form 6-K. Y@y mspect and copy reports and other informatbopet filed with the
Commission at the Public Reference Room of the Cission at 100 F Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20%4@l copies of the
materials may be obtained there at prescribed.raétespublic may obtain information on the openatid the Commission’s
Public Reference Room by calling the Commissioth@United States at 1-800-SEC-0330. In additiea,Gommission
maintains a website at www.sec.gov, from which gan electronically access the registration staté¢ued its materials.

As a foreign private issuer, we are not subjethéosame disclosure requirements as a domestiaégiStrant under
the Exchange Act. For example, we are not requogepare and issue quarterly reports. Howeveirfuwgsh our shareholde
with annual reports containing financial statementdited by our independent auditors and makeaaito our shareholders
quarterly reports containing unaudited financigbdar the first three quarters of each fiscal y®¥de file such quarterly reports
with the SEC within two months of each quarter of fiscal year, and we file annual reports on F@G¥- within the time
period required by the SEC, which is currentlyrsianths from December 31, the end of our fiscal year

I. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures hout Market Risk

The risks inherent in our business are the potdptaes arising from adverse changes to the pfifeel, interest
rates and the U.S. dollar exchange rate.

Aircraft Fuel. Our results of operations are affected by changése price and availability of aircraft fuel. Tcamage
the price risk, we use crude oil option contraegsp cost collars and swap agreements. Marketsigktimated as a hypotheti
10% increase in the December 31, 2008 cost pesrgafifuel. Based on projected 2009 fuel consumptsoich an increase
would result in an increase to aircraft fuel expeasapproximately $22.3 million in 2009, not tadimto account our derivati
contracts. We have entered into derivative instmitsito manage approximately 27%, 6% and 9% of oticipated fuel needs
for 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. We may enteradditional agreements in the future to reduaatility in our fuel
expenses.
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Interest.Our earnings are affected by changes in interéss$ idue to the impact those changes have on ihteres
expense from variable-rate debt instruments andatipg leases and on interest income generated drorsash and investment
balances. If interest rates average 10% more i8 2@n they did during 2008, our interest expenselavincrease by
approximately $1.3 million and the fair value ofr @ebt would decrease by approximately $2.3 millibmterest rates average
10% less in 2009 than they did in 2008, our inteireome from marketable securities would decrégsapproximately
$1.2 million and the fair value of our debt wouhtiease by approximately $2.4 million. These ammant determined by
considering the impact of the hypothetical interasts on our variablexte debt and marketable securities equivalennbataz

December 31, 2008.

Foreign CurrenciesThe majority of our obligations are denominatedJis. dollars. Since Panama uses the U.S.
dollar as legal tender, the majority of our opergixpenses are also denominated in U.S. dollansfaeign exchange risk is
limited as approximately 41% of our revenues ard.id. dollars. While a significant part of our raves are in foreign
currency, no single currency represented more $8amf our operating revenues in 2008, except ferGblombian Peso which
represented 20%. The Colombian Peso is the furatmmnrency of AeroRepublica, and therefore angnexe exposure is
mitigated by the operating expenses, which we @swmminate in Colombian Peso. Generally, our exjgoguforeign
currencies, besides the Colombian Peso for AeroBligaulis limited to a period of up to two weeksveeen the completion of
sale and the conversion to U.S. dollars. Due tdhamxge controls in Venezuela, however, we experiaddéional delays
converting cash generated from local operationgeinezuela.

2008 Revenues and Expenses Breakdown by Currency

Revenue Expense

Argentinean Pes 6.4% 2.5%
Brazilian Rea 7.1% 4.4%
Chilean Pesi 3.2% 1.5%
Colombian Pes 19.5% 11.7%
Costa Rican Colo 2.7% 1.4%
Mexican Pest 3.2% 1.8%
U.S. Dollar 40.% 69.7%
Venezuelan Boliva 8.8% 3.C%

8.1% 3.%

Other(1)

(1) Dominican Peso, European Euro, Guatemalarnzalyjdamaican Dollar, Honduran Lempira, Haitiarufgie, Uruguayan

Peso, Bolivian Boliviano, Trinidad and Tobago Dol
Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equiy Securities

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquecies
None.
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Seurity Holders and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 15. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedure

Disclosure controls and procedures are designeddore that information required to be disclosethieyCompany i
reports filed or submitted under the Securitiestaxge Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, sumnubaizd reported within tk
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and foride carried out an evaluation under the supemvisicour management,
including our chief executive officer and chiefdincial officer, of the effectiveness of the desigwl operation of our disclost
controls and procedures as of December 31, 20G&€eTdre inherent limitations to the effectivendsany system of disclosure
controls and procedures, including the possibdithuman error and the circumvention or overridiighe controls and
procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclostortrols and procedures can only provide reasorederance of achieving
their control objectives. Based upon our evaluattar chief executive officer and chief financifficer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectiy@dvide reasonable assurance that informationined)to be disclosed by
in the reports that we file or submit under the liatmye Act is recorded, processed, summarized godteel, within the time
periods specified in the applicable rules and foramsl that it is accumulated and communicated tax@nagement, including
our chief executive officer and chief financialioffr, as appropriate to allow timely decisions redgey required disclosure.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Management of the Company is responsible for dstabfy and maintaining effective internal contrgkofinancial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under teeusities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s mdécontrol over
financial reporting is designed to provide reastémalssurance to the Company’s management and Bb&xidectors regarding
the preparation and fair presentation of publidire@hcial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @g¢taisstatements.
Therefore, even those systems determined to betig#ecan provide only reasonable assurance wipee to financial
statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cgtapaiernal control over financial reporting asl@écember 31,
2008. In making this assessment, management usemlitéria set forth by the Committee of Sponsof@rganizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—¢mtded Framework. Based on this assessment, mapagéslieves
that, as of December 31, 2008, the Company’s iateontrol over financial reporting is effectiveseal on those criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal controls oveaficial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has beediteal by Ernst
& Young, the independent registered public accagntirm who also audited the Company’s consolidditeaincial statements.
Ernst & Young'’s attestation report on the effeatigss of the Company’s internal controls over finaneporting is included
herein.

Changes in internal control

No significant changes in our internal controlsroother factors that could significantly affecesie controls
subsequent to the date of the evaluation, includimgcorrective actions with regard to significdeficiencies and material
weaknesses, were made as a result of the evaluation
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We have audited Copa Holdings, S.A. and subsidiafike “Company”) internal control over financigporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on criteria establishg@émnal Control—Integrated Framework issued sy @ommittee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis@toe COSO criteria). The Company’s managemerggpansible for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effeciss of internal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanyingidgement’s Report on Internal Control over FindrRgporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Camys internal control over financial reporting beson our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about wheffleetive internal
control over financial reporting was maintainedilhmaterial respects. Our audit included obtairangunderstanding of inter
control over financial reporting, assessing thk tiimt a material weakness exists, testing ancuatiay the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control basedhe assessed risk, and performing such otheegdures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thatadit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableamssuregarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A companyiternal control over financial reporting inclsdose policies and procedures
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasenatsdurance that transactions are recorded assaecés permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with gengdtcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance withasizditions of management and directors of the cawpand (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetiction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opatstion of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tteméial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @étisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutufe periods are subject to the risk that contrdy become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures metgeriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over final reporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company asadblger 31, 2008 and 2007, and related consoliddééeiments of income,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each efttinee years in the period ended December 31, 20@Bour report dated
May 5, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereo

/sl Ernst and Young

May 5, 2009
Panama City, Republic of Panama
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Item 16. Reserved
Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Joastafieda qualifies as an “audit committee firereoipert” as
defined by current SEC rules and meets the indegrer@drequirements of the SEC and the NYSE listiagdards. For a
discussion of the role of our audit committee, ‘$#mm 6C. Board Practices Audit Committee.”

Iltem 16B. Code of Ethics

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Bgsi@onduct and Ethics applicable to our directuffiers,
employees and consultants. The Code of Businesdueband Ethics can be found at www.copaair.coneutite heading
“Investor Relationg] Corporate Governance.” Information found at thidbsite is not incorporated by reference into this
document.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth by category of seevihe total fees for services performed by ouejr@hdent auditors
Ernst & Young during the fiscal years ended Deceam3fie 2007 and 2008:

2007 2008
Audit Fees $ 823,08! $ 769,86(
Audit-Related Fee O O
Tax Fees 0 0
All Other Fees O O
Total $ 823,08! $ 769,86(

Audit Fees

Audit fees for 2008 and 2007 included the audibwf annual financial statements and internal césitthe review of
our quarterly reports.

Audit-Related Fees

There were no audit-related fees for 2008.
Tax Fees

There were no tax fees.
All Other Fees

There were no other fees for services performeBrgt & Young during the fiscal years ended Decan3lie 2007
and 2008.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee approves all audit, audit-edadervices, tax services and other services prdvig Ernst &
Young. Any services provided by Ernst & Young thet not specifically included within the scopeluf tudit must be pre-
approved by the audit committee in advance of amgagement. Pursuant to Rule 2-01 of Regulation Sudit committees are
permitted to approve certain fees for audit-relaedices, tax services and other services pursaate minimisexception
prior to the completion of an audit engagemenf0@8, none of the fees paid to Ernst & Young wengraved pursuant to the
de minimisexception.
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Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards forAudit Committees
None.

Item 16E. Purchase of Equity Securities by the Is®r and Affiliated Purchasers
None.

Item 16F. Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accounant
Not applicable.

Iltem 16G. Corporate Governance

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE and eawrject to the NYSE corporate governance listtagdards.
The NYSE requires that corporations with shardedi®n the exchange comply with certain corporateegnance standards. .
a foreign private issuer, we are only requiredamply with certain NYSE rules relating to audit cmittees and periodic
certifications to the NYSE. The NYSE also requittest we provide a summary of the significant diéfeces between our
corporate governance practices and those that vequdly to a U.S. domestic issuer. We believe tiieviing to be the
significant differences between our corporate goapce practices and those that would typicallyyapph U.S. domestic isst
under the NYSE corporate governance rules.

In addition, companies that are registered in Panara required to disclose whether or not they dpmyjth certain
corporate governance guidelines and principlesafeatecommended by the National Securities ConomgsComision
Nacional de Valore, or CNV). Statements below referring to Panamagi@arernance standards reflect these voluntary
guidelines set by the CNV rather than legal requéets or standard national practices. Our Cladsafes are registered with
the CNV, and we comply with the CNV’s disclosurgquiements.

NYSE Standards Our Corporate Governance Practice
Director IndependenceMajority of board of Panamanian corporate governance standards reconth@rahe in every
directors must be independent. 8303A.01 five directors should be an independent directbe @riteria for determining

independence under the Panamanian corporate goeerstandards differs
from the NYSE rules. In Panama, a director woulddresidered
independent as long as the director does not tirecindirectly own 5% or
more of the issued and outstanding voting sharéseofompany, is not
involved in the daily management of the companyiambt a spouse or
related to the second degree by blood or marriagiest persons named
above.

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to haveethindependent directors
as defined under the NYSE ruls
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NYSE Standards Our Corporate Governance Practice

Executive Sessioni™Non-management directors There are no mandatory requirements under Panamkamweathat a company
must meet regularly in executive sessions should hold, and we currently do not hold, suchcakee sessions.

without management. Independent directors

should meet alone in an executive session at

least once a year. 8303A.

Nominating/corporate governance committe ~ Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthanédgistered
Nominating/corporate governance committer companies have a hominating committee composeduteé tmembers of the
independent directors is required. The comm board of directors, at least one of which shouldbéndependent director,
must have a charter specifying the purpose, plus the chief executive officer and the chief final officer. In Panama, t
duties and evaluation procedures of the majority of public corporations do not have a noating or corporate
committee. 8303A.04 governance committee. Our Articles of Incorporatiequire that we
maintain a Nominating and Corporate Governance Cittieenwith at least
one independent director until the first shareh@deeeting to elect
directors after such time as the Class A sharesraited to full voting

rights.
Compensation committe€ompensation Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthwaritie
committee of independent directors is required,compensation of executives and directors be overisg¢he nominating
which must approve executive officer committee but do not otherwise address the need dompensation

compensation. The committee must have a  committee.
charter specifying the purpose, duties and
evaluation procedures of the committee.

8303A.0%
While we maintain a compensation committee thatatps under a charter
as described by the NYSE governance standardgntlyrione of the
members of that committee is independ

Equity compensation plan<Equity Under Panamanian law, shareholder approval isatptired for equity

compensation plans require shareholder compensation plans.

approval, subject to limited exemptiol

Code of EthicsCorporate governance Panamanian corporate governance standards doquitar¢he adoption of
guidelines and a code of business conduct specific guidelines as contemplated by the NYSREdaeds, although they
ethics is required, with disclosure of any waiverrequire that companies disclose differences betlesinpractices and a list
for directors or executive officers. 8303A of specified practices recommended by the C

We have not adopted a set of corporate governanidelmes as
contemplated by the NYSE, although we will be reggiito comply with the
disclosure requirement of the CN

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthatndgistered
companies adopt a code of ethics covering suclesas its ethical and
moral principles, how to address conflicts of ietdr the appropriate use of
resources, obligations to inform of acts of corimptand mechanism to
enforce the compliance with established rules oficat.
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PART 1lI

Iltem 17. Financial Statements

See “ltem 18. Financial Statements.”

Item 18. Financial Statements

See our consolidated financial statements beginmmnBage F-1.

Iltem 19. Exhibits
1.1%*

2.1

2.2

10.7%*t

10.2*t

10.2*f

10.4*t

10.2*t

10.e*t

10.7%*t

10.8*t

10.¢*t

10.10*t

10.17*t

English translation of the Articles of IncorporatipPacto Socia) of the Registrar

Supplemental Agreement, dated May 13, 2008, amapg Eloldings, S.A., Corporacion de Inversiones
Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Airlines, Inc. (Inamgted by reference to our Registration Statement o
Form F-3ASR filed on May 13, 200¢

Form of Amended and Restated Registration Righteé&ment among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacic
Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Airlinies,

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 2818etween First Security Bank and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeingl®ll@3'-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgmircraft Lease Agreement, dated October 1,
1998, between First Security Bank and CompafiarRafia de Aviacidn, S.A., in respect of One Boeing
Model 73°-71Q Aircraft, Manufactur¢s Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of R1gy2004 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank aneh@diia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 9818etween First Security Bank and Compariia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeingl®ll@3'-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgmircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Octob
1998, between First Security Bank and CompafiiaRafia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model
737-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of RIgy2003 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank aneh@diia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl 288, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8¢700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @otnpafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 199ittoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conf@&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-
700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agrof30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smwilnc. and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion,
Boeing Model 73-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl 288, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8¢700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004
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10.24*t

10.25*t

10.2¢*t

10.27*t

10.28*t

10.2¢*t
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10.37*t

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @otnpafia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 199itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conf@&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-
700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agrof30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smwilnc. and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion,
Boeing Model 73-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novembe2803, between International Lease Finance
Corporation and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, 8&w B73"-700 or 800, Serial No. 306"

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of March 4, 20@4ween International Lease Finance Corporatimh a
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., New [-700 or 800, Serial No. 328(

Aircraft Lease Agreement dated as of December @34 2between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respeBbeing B73-800 Aircraft, Serial No. 2967

Embraer 190LR Purchase Agreement DCT-006/2003 detexd May 2003 between Embraer— Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional Airckdldings Ltd.

Letter Agreement DCT-007/2003 between Embraer—EsgpBrasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase AgremthDCT-006/2003

Letter Agreement DCT-008/2003 between Embraer—EsgpBrasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase AgremthDC1-006/2003

Embraer 190 Purchase Agreement COM 0028-06 datedi&iey 2006 between Embraer—Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Copa Holding4, lating to Embraer 190LR aircr

Letter Agreement COM 0029-06 to the Embraer Agregrdated February 2006 between Embraer—
Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and CopaiHgs, S.A. relating to Embraer 190LR airci

Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated Novemberl®298, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A.

Purchase Agreement Number 2191, dated Novembei9®8, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A., Inc. relating to Boeing Model -7V3 & 737-8V3 Aircraft

Supplemental Agreement No. 1 dated as of June(, & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of Decenthe2@1 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 3 dated as of JuneQD® & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 4 dated as of Decenthe2D2 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated as of Octobe?@®13 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated as of Septef)#004 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated as of Decemt#0® to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,



10.32x*f Supplemental Agreement No. 8 dated as of April2IB5 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢
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Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated as of Marct2Q66 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingod@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated as of May 86 20 the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Maintenance Cost per Hour Engine Service Agreenaiattéd March 5, 2003, between G.E. Engine
Services, Inc. and Copa Holdings, S

English translation of Aviation Fuel Supply Agreemhedated July 18, 2005, between Petroleos Delfa, S
and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, !

Form of Guaranteed Loan Agreem:

Form of Amended and Restated Alliance Agreemenvd&en Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compairiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.

Form of Amended and Restated Services AgreemeweketContinental Airlines, Inc. and Compariia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.

Form of Amended and Restated Frequent Flyer Proarticipation Agreemel

Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. 2005 Stock Incentivart

Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. Restricted Stock AwAgieemen

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Regist’s directors

Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated as of Augus?@06 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingo@nynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on July 2, 2007

Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated as of Feb2&r2007 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingo@nynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on July 2, 2007

Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated as of April22®,7 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@onynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on July 2, 2007

Supplemental Agreement No. 14 dated as of Augus2@17 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@onynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on May 9, 2008

Supplemental Agreement No. 15 dated as of Feb2tBr2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@onynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on May 9, 2008

Supplemental Agreement No. 16 dated as of Jun2(IR to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 17 dated as of Decehe2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Nui
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingo@nynand Copa Holdings, S.
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12.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puesu to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

12.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puest to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

13.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

13.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puiesut to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

21.1x* Subsidiaries of the Registre

*  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibit andorporated by reference from our Registraticaté&hent on Form F-1,
filed June 15, 2006, File No. 3-135031.

**  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibitcaimcorporated by reference from our Registratitateé3nent on Form F-1,
filed November 28, 2005, as amended on Decemi®#005 and December 13, 2005, File No.-129967.

t  The Registrant was granted confidential treatmenpértions of this exhibi
tt The Registrant has requested confidential treatfioemtortions of this exhibit
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SIGNATURES

The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets fathe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdtas duly caused
and authorized the undersigned to sign this amegalrt on its behalf.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By: /s/ Pedro Heilbrol
Name Pedro Heilbror
Title: Chief Executive Office

Dated: May 6, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
COPA HOLDINGS, S. A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Copa Holdings, S.A. and subsidiatiee Company”) as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related cdiasedl statements of income, shareholders’ equity cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended Decembe2@18. Our audits also included the financialestant schedule included in
Item 18.These financial statements and schedulthanesponsibility of the Company’s managementr @sponsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statementseimedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighauBioqUnited States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenadtidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whb#hénancial statemen
are free of material misstatement. An audit inctudeamining, on a test basis, evidence suppoti@gitounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includssessing the accounting principles used andfisigmi estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall fizdustatement presentation. We believe that oditeprovide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagreferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company at December I&and 2007, and the consolidated results of tparations and their ca
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghDecember 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. galigrmccepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related ficéad statement schedule, when considered in relatidhe basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly imaterial respects the information set forth therei

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
Company’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2008, based on criteria estadliin Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiahaur report dated
May 5, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereo

/sl Ernst and Young

May 5, 2009
Panama City, Republic of Panama
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2008 2007
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 220,80¢ $ 285,85¢
Shor-term investment 176,01¢ 22,50(
Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment 396,82t 308,35¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of of $5,002 and $8,157
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respecti 70,60¢ 73,38¢
Accounts receivable from related part 4,592 78C
Expendable parts and supplies, net of allowancelisolescence of of $53 and $35 as
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respecti 18,40¢ 14,08¢
Prepaid expenst 26,69 25,574
Other current asse 5,33¢ 13,54
Total Current Asset 522,46 435,73t
Investments 11,14¢ 17,03¢
Property and Equipment:
Owned property and equipme
Flight equipmen 1,372,35: 1,188,64:
Other 55,29: 50,90¢
1,427,64. 1,239,55I
Less: Accumulated depreciati (174,839 (137,36)
1,252,80! 1,102,18:
Purchase deposits for flight equipm: 84,86’ 64,07¢
Total Property and Equipme 1,337,66! 1,166,26:
Other Assets:
Prepaid pension ass 1,48¢ 1,03¢
Goodwill 21,73: 24,201
Other intangible asse 31,86¢ 35,48¢
Other asset 27,86¢ 27,49¢
Total Other Asset 82,94% 88,21¢
Total Assets $ 1,954,22 $ 1,707,25

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancatkeBtents are an integral part of these statements.

F-3




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2008 2007
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of lor-term debt $ 115,83: $ 110,65¢
Accounts payabl 54,06¢ 57,46¢
Accounts payable to related part 11,51¢( 10,82«
Air traffic liability 182,49( 153,42.
Taxes and interest payat 37,19 36,64+
Accrued expenses payal 40,64: 52,23:
Other current liabilitie 60,34¢ 3,74(
Total Current Liabilities 502,08 424,98
Non-Current Liabilities:
Long-term debt 800,19¢ 732,20¢
Post employment benefits liabili 2,072 1,89/
Other lon¢-term liabilities 8,69 9,77¢
Deferred tax liabilitie: 8,74 6,74
Total Nor-Current Liabilities 819,70¢ 750,62!
Total Liabilities 1,321,79 1,175,61
Shareholders’ Equity:
Class A common stock — 31,031,129 and 30,966,48feshssued, 30,416,441 anc
30,159,719 outstanding in 2008 and 2! 20,76: 20,58¢
Class B common stoc— 12,778,125 shares issued and outstanding, no pae 8,722 8,722
Additional paid in capita 13,48: 8,06¢
Retained earning 594,00 491,59¢
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) Inct (4,536 2,66¢€
Total Shareholde’ Equity 632,43. 531,63
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 1,954,22! $ 1,707,25

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancateBtents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Operating Revenue:
Passenger reven $ 1,217,31 $ 967,06t $ 798,90:
Cargo, mail and othe 71,47¢ 60,19¢ 52,25¢
1,288,78! 1,027,26. 851,16(
Operating Expenses:
Aircraft fuel 404,66 265,38 217,73(
Salaries and benefi 139,43: 116,69: 91,38:
Passenger servicir 98,77 82,94¢ 64,38(
Commission: 67,171 65,93( 57,80¢
Maintenance, material and repe 66,43¢ 51,24¢ 50,057
Reservations and sal 54,99¢ 48,22¢ 38,21:
Aircraft rentals 43,00¢ 38,63¢ 38,16¢
Flight operation: 56,42¢ 43,95¢ 33,74(
Depreciatior 42,89 35,32¢ 24,87
Landing fees and other rent: 32,46 27,01° 23,92¢
Other 58,52 55,09 44,75¢
Special fleet charge — 7,30¢ —
Gain from involuntary conversic — (8,019 —
1,064,79 829,75t 685,03
Operating Income 223,99: 197,50¢ 166,12:
Non-operating Income (Expense):
Interest cost (42,077 (44,339 (29,150
Interest capitalize 1,921 2,57( 1,712
Interest incomt 11,13( 12,19: 7,257
Other, ne’ (58,849 10,98" 18E
(87,867 (18,587) (19,99¢
Income before Income Taxes 136,12¢ 178,92t 146,12!
Provision for Income Taxe 17,46¢ 17,10¢ 12,28¢
Net Income $ 118,65¢ $ 161,82 $ 133,83¢
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 2.7¢ $ 3.77 $ SILE
Diluted $ 2.7: $ 3.72 $ 3.1C

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancitkeBtents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other
(Nor-par value) Issued Capital Paid in Retained Comprehensive
Class A Class B Class A Class B Capital Earnings  Income (Loss) Total
At December 31, 200! 30,034,37 12,778,12 20,50: 8,722 — 217,86: (1,21¢) 245,86
Net Income 133,83¢ 133,83¢
Other comprehensive los
Net change in fair value of derivative
instruments (3,999¢) (3,99¢)
Foreign currency translatic 1,861 1,861
Total comprehensive incon 131,70:
Restricted stock Ple 3,34( 3,34(
Actuarial loss (Adoption of FAS 158), net
of tax of $84 (929) (929)
Dividends declare (8,31]) (8,31])
At December 31, 2006 30,034,37 12,778,12 20,50: 8,722 3,34( 343,39( (4,284 371,66
Issuance of stoc 125,34« 85 (85)
Net Income 161,82( 161,82(
Other comprehensive income (los
Net change in fair value of
derivative instrument 3,99¢ 3,99¢
Foreign currency translatic 2,95¢ 2,95¢
Actuarial loss, net of amortizatic 2 2)
Total comprehensive incon 168,77(
Restricted stock pla 4,80¢ 4,80¢
Other (50) (50)
Dividends declare (13,567) (13,567)
At December 31, 2007 30,159,71 12,778,12 20,58¢ 8,722 8,064 491,59¢ 2,666 531,63
Issuance of stoc 256,72. 17¢ (175)
Net Income 118,65¢ 118,65¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Net change in fair value of
derivative instrument (6,719 (6,719
Exchange effect on intercompany
long term balanc 2,15k 2,15t
Foreign currency translatic (2,507) (2,507)
Actuarial loss, net of amortizatic (141) (141
Total comprehensive incon 111,45¢
Restricted stock pla 5,59:¢ 5,59:¢
Other (47) (47)
Dividends declare (16,207 (16,207
At December 31, 200¢ 30,416,44 12,778,12 $20,76: $ 8,72: $ 13,48. $ 594,000 $ (4,536) $632,43:

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancateBtents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In US$ thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 118,65¢ $ 161,82 $ 133,83¢
Adjustments for
Deferred income taxe 4,64¢ 2,352 (32¢)
Depreciatior 42,89 35,32¢ 24,87
Gain on sale of property, equipment and involuntamyversior — (9,579 (612)
Special fleet charge 19¢ 6,30(C —
Provision for doubtful accoun 3,23( 4,27¢ 3,764
Provision for obsolescence of expendable partsapglies 21 12 12
Derivative instruments mark to marl 53,29( (6,297 4,49¢
Stock compensatic 5,59z 4,80¢ 3,34(
Changes in
Accounts receivabl (4,459 (14,809 (15,319
Accounts receivable from related part (3,177 1,25¢€ (1,667
Other current asse (6,346 (14,149 (8,690
Restricted cas (39,809 (@)} 11C
Other asset 974 (7,83%) (3,417)
Accounts payabl (2,079 7,611 2,69¢
Accounts payable to related part 1,681 1,671 97t
Air traffic liability 32,09( 35,21t 30,65¢
Other liabilities (9,319 13,95: 18,72
Net cash provided by operating activities 198,10! 221,94: 193,46¢
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment (240,40 (500 (32,989
Proceeds from redemption of investme 132,58t 17,49¢ 22,90¢
Advance payments on aircraft purchase conti (53,439 (62,12%) (58,697
Acquisition of property and equipme (162,47 (304,01 (193,33()
Disposal of property and equipme 954 2,35¢ 3,12¢
Insurance proceeds on involuntary conver: — 12,03 —
Net cash flows used in investing activitie (322,780) (334,759 (258,98()
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowir 160,19 329,14 254 ,55¢
Payments on loans and borrowir (84,477 (87,29) (77,246
Redemption of bond — — (27,509
Dividends declared and pe (16,207 (13,567 (8,31))
Net cash flows provided by financing activitie: 59,51¢ 228,29! 141,49¢
Effect of exchange rate change on cash 10€ 50C (212)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (65,050 115,97¢ 75,774
Cash and cash equivalents at Januest 285,85¢ 169,88 94,10¢
Cash and cash equivalents at December : $ 220,80¢ $ 285,85 $ 169,88
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid, net of amount capitaliz $ 40,38 $  40,10¢ $ 26,77¢
Income taxes pai 14,90¢ 16,55 11,28¢
Investing and financing activities not affectinghe
Settlement of debt through insurance proceed oolumyary
conversior — 22,82( —

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of these staterr
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Corporate Information

Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Company”) is a leadiragih American provider of international airline pasger and cargo
services. The Company was incorporated accorditigettaws of the Republic of Panama. The Companysd®.8% of the
shares of Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S. ApdQ@arlines”), 100% of the shares of Oval Finantiahsing, Ltd.
(“OVAL"), and 99.9% of the shares of AeroRepubli&A. (“AeroRepublica”).

Copa Airlines, the Company’s core operation, i®mporated according to the laws of the RepubliPafiama and provides
international air transportation for passengersgg@and mail. Copa Airlines operates from its Paa&ity hub in the Republic
of Panama, from where it offers approximately 1&8ydscheduled flights among 45 destinations irc@dntries in North,
Central and South America and the Caribbean. Aatthfly, Copa Airlines provides passengers with asde flights to more
than 120 other international destinations througgleshare agreements with Continental Airlines, (f@ontinental”) and other
airlines. The Company has a broad commercial aéiamth Continental which includes joint marketicgde-sharing
arrangements, participation in Continental’'s OnsRasjuent flyer loyalty program and access to Dental’s VIP lounge
program, President’s Club, along with other besediich as improved purchasing power in negotiatidgtisservice providers,
aircraft vendors and insurers. In 2007, Copa Aédilbecame an Associate member of the SkyTeam édliabopa Airlines
passengers earn OnePass miles on all flights eokbgt SkyTeam partners as well as are eligibledeem their OnePass miles
for free reward tickets on any of SkyTeam’s 79(hgladestinations.

As of December 31, 2008, Copa Airlines operatdéet bf 42 aircraft with an average age of 4.2 geeonsisting of 27 mode
Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft and 15 Embi®€r aircraft.

OVAL is incorporated according to the laws of thétiBh Virgin Islands, and controls the specialymse vehicles that have a
beneficial interest in 39 aircraft, with a carryimalue of $1.1 billion, all of which are leasedeither Copa Airlines or
AeroRepublica. The aircraft are pledged as colldter the obligation of the special-purpose vedschwhich are all
consolidated by the Company for financial repor{ingposes.

AeroRepublica is a domestic Colombian air carmdrich is incorporated according to the laws of Republic of Colombia ar
provides domestic service to 12 cities in Colomhbid a point-to-point route network as well as mtional service to Panama
City and Venezuela from five (5) different citidseroRepublica operates a fleet of four (4) leasdé280s and nine (9) Embre
190 aircraft as of December 31, 2008.

A substantial portion of the Company’s assets acated in the Republic of Panama, and a signifipesportion of the
Company’s flights operate through its hub at Tocarméernational Airport in Panama City. As a restiie Company depends
on economic and political conditions prevailingrfréime to time in Panama.

As used in these Notes to Consolidated Financ&k8tents, the terms “the Company”, “we”, “us”, “band similar terms
refer to Copa Holdings, S.A. and, unless the cdritelicates otherwise, its consolidated subsidsarie




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements were peedaraccordance with U.S. generally accepted atteayprinciples for
financial reporting using the U.S. Dollar as thparting currency.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprisatteunts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Ham€ial statements of
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reportiriggpas the parent company, using consistent a¢mupolicies. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which contrtraesferred to the Company and cease to be coasatidrom the date on
which control is transferred from the Company. itercompany accounts, transactions and profisrayifrom consolidated
entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial 8tetgs requires management to make estimates amthptésns that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated finarst@ements and accompanying notes. Actual resuliid differ from those
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at badrdds;term time deposits, asset-backed commerciapand securities, U.S.
Government agency securities and U.S. Governmeastiry securities with original maturities of threenths or less when
purchased.

Investments

The Company invests in short-term time depositsetalsacked commercial paper and securities, U.8e@ment agency
securities and U.S. Government treasury secusitigsoriginal maturities of more than three monthg less than one year.
Additionally, the Company invests in long-term tigheposits and U.S. government agency securitigsmatturities greater
than 365 days. These investments are classifisi@sterm and long-term investments respectivalyhe accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. All of these investsnae classified as held-to-maturity securities] are stated at their
amortized cost, since the Company has determirsdtthas the intent and ability to hold the seiiesito maturity. Restricted
cash is classified within short-term and long-ténwestments, and is held as collateral for denesticontracts and letters of
credit.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expendable Parts and Supplies

Expendable parts and supplies for flight equipnaeatcarried at average acquisition cost and arersqal when used in
operations. An allowance for obsolescence is pexviolver the remaining estimated useful life ofrélated aircraft, plus an
allowance for expendable parts currently identifiscexcess to reduce the carrying cost to nezeddd value. These
allowances are based on management estimates, afeicubject to change.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost andegreciated to estimated residual values over #s¢imated useful lives

using the straight-line method. Jet aircraft, jggiaes and aircraft rotables are assumed to haestanated residual value of
15% of original cost; other categories of propeamy equipment are assumed to have no residual. vetheeestimated useful

lives for property and equipment are as follows:

Years
Jet aircraft 30
Jet engine 30
Ground property and equipme 5to0 10
Furniture, fixture, equipment and othi 5to 10
Software rights and licens 3to8
Aircraft rotables 10 to 30
Leasehold improvemen Lesser of remaining lease term or useful

Measurement of Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company records impairment losses on long-lass®ts used in operations, consisting principdlroperty and
equipment, when events or changes in circumstandaste, in management’s judgment, that the assigfht be impaired and
the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be geetefadm the use of those assets are less tharathgng amount of those
assets. Cash flows estimates are based on hidtastats adjusted to reflect the Company’s besinede of future market and
operating conditions. The net carrying value ok&sgaot recoverable is reduced to fair value. Extias of fair value represent
the Company’s best estimate based on industrydrand reference to market rates and transactiaharansubject to change.

Revenue Recognition
Passenger Reven

Passenger revenue is recognized when transportafpyovided rather than when a ticket is sold. &hmunt of passenger
ticket sales not yet recognized as revenue isatefiieas “Air traffic liability” in the ConsolidateBalance Sheets. Fares for
tickets that have expired and/or are one year @decognized as passenger revenue. A signifiaatiop of the Company’s
ticket sales are processed through major credit @ampanies, resulting in accounts receivable wharehgenerally shoterm in
duration and typically collected prior to when reue is recognized. The Company believes that thditarisk associated with
these receivables is minimal.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We are required to charge certain taxes and fe@siopassenger tickets. These taxes and fees sntladsportation taxes,
airport passenger facility charges and foreigrvatand departure taxes. These taxes and feesgakdssessments on the
customer. As we have a legal obligation to act esllaction agent with respect to these taxes ard,fwe do not include such
amounts in passenger revenue. We record a liakilign the amounts are collected and relieve thditiawhen payments are
made to the applicable government agency or operatrrier.

Cargo and Mail Services Revenue

Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized triee@ompany provides the shipping services anellyecompletes the
earning process.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of excess bgggharges, commissions earned on tickets softights on other airlines
and charter flights, and is recognized when trartafion or service is provided.

Frequent Flyer Progran

The Company patrticipates in Continental’s “OnePasxjuent flyer program, for which the Company’sgengers receive all
the benefits and privileges offered by the OnePasgram. Continental is responsible for the admiai®n of the OnePass
program. Under the terms of the Company’s freqtigat agreement with Continental, OnePass memlgsive OnePass
frequent flyer mileage credits for travel on CopidiAes and AeroRepublica and the Company pays i@ental a per mile rate
for each mileage credit granted by Continentalytdith point the Company has no further obligatibhe amounts due to
Continental under this agreement are expensedeb@€dimpany as the mileage credits are earned. @otihpays Copa
Airlines a per flown mile rate for every OnePassmiber that uses his/her miles to obtain reward t&cke Copa Airlines and
AeroRepublica flights. These rates depend on thesabf service, the flight length and the availgbdf the reward.

Passenger Traffic Commissions

Passenger traffic commissions are recognized aanegpwhen the transportation is provided and tlaéecbrevenue is
recognized. Passenger traffic commissions paidhbuyet recognized as expense are included in ddegxpenses” in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. Dolthe legal tender in Panama. Assets and liadslith foreign currencies are
translated at end-of-period exchange rates, exoepbn-monetary assets and liabilities, whichteaaslated at equivalent U.S.
dollar costs at dates of acquisition and maintamtdustorical rate. Results of operations arediaad at average exchange r
in effect during the period. Foreign exchange gaims losses are included as a component of “Otie¢fwithin Non-operating
income (expense) in the Consolidated Statemeritecome.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of AeroRepublica are mregsusing the Colombian Peso as the functionakoasr;, adjustments to
translate those statements into U.S. Dollars amerded in other comprehensive income (loss).

In 2008, approximately 70% of the Company’s expsresel 41% of the Comparsyfevenues were denominated in U.S. Do
The remainder of the Company’s expenses and regemee denominated in the currencies of the vardoustries to which
the Company flies, with the largest non-dollar amalenominated in Colombian pesos for which the gamy hedges the risk
of fluctuation from time to time (see Note 7). Geally, the Company’s exposure to other foreign encies is limited to a
period of up to two weeks, from the time a saledsipleted to the time funds are converted into D@lars. As a result of
exchange controls in Venezuela, we often experiaddiional delays converting cash generated fiazalloperations in
Venezuela.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company accounts for derivatives and hedgitigites in accordance with FASB Statement No. 188gounting for
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Actestias amended, which requires entities to recegiizierivative
instruments as either assets or liabilities inkthlance sheet at their respective fair valuesdedwatives designated as hedges,
changes in the fair value are either offset agafresthange in fair value, for the risk being hetjgd the assets and liabilities
through earnings, or recognized in accumulatedraibeprehensive income until the hedged item isgaized in earnings.

The Company only enters into derivative contraeéd it intends to designate as a hedge of a foletd&iansaction or the
variability of cash flows to be received or paithted to a recognized asset or liability (cash flezdge). For all hedging
relationships the Company formally documents thdghreg relationship and its risk-management objectind strategy for
undertaking the hedge, the hedging instrumenthéukged item, the nature of the risk being hedged, the hedging
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the hedgekl will be assessed prospectively and retrosgelgt and a description of
the method of measuring ineffectiveness. The Compiso formally assesses, both at the hedge’s flecepnd on an ongoing
basis, whether the derivatives that are used igihgdransactions are highly effective in offsagtitash flows of hedged items.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative thatighly effective and that is designated and qualifis a cash-flow hedge are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive indorttee extent that the derivative is effective ddge, until earnings are
affected by the variability in cash flows of thesigpated hedged item. The ineffective portion ef thange in fair value of a
derivative instrument that qualifies as a cash-fledge is reported in earnings.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prosgéctivhen it determines that the derivative is oiager effective in
offsetting cash flows of the hedged item, the dwhixe expires or is sold, terminated, or exercisiee derivative is de-
designated as a hedging instrument because itikelynthat a forecasted transaction will occurnmnagement determines that
designation of the derivative as a hedging instmirieeno longer appropriate.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In all situations in which hedge accounting is diginued and the derivative is retained, the Corpmamtinues to carry the
derivative at its fair value on the balance sheetr@cognizes any subsequent changes in its faie wa earnings. When it is
probable that a forecasted transaction will nouocthe Company discontinues hedge accounting ecagnizes immediately
earnings gains and losses that were accumulatettién comprehensive income.

Maintenance and Repair Costs

Maintenance and repair costs for owned and lediggd équipment, including the overhaul of aircrefimponents, are charged
to operating expenses as incurred. Engine ovedust$ covered by power-by-the-hour arrangementpaceand expensed as
incurred, on the basis of hours flown per the amitrUnder the terms of our power-by-the-hour agess, we pay a set dollar
amount per engine hour flown on a monthly basistaedhird-party vendor assumes the obligatioretiair the engines at no
additional cost to us, subject to certain speciégdusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreensespecifically provide that we, as lessee, arearsiple for maintenance of
the leased aircraft, we do, under certain of oistigng lease agreements, pay maintenance reseraxtaft and engine lessors
that are to be applied towards the cost of futuaintenance events. These reserves are calculated ba a performance
measure, such as flight hours, and are specifitalbe used to reimburse third-party providers thatish services in
connection with maintenance of our leased airctafihere are sufficient funds on deposit to pag ithvoices submitted, they ¢
paid. However, if amounts on deposit are insuffiti® cover the invoices, we must cover the shibttiecause, as noted above,
we are legally responsible for maintaining the éghaircraft. Under aircraft lease agreements gifelare excess amounts on
deposit at the expiration of the lease, the lessentitled to retain any excess amounts. The raaartce reserves paid under
lease agreements do not transfer either the oldigtd maintain the aircraft or the cost risk assted with the maintenance
activities to the aircraft lessor. In addition, maintain the right to select any third-party maiatece providers. Therefore, we
record these amounts as prepaid maintenance vatier Assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheetthandecognize
maintenance expense when the underlying mainteriapeaformed, in accordance with our maintenamoaanting policy. As
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, based on the exyeri the Company’s maintenance personnel angindavailable data,
management determined that it was probable thataititenance deposits recorded as prepaid mairteniaihe accompanyil
Consolidated Balance Sheets will be used to fuadtdist of maintenance events and are thereforeesaue.

Employee Profit Sharing

The Company sponsors a profit-sharing program éoh lnanagement and non-management personnel. Fobeng of
management, profit-sharing is based on a combimatithe Company’s performance as a whole and¢h&gement of
individual goals. Profit-sharing for non-managememiployees is based solely on the Company’s pegnce. The Company
accrues each month for the expected profit-shavitigh is paid annually in February. Amounts exgehtor the Company’s
profit-sharing program were $7.7 million, $8.4 raifi and $8.4 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respely.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Térafany recognized as advertising expense $7.7omil$6.6 million, and
$4.8 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided under the itgbiiethod and reflect the net tax effects of terapp differences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and thegiorted amounts in the financial statements.

Goodwill and Intangibles

The Company performs impairment testing of goodwillaccordance with SFAS No. 142Gbodwill and Other Intangible
Assets”, separately from impairment testing of indefiniieed intangibles. The Company tests goodwillifapairment, at least
annually, by comparing the book value to the faiue at the reporting segment level and tests icdally indefinite-lived
intangibles, at least annually, by reviewing tha@ividual book values compared to the fair valuen€§iderable management
judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact ofaipg and macroeconomic changes and to estimairefaash flows t
measure fair value. Assumptions used in the Conipampairment evaluations are consistent with in&iprojections and
operating plans. The Company did not recognizeimpgirment charges for goodwill or intangibles asskiring the years
presented.

All of the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-livédtangibles are allocated to its AeroRepublica sagmindefinite-lived
intangible assets consist primarily of the fairneahllocated to the routes and the AeroRepublaetname, valued at

$26.8 million and $5.1 million, respectively. Fbetyears ended December 2008 and 2007, amount®divjl and intangible
assets have changed due to exchange effects.

Gain from Involuntary Conversion

In 2007, the Company recorded an $8.0 million gainnvoluntary conversion of non-monetary assetadoetary assets
related to insurance proceeds in excess of airocafk value.

Concentration Risk

The Company attempts to minimize its concentratiskiwith regards to its cash, cash equivalentd,itminvestment portfolio.
This is accomplished by diversifying and limitingraunts among different counterparties, the typewdstment, and the
amount invested in any individual security. Eveoutyh the Compang’exposure to other foreign currencies is geneliatiyed
to a period of up to two weeks, there is somemédkted to devaluation of certain currencies whieeeCompany is restricted by
law and faces delays in converting our funds int8.UDollars. In Venezuela, for example, we oftepezience additional dela
converting cash generated from our local operatioh&enezuela.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in ther ggars’ Consolidated Financial Statement amoamdsrelated note
disclosures to conform with the current year's preation.

2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardaf8 (FASB) issued Statement No. 161, “Disclosatesut Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities — an amendmémASB Statement No. 133" (“SFAS 161"). SFAS 16fjuies entities
that utilize derivative instruments to provide qtadive disclosures about their objectives andisgias for using such
instruments, as well as any details of credit-rislated contingent features contained within derres. SFAS 161 also requires
entities to disclose additional information abdwe amounts and location of derivatives locatediwithe financial statements,
how the provisions of SFAS 133 have been applied,the impact that hedges have on an entity’s izduposition, financial
performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effedtvdiscal years and interim periods beginning @Mevember 15, 2008,

with early application encouraged. The Company dmgdelieve the adoption of that SFAS 161 will @@material impact on
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In October 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position N&S 157-3, “Determining the Fair Value of a Fineh@sset When the
Market for That Asset is Not Active” (FSP 157-35R 157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS 157cases where a market is
not active. The Company has considered the guidarmeded by FSP 157-3 in its determination ofrestied fair values as of
December 31, 2008, and the impact was not material.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No, ‘I8t Fair Value Option for Financial Assets aridancial

Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”). The standard allows digs to voluntarily choose, at specified electiated, to measure many
financial assets and financial liabilities (as vasicertain non-financial instruments that arelsinto financial instruments) at
fair value (the “fair value option”). The electimmade on an instrument-lyystrument basis and is irrevocable. If the faiue
option is elected for an instrument, the Staterspetifies that all subsequent changes in fair vialughat instrument shall be
reported in earnings. SFAS 159 becomes effectivéhfofiscal years beginning after November 15,720the Company did ni
elect to adopt SFAS 159.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No(Rétised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS (R)1). SFAS 141
(R) will change the accounting for business comiodma. Under SFAS 141(R), an acquiring entity Wil required to recognize
all the assets acquired and liabilities assumedtmansaction at the acquisition-date fair valunwWimited exceptions. SFAS
141(R) will change the accounting treatment andldsire for certain specific items in a businesslgionation. SFAS 141(R)
applies prospectively to business combinationsviich the acquisition date is on or after the beiig of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after December2l®)8. The impact of our adoption of SFAS 141(R) dépend upon nature
and terms of business combinations, if any, thateresummate on or after January 1, 2009.

In December 2008, the FASB affirmed Staff Positim FAS 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about tRetirement Benefit
Plan Assets” (“FSP FAS 132(R)-1"). FSP FAS 132(Requires additional disclosures about assetsiheld employee’s
defined benefit pension or other postretirement paimarily related to categories and fair valueasurements of plan assets.
The Company does not believe the adoption of thHe IFAS 132(R)-1 will have a material impact on thenéblidated Financial
Statements.

3. Special Fleet Charges

In 2007, the Company decided to terminate earky FAD-80 aircraft leases, in connection with thesition of
AeroRepublica’s fleet to EMBRAER-190. Penaltiesdofair early termination amounted $7.3 million anéravrecognized as
Special Fleet Charges in the Statement of Income.
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4. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, long-term debt consisted of thifghg (in millions):

2008 2007
Long-term fixed rate det $ 363.¢ $ 376.£
(Secured fixed rate indebtedness due through 2€&8tkve rates ranged from 3.989

to 6.75%)

Long-term variable rate del 504. 431.¢
(Secured variable rate indebtedness due through Efigctive rates ranged from

1.90% to 3.90%

Mediumr-term variable rate del 47.¢ 34.¢
(Unsecured variable rate indebtedness due in 2@@8tive rates ranged of 2.52% t«

4.89%)

Sut-total 916.( 842.¢
Less current maturitie 115.¢ 110.7
Long-term debt less current maturiti $ 800.2 $ 732.%
Maturities of long-term debt for the next five yeare as follows (in millions):

Year ending December 3

2009 $ 115.¢
2010 73.7
2011 73.€
2012 96.€
2013 61.2
Thereaftel $ 494.¢

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company B&8.8 million and $379.2 million of outstanding @dedness,
respectively, that is owed to financial institusomnder financing arrangements guaranteed by tperEkmport Bank of the
United States. The Export-Import Bank guaranteppau 85% of the net purchase price of the airaaft are secured with a
first priority mortgage on the aircraft in favor afsecurity trustee on behalf of Export-Import Bank

The Company’s Export-Import Bank supported finagsiare amortized on a quarterly basis, are dendetina U.S. Dollars
and originally bear interest at a floating raté&did to LIBOR. The Export-Import Bank guaranteedliides typically offer an
option to fix the applicable interest rate. The @amy has exercised this option with respect to $8#dllion as of
December 31, 2008.

The Company effectively extends the maturity ogitgraft financing to 15 years through the usa ttretched Overall
Amortization and Repayment,” or SOAR, structureshhprovides serial draw- downs calculated to raaudt 100% loan
accreting to a recourse balloon at the maturitthefExport-Import Bank guaranteed loan which tat&63.6 million as of
December 31, 2008.
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The Company also typically finances a portion &f purchase price of the Boeing aircraft through m@ncial loans which
totaled $9.2 million as of December 31, 2008.

During 2007, the Company secured a medium termfiacility in the amount of $37.5 million for thenfancing of pre-delivery
payments of two (2) Boeing 737-800 aircraft haviledjvery months of May and October 2009. The Comggdaas granted, for
the benefit of the bank, a first priority secuiityerest in the rights, title and interest over tive (2) Boeing 737-800 aircraft.
Interests on the loans are paid on a quarterlshveisihh the principal balance to be repaid uponveeyi of the aircratft.

Assets, primarily aircraft, subject to agreemestausing the Company’s indebtedness amounted tok$llidn and $1.0 billion
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

As of December 31, 2008 the Company has one uragachitment for long-term financing agreement foprapximately
$33.7 million to acquire one (1) Boeing 737-80ift to be delivered during first quarter 2009.

5. Investments

During 2008, the Company invests in time depositsd.S. Government treasury securities. These imaggs are classified

within short-term and long-term investments in éiceompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Invessraea classified as

held-to-maturity securities since the Company hadrtent and the ability to hold them until matywriThese investments are
stated at their amortized cost which is essenttallysame as their fair value. Long-term investmemture within three

(3) years. Investments held by the Company are osapprincipally of time deposits.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $39.7 milliorestricted cash within short-term investmenitisich are cash
collateral deposits with counterparty under cotiaterovisions for derivatives contracts and $7ibion in restricted cash
within long-term investments for letters of credits
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6. Leases

The Company leases certain aircraft and other assefer long-term lease arrangements. Other lesessads include real
property, airport and terminal facilities, salefiagfs, maintenance facilities, training centers gaderal offices. Most contract
leases include renewal options. Non-aircraft reléases, primarily held with local governments)ayally have renewable
terms of one year. In certain cases, the rentahpays during the renewal periods would be grehtar the current payments.
Because the lease renewals are not consideredrémbenably assured, as defined in SFAS No. 28cbunting for Leases”,
the rental payments that would be due during thewal periods are not included in the determinadibrent expense until the
leases are renewed. Leasehold improvements ardiaedoover the contractually committed lease temmich does not include
the renewal periods. The Company'’s leases do ohtde residual value guarantees.

At December 31, 2008, the scheduled future mininease payments under operating leases that hdia ariremaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year dod@sgs (in millions):

Operating Leases

Year ending December 3 Aircraft Non-Aircraft
2009 $ 41.2 $ 10.1
2010 40.€ 8.C
2011 37.5 6.5
2012 32.€ 5.¢
2013 27.€ 5.1
Later year: 75.C 7.9

Total minimum lease paymer $ 254.7 $ 43.t

Total rent expense was $58.3 million, $50.2 millaord $48.7 million for the years ended Decembe2808, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.
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7. Financial Instruments and Risk Management
Fuel Price Risk Manageme

The Company periodically enters into crude oil cgllions, jet fuel zero cost collars, and jet fa@bp contracts to provide for
short to mid-term hedge protection (generally thoeeighteen months) against sudden and significeneases in jet fuel
prices, while simultaneously ensuring that the Canypis not competitively disadvantaged in the ewérat substantial decrease
in the price of jet fuel. The Company does not t@idssue derivative financial instruments for tredpurposes. The
Company’s derivative contracts did not qualify aslges for financial reporting purposes in accordamith SFAS No. 133, “
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgivities” (SFAS 133). Accordingly, changes in fair valuesofch
derivative contracts, which amounted to ($54.9)iari| $8.4 million and $(1.8) million in years 200807, and 2006
respectively, were recorded as a component of ‘1Qtiet” within Non-operating income (expense).

The fair value of derivative contracts amounte84@.9 million in 2008 was recorded in “Other cutrkebilities” and
$7.0 million in 2007 was recorded in “Other currassets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Thep@oys purchases of ji
fuel are made substantially from one supplier.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company held deriedtigstruments on 24% of its projected 2009 fuekcomption, as
compared with derivatives held on 22% of actual fe&msumed in 2008.

Financial derivative instruments expose the Compartyedit loss in the event of nonperformancehgydounterparties to the
agreements. However, the Company does not expgdadure of the counterparties to meet their ofiligns, as the Comparsy’
policy to manage credit risk is to engage in bussngith counterparties who are financially stalbld wellversed in the matte
of energy risk management. The amount of such tceggiosure is generally the unrealized gain, if, amguch contracts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk Managern

The Company for it subsidiary AeroRepublica, uses/ard contracts to hedge against the risk assatiaith its forecasted
U.S. Dollarsdenominated cash flows. During 2008, the Compaijdeéé, for some contracts, to accounting thesevaltives as
cash flow hedges for financial reporting purposeadcordance with SFAS 133. They are recordedratdiue with changes
reflected in prepayments and other current assetther current liabilities in the accompanying Golidated Balance Sheets
with the offset to “Accumulated other comprehensn@me (loss)”, net of hedge ineffectiveness. Heidgffectiveness
included in “Other non-operating income (expenseYhe accompanying Consolidated Statement of Ircesas immaterial.
Our loss related to currency hedging instrumergiiged in “Accumulated other comprehensive incoloss)” was

$0.3 million. The fair value of forward contractghich amounted to $0.3 million in 2008, was recdrde“Other current
liabilities”.

Certain derivative contracts did not qualify asdesifor financial reporting purposes in accordamitle SFAS 133.
Accordingly, changes in the fair value of such dative contracts, which amounted to $1.3 millionl 2.6 million in 2008 an
2007, respectively, were recorded as a componéi@tber, net” within Non-operating income (expensH)e fair value of
forward contracts amounted to $1.3 million and $@ilion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respegctiweere recorded in
“Other current assets” in the Consolidated Bala®loeets.
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Interest Rates Risk Managem

The Company uses interest rate swap contractsigehegainst the interest rate risk variations aataxtwith its firm
commitments to pay for aircraft leasing denominatedSD. The Company records these derivativestasdst rates cash flow
hedges for financial reporting purposes in accatdamith SFAS 133. They are recorded at fair valith shanges reflected in
prepayments and other current assets or othemtuiabilities in the accompanying Consolidated@ale Sheets with the off:
to “Accumulated other comprehensive income (losgX’'of hedge ineffectiveness. Hedge ineffectiveimedaded in “Other
non-operating income (expense)” in the accompangiogsolidated Statements of Income was ($0.1)anilin 2008. Our loss
related to the interest rates hedging instrumemsided in “Accumulated other comprehensive incdlmss)” was $6.5 million
The fair value of forward contracts amounted t&6$6illion and was recorded in “Other current ligies”.

Debt

The fair value of the Company’s debt with a cargyiralue of $916.0 million and $842.9 million asi¥écember 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively, was approximately $961.2 nrillimd $842.9 million. These estimates were basetediscounted amount
of future cash flows using the Company’s currentémental rate of borrowing for a similar liability

Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalentsjatesl cash, investments, accounts receivable aandunts payable
approximate fair value due to their short-term retu

8. Fair Value Measurement

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stashsl8oard (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Aotiog Standards
No. 157,“Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157). SFAS 157 dassestablish requirements for any new fair value
measurements, but it does apply to existing acéogipronouncements in which fair value measuremargslready required.
SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framkW@rmeasuring fair value in accordance with aetg principles
generally accepted in the United States, and expdisglosures about fair value measurements. Tiep@oy has adopted the
provisions of SFAS 157 as of January 1, 2008, ifarfcial instruments. As allowed by FASB staff piosi FAS 157-2,
“Effective dates of FASB statement No. 157", then@pany elected to defer the adoption of SFAS 15k véspect to all
remaining non financial assets and liabilities lukgnuary 1, 2009.

SFAS 157 establishes a three-tier fair value hodrgrwhich prioritizes the inputs used in measufaigvalue. These tiers
include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs saechjuoted prices in active markets; Level 2, @efias inputs other than
guoted prices in active markets that are eithezctly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defirees unobservable inputs in
which little or no market data exists, thereforquieing an entity to develop its own assumptions.
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As of December 31, 2008, the Company held certaing that are required to be measured at fair waiwe recurring basis.
These included interest rate hedge contractsder@lative contracts and currency hedge contrabisiware related to the
Company’s attempts to hedge interest rates, fustb@nd currency fluctuations.

The Company'’s fuel derivative instruments consisiver-the-counter (OTC) contracts, which are natléd on a public
exchange. These contracts include both swaps aasvebmbination of option contracts. See Noter#daher information on
the Company’s derivative instruments and hedgitiyities. The fair values of swap contracts areed®ined based on inputs
that can be derived from information available ublicly quoted markets. Therefore, the Companydasgorized these swap
contracts as Level 2. The Company determines thee\ed option contracts utilizing a standard optpiting model based on
inputs that can be derived from information avddah publicly quoted markets, or are quoted byficial institutions that trac
these contracts. The Company also considers cqamtgrcredit risk and its own credit risk in itstelenination of all estimated
fair values. Therefore, the Company has categotizesk option contracts as Level 2.

The Company’s interest rate hedge instrumentsaasist of OTC swap contracts. The inputs utilimedetermine the fair
values of these contracts are obtained in quotbticpmarkets.

The Company'’s currency hedge instruments consifsirafard contracts to hedge against the risk aasatiwith its forecasted
Colombian peso-denominated cash flows.

The following items are measured at fair value @acrring basis subject to the disclosure requaresof SFAS 157 at
December 31, 2008 (in millions):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date U

Quoted Prices Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservabl
December 3: Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2008 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Currency hedge $ 1.2 $ 1.2
Liabilities
Fuel derivative: 47.¢ 47.¢
Interest rate hedge 6.€ 6.€
Currency hedge .3 K
Total liabilities $ 54.¢ $ 54.¢
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9. Cash and Stock Based Compensation Plans

The Company has established equity compensatiois plader which it administers non-vested stoclckstptions and certain
other equity-based awards to attract, retain aniivate executive officers, certain key employeed aonemployee directors
compensate them for their contributions to the gnoand profits of the Company. Shares delivereckutits award program
may be sourced from treasury stock, or authorizetéssued shares.

The Company’s equity compensation plans are aceduot under SFAS No. 123RShare-Based PaymeniSFAS 123R).
SFAS 123R requires companies to measure the ceshployee services received in exchange for anchefaequity
instruments (typically stock options) based ongtentdate fair value of the award or at fair value @& #ward at each reporti
date, depending on the type of award granted. ainedlue is estimated using option-pricing mode&lse resulting cost is
recognized over the period during which an empldgeequired to provide service in exchange foratvard, which is usually
the vesting period. For those awards issued subseét the adoption of SFAS 123R that allow forederation of vesting upon
retirement, total compensation cost is recognizest the period ending on the first eligible retierhdate.

The total compensation cost recognized for nonegestock and options awards was $5.6 million, $4ilBon and $3.3 million
in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and was dstbas a component of “Salaries and benefits” widperating expense.

Nor-vested Stock

In March 2006, the Compensation Committee of ousrB®f Directors granted 935,650 non-vested stackrds for senior
management, officers, managers and key employdedi@ss:

Senior management were granted 847,625 non-vetstekl @vards which vest over five (5) years in yearstallments equal to
15% of the awarded stock on each of the first tkiB@nniversaries of the grant date, 25% on thetficanniversary and 30%
the fifth anniversary. Managers, officers and kmpboyees, not on our senior management team, wargegl 88,025 non-
vested stock awards which vest on the second aisaieof the grant date.

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of ousrB®f Directors granted 16,955 shares of non-destieck awards to
certain named executive officers, which vest oliezd (3) years in yearly installments equal to thet of the awarded stock
on each of the three anniversaries of the gramt dat

During 2008, the Compensation Committee of our Badmirectors granted 73,374 shares of non-vestieck awards to
certain named executive officers and key employ@gsh vest over three (3) years in yearly instahitsesqual to one-third of
the awarded stock on each of the three annivessafithe grant date.

Non-vested stock awards were measured at their faieyavhich is the same amount for which a similaédgtricted share

would be issued to a third party, on the grant.dete fair value of each non- vested stocks awarsl $87.97, $53.14 and
$21.10 for the 2008, 2007 and the 2006 grantsecdisely.
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A summary of non-vested stock award activity urttierplan as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and ekahging the year
are as follows:

2008 2007

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Grant-Date Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at beginning of ye 806,71. $ 21.7i 917,05( $ 21.1C
Granted 76,68¢ 37.9i 16,95¢ 53.1¢
Vested (256,72 22.11 (125,34, 21.1(
Forfeited (11,990 24.4¢ (1,950 21.1C
Nor-vested at end of ye 614,68( $ 23.6( 806,71: $ 21.71

The Company uses the straight-line attribution meétto recognize the compensation cost for awartts gvaded vesting
periods. The Company estimates that the remairongpensation cost, not yet recognized for the natedestock plan, is

$9.5 million with a weighted average remaining cactual life of 1.4 years. Additionally, the Compaestimates that the 2009
compensation cost related to this plan will be $dilion.

The total fair value of shares vested during ther ynded December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $5.7 métial $2.6 million,
respectively.
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Stock Options

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of ousrBaf Directors granted, 35,657 equity stock aggito certain named

executive officers, which vest over three (3) yeargearly installments equal to one-third of tlveaaded stock on each of the
three anniversaries of the grant date. The exeptise of the options is $53.14, which was the raagkice of the Company’s
stock at the grant date. The stock options havan&ractual term of 10 years.

The weighted-average fair value of the stock optianthe grant date was $22.33, and was estimated the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model assuming an expected dividgett of 0.58% based on our historical dividendgmants, expected
volatility of approximately 37.8% based on our bital volatility, weighted average risk-free irgst rate of 4.59% based on
the yield of the U.S. Treasury ten year bond, andxgected term of 6 years calculated under thplgied method.

A summary of options award activity under the pdanof December 31, 2008 and changes during theis/aarfollows:

Shares
Outstanding at January 1, 20 35,657
Grantec 0
Exercisec 0
Forfeited or expirel (2,02¢)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 33,62¢

The Company uses the straight-line attribution meétto recognize the compensation cost for stoclonpt The Company
estimates that the remaining compensation costyetaecognized for stock options, is $0.3 millisith a weighted average
contractual life of 8.2 years and zero intrinsituea Additionally, the Company estimates that td@2compensation cost
related to this plan will be $0.3 million.
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10. Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the income asfthre data used in the basic and diluted earpi@gshare computations for
the dates indicated (in millions, except share @erdshare data):

December 31
2008 2007 2006
Income available to common stockholders for botsidand diluted EP $ 118.7 $ 161.¢ $ 133.¢

Weighted average common shares outstanding apl@itabasic EP: 43,142 51 42,907,96 42,812,50
Basic earnings per she $ 2.7¢ $ 3.71 $ 3.1¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding apf@itadiluted EP 43,142 ,51 42,907,96 42,812,50
Effect of dilutive shares

Non-vested Stock Pla 297,36: 555,79. 422,05:
Adjusted weighted average common shares outstaagplicable to

diluted EPS 43,439,87 43,463,75 43,234,55
Diluted earnings per sha $ 2.7¢ $ 3.7z $ 3.1C

Options to purchase 33,629 shares of common stdék314 per share outstanding at the end of 2098 wxcluded in the
computation of diluted EPS because the optiong'aise price was greater than the average markes pfithe common shares.
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11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (L0sS)

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007 the componeras@fmulated other comprehensive income (loss)safellaws (in

millions):
Foreign Derivatives
Currency Financial
Translation Pensions Instruments Total

Balance as of December 31, 2006 $ 0.€ $ 09 % 4.0 3 4.3
Foreign currency translatic 3.C — — 3.C
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives instrume — — 4.C 4.C
SFAS 158 Unrecognized actuarial loss of the pe — (0.7 — (0.7
Amortization of actuarial los — 0.1 — 0.1
Balance as of December 31, 2007 $ 3.€ $ 09 % 0.C $ 2.7
Foreign currency translatic 0.3 — — 0.3
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives instrume — — (6.9 (6.9
SFAS 158 Unrecognized actuarial loss of the pe — (0.2 — (0.2
Amortization of actuarial los — 0.1 — 0.1
Balance as of December 31, 2008 $ 3.3 $ 1.0) $ 6.8 $ (4.5)

12. Issued Capital and Corporate Reorganization

On November 23, 2005, the Company’s Board of Dinecapproved a reorganization of the Comparmgpital stock. Followir
the reorganization, the Company’s authorized chgiitek consists of 80 million shares of commorckteithout par value,
divided into Class A shares, Class B shares anss@ashares. Immediately following the reorganirgtthere were 30,034,3
Class A shares outstanding, 12,778,125 Class B sloatstanding, all owned by CIASA (a Panamanigity@nand no Class C
shares outstanding. The reorganization did not ainihee operations or financial condition of the Gamy in any respect and,
such, does not result in a new basis of accountiighare and per share information for the pegoa retroactive effect to tt
reorganization. Class A and Class B shares havsatime economic rights and privileges, includingripbt to receive
dividends, except that the holders of the Clasbd@es are not entitled to vote at the Company’settwdders’ meetings, except
in connection with a transformation of the Company another corporate type; a merger, consolidatiospin-off of the
Company; a change of corporate purpose; voluntdglisting Class A shares from the NYSE; approvtrggnomination of
independent directors nominated by the Company&a @of Director’s Nominating and Corporate Govega@ommittee; and
any amendment to the foregoing special voting [sions adversely affecting the rights and privilegethe Class A shares.
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The Class A shareholders will acquire full votinghts, entitled to one vote per Class A share bmatters upon which
shareholders are entitled to vote, if in the futilnee Companys Class B shares ever represent fewer than 10Bedbtal numbe
of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanaimtgthe Independent Directors Committee of the omw’'s Board of
Directors (the “Independent Directors Committediqls have determined that such additional votigipts of Class A
shareholders would not cause a triggering eveetned to below. In such event, the right of thes€lA shareholders to vote on
the specific matters described in the precedinggraph will no longer be applicable. At such tiifi@ny, as the Class A
shareholders acquire full voting rights, the Boafr@irectors shall call an extraordinary sharehdtdmeeting to be held within
90 days following the date as of which the ClasshAres are entitled to vote on all matters at trag@any’s shareholders’
meetings. At the extraordinary shareholders’ meetine shareholders shall vote to elect all elemembers of the Board of
Directors in a slate recommended by the Nominadimgdy Governance Committee. The terms of office efdinectors that were
serving prior to the extraordinary shareholdersétimg shall terminate upon the election held at theeting.

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to oote yer share on all matters for which shareholdey®ntitled to vote. Class B
shares will be automatically converted into Classhares upon the registration of transfer of sheltes to holders which are
not Panamanian.

The Class C shares will have no economic valuevatdot be transferable, but will possess suchingtights as the
Independent Directors Committee shall deem necgssansure the effective control of the CompanyPlapamanians. The
Class C shares will be redeemable by the Compaswycéttime as the Independent Directors Committéerchines that a
triggering event, shall no longer be in effect. Tass C shares will not be entitled to any divitkenr any other economic
rights.

13. Income Taxes

The Company pays taxes in the Republic of Panamanasther countries in which it operates, basedegulations in effect in
each respective country. The Company’s revenueg @incipally from foreign operations and accordioghe Panamanian
Fiscal Code these foreign operations are not sttgjgacome tax in Panama.

The Company has elected to calculate its Panamargame tax with the alternative gross tax electldnder this method,
based on Article 121 of the Panamanian Fiscal Codeme for international transportation comparsesalculated based on a
territoriality method that determines gross revene@rned in Panama by applying the percentagele$ fidwn within the
Panamanian territory against total revenues. Utldgemethod, loss carry forwards cannot be appbeaffset tax liability.
Dividends from the Company’s Panamanian subsidianeluding Copa Airlines, are separately subject ten percent tax if
such dividends can be shown to be derived fromnrefrom sources in Panama.
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The Company is also subject to local tax regulationeach of the jurisdictions where it operatles,dreat majority of which a
related to the taxation of income. In some of thentries to which the Company flies, the Compangsdoot pay any income
taxes because it does not generate taxable incoder the laws of those countries or because didear other arrangements
those countries have with Panama. In the remaicoomtries, the Company pays income tax at a raigimg from 25% to 34%
of income. Different countries calculate incomalifierent ways, but they are typically derived fraales in the applicable
country multiplied by the Company’s net margin grebpresumed net margin set by the relevant tagl&mpn. The
determination of the Company’s taxable income ires& countries is based on a combination of regsraourced to each
particular country and the allocation of expendeb® Company’s operations to that particular courithe methodology for
multinational transportation company sourcing efereue and expense is not always specifically pitgesdiin the relevant tax
regulations, and therefore is subject to interpiateby both the Company and the respective taainporities. Additionally, in
some countries, the applicability of certain regjoles governing non-income taxes and the deteroinatf the filing status of
the Company are also subject to interpretation.

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a bilategreement between Panama and the United Staet€ompany is exem
from the U.S. source transportation income taxveerifrom the international operation of its airtraf

The provision for income taxes recorded in the @bdated Statements of Income was as follows (iltians):

2008 2007 2006

Panamz¢

Current $ 1.7 $ 1.2 $ 1.1

Deferred — — —
Foreign

Current 11.2 13.4 11.5

Deferred 4.€ 2.4 (0.3
Total 17.F 17.1 12.2

The Company paid taxes of $14.9 million, $16.6 imilland $11.3 million in years 2008, 2007 and 2066pectively.

Pre-tax income, based on the Copa Airlines’ interoate profitability measures, related to Panamamiperations was
$50.4 million, $49.7 million, and $44.9 million 008, 2007, and 2006, respectively, and relatédriagn operations was
$85.8 million, $129.3 million, and $101.2 million 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

AeroRepublica’s benefit from operating loss carryfards amounted to $0.4 million and $0.6 milliorod®ecember 31, 2008

and 2007, respectively. The benefit from operalirsg carry forwards are available for a periodexfen (7) years from when
they were generated in 2005.
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Income tax returns for all companies incorporatethe Republic of Panama are subject to reviewakyatithorities up to the
last three (3) years, including the year ended Bées 31, 2008 according to current tax regulatiéis.other countries where
the Company operates, it is subject to review leyr tlespective tax authorities for periods randhogn the last two (2) to six
(6) years.

The amount of income tax expense incurred in Panarias from the statutory rate because of the fBan&n gross tax
election. Income taxes outside of Panama are géndesermined on the basis of net income or reegamd all of the countris
have rates that vary from the Panamanian statuabey

The reconciliations of income tax computed at taedanian statutory tax rate to income tax expfmgbe years ended
December 31 are as follows (in millions):

Amount Percentage
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Provision for income taxes at

Panamanian statutory raf $ 40¢& $ 537 $ 43¢ 30.(% 30.(% 30.(%
Panamanian gross tax elect (13.5) (13.6) (12.9 (9.€%) (7.€%) (8.5%)
Exemption in no-taxable countrie (2.2 (2.9 (2.0 (1.7%) (1.2%) (0.7%)
Difference in Panamanian statutc

rates and non-Panamanian

statutory rate (7.€) (20.6) (18.7) (5.€%) (11.5%) (12.4%)
Provision for income taxe $ 17t 0 171 ¢ 12.: 12.6% 9.€% 8.4%

Deferred income taxes are provided under the itgbiiethod and reflect the net tax effects of terapp differences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and thegiprted amounts in the Consolidated Financial Stames.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferreditilities and assets are as follows (in milsyn

2008 2007

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible Asset $ (105 % (11.7)
Maintenance reservt (2.2 (1.8
Others (0.5) (0.0
(13.9) (3.5

Deferred tax asset

Property and Equipme 3.5 6.3
Allowance for doubtful accoun 0.1 0.9
Expendable parts and suppl 0.4 0.4
Prepaid expenst 0.C 0.1
Others 2.C 2.9
6.C 10.€
Net deferred tax liabilitie (7.2 (2.9
Less: Current deferred tax ass 1.E 3.8
Non current deferred tax liabilitie $ 87 $ (6.7)

The Company adopted Financial Accounting StandBodsd’s Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Umtanty in Income
Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. (B3N 48), effective January 1, 2007. FIN 48 cliasfthe accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in finanstatements and requires the impact of a tax paositi be recognized in the
financial statements if that position is more likélan not of being sustained by the taxing authofihe adoption of FIN 48 d
not have a material effect on our consolidatedrfoie position or results of operations. Interesd genalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits are recognized withierggt expense and other non-operating income (sgpemspectively, in our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

14. Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary of significant relatealty transactions that occurred during 2008, 207 2006. Except as
otherwise discussed, the payments to and fromegtlaarties in the ordinary course of business Wwased on prevailing mark
rates.

Continental AirlinesSince 1998, Continental has implemented a compe®yecommercial and services alliance with Copa
Airlines. Key elements of the alliance include: Banbrand images, code sharing, co-branding oQhePass frequent flyer
program in Latin America, joint construction anceggtion of the Panama Presidents Club VIP lourgiet purchasing,
maintenance and engineering support and a numtzehef marketing, sales and service initiatives.
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As a result of these activities, the Company padtibental $33.1 million, $29.4 million, and $25%ridllion in 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively, and Continental paid Copa Aédi $31.5 million, $21.2 million, and $17.8 million2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The Company owed Continental $1.%ianil $0.2 million, and $0.9 million at December, 2008, 2007 and 20C
respectively. Continental owed the Company $0.%ioniland $1.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2088pectively. The
services provided are considered normal to the dgiérations of both airlines.

Banco General, S. AYBanco General). The Company has a strong commercial bankingioelship with Banco General, S.
A. The Company’s shareholders own approximately 40®G Financial Group, which is the controllingnepany of Banco
General.

The Company obtains financing from Banco Generdeushort to medium-term financing arrangementpéot of the
commercial loan tranche of one of the Company’sdeixpmport Bank facilities. The Company also mainsageneral lines of
credit and time deposit accounts with Banco General

Interest payments to Banco General totaled $0.omil$0.6 million and $1.4 million in 2008, 2007Md2006, respectively, al
the Company received interest income of $0.2 mmiJl®4.5 million, and $1.5 million in 2008, 2007 a2@D6, respectively. The
debt balance outstanding at December 31 amountgt. tomillion and $4.8 million in 2008 and 2007spectively. These
amounts are included in “Current maturities of ldagn debt” and “Long-term debt” in the Consolidhi&alance Sheets.

ASSA Compaiiia de Seguros, S. PASSA" ). Panamanian law requires the Company to maintainstgance policies throug
a local insurance company. The Company has coatta&$SA, an insurance company controlled by the j@om’s controlling
shareholders, to provide substantially all of itsurance. ASSA has, in turn, reinsured almostfai@risks under those polici
with insurance companies in Europe. The net payrteeASSA, after taking into account the reinsuraotthese risks totaled
$0.03 million in each of 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Petroleos Delta, S. A Delta Petroleurh). During 2005, the Company entered into a contraitt Petréleos Delta, S.A. to
supply its jet fuel needs. The price agreed to utide contract is based on the two week averagkeot).S. Gulf Coast
Waterborne Mean index plus local taxes, certairdtparty handling charges and a handling chardgzeita. The contract has a
one year term that automatically renews for one pe&od unless terminated by one of the partielsil®\the Company’s
controlling shareholders do not hold a controll@wity interest in Petréleos Delta, S.A., variotithe Company’s Board of
Directors also are board members of Petroleos D@lfa Payments to Petréleos Delta totaled $185l&min 2008,

$126.0 million in 2007 and $77.9 million in 2006.

Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S. A\jesarrollo Inmobiliarid ). During January 2006, the Company moved intoés
headquarters, a recently constructed building &xtatx miles away from Tocumen International Aitpdihe Company leases
five floors consisting of approximately 104,000 arpifeet of the building from Desarrollo Inmobii@ran entity controlled by
the same group of investors that controls CIASAlarra ten-year lease at a rate of $0.1 millionnpanth. Payments to
Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A. totaled $#hdlion, $1.9 million, $1.8 million in 2008, 200&nd 2006, respectively.
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Galindo, Arias & LopezMost of the Company’s legal work, including passamgthe validity of the shares offered, is carried
out by the law firm Galindo, Arias & Lopez. Certgartners of Galindo, Arias & Lopez are indirecasgholders of CIASA an
serve on the Company’s Board of Directors. Paymenalindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.3 million, . g0million and $0.3
million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Other Transaction§.he Company purchases most of the alcohol and btharages served on its aircraft from Motta
Internacional, S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., bdtlwbich are controlled by the Company’s controllsigareholders. The
Company does not have any formal contracts foretpeischases, but pays wholesale prices based amlists periodically
submitted by those importers. The Company paid 80llfon, $0.6 million and $0.5 million in 2008, 2@ and 2006,
respectively.

The Company’s telecommunications and other datacgsr have been provided by Telecarrier, Inc.,esifrebruary 2003. Some
of the controlling shareholders of CIASA have atcoliing interest in Telecarrier. Payments to Tele®r totaled $0.6 million,
$0.6 million and $0.5 million in 2008, 2007 and B0@espectively.

The Company receives services from Call Center @atn, a call center that operates Copa Airlimeservations and sales
services and handles calls from Panama as welbasather countries Copa Airlines flies to. Oneéhef Company’s directors is
one of the owners of this call center. Paymentath Center Corporation totaled $4.0 million, $gnélion and $2.4 in 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

The advertising agency that the Company uses iaRanRD Nexos, S.A., is owned by the brother-in-tdthe Company’s
chief executive officer. Gross invoices for all\dees performed through RDP totaled $1.2 millioh,8million and
$1.5 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has a purchase contract with Boeinfid3oeing 737-Next Generation aircraft, under \wttlee Company has
thirteen (13) firm orders and three (3) purchad#aop. Additionally, the Company has a purchasdreshwith Embraer for 11
Embraer 190 aircraft, under which the Company has(b) purchase options and six (6) purchase sight

The firm orders have an approximate value of $1illidh based on aircraft list prices, including iesited amounts for
contractual price escalation and pre-delivery depoShe Company is scheduled to take delivenhefdircraft underlying the
13 firm orders between 2009 and 2012.

Covenants

As a result of the various aircraft financing cawits entered into by the Company, the Companygigired to comply with
certain financial covenants. These covenants, arotrey things, require the Company to maintain BRTBAR to fixed charg
ratio of at least 2.5 times, a minimum tangiblewetth of $160 million, an EBITDAR to finance chargxpense ratio of at le
2.0 times, a net borrowings to Company'’s capitéitiraratio of less than 85%, a total liability ploperating leases minus
operating cash to tangible net worth ratio of kbss 5.5, a longerm obligations to EBITDAR ratio of less than 6a0minimurnr
unrestricted cash balance of $50 million and amimh of $75 million in available cash, cash equintdeand short-term
investments.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was in comgdéiavith all required covenants.
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Labor Unions

Approximately 49% of the Company’s 5,901 employaesunionized. There are currently seven (7) uniganizations; five
(5) covering employees in Panama and two (2) cogegimployees in Colombia.

The five (5) unions covering employees in Panarmhude: the pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flight atteards’ union (SIPANAB);
the mechanics’ union (SINTECMAP); the traffic atiamts’ union (UGETRACO); and a generalized unidfe[&\S), which
represents ground personnel, messengers, drivenster agents and other non-executive adminiseratiaff. Copa Airlines
entered into a new collective bargaining agreematht SIELAS on June 2008 which will end May 201¥pically, collective
bargaining agreements in Panama have terms of/&mars. Copa Airlines has traditionally experiengedd relations with its
unions.

The two (2) unions covering employees in Colombé the pilots’ union (ACDAC) and the traffic attlamt’s union (ACAV).
AeroRepublica entered into a new collective barggimgreement with ACAV, on July 17, 2008 whichlwihd December 31,
2011. AeroRepublica’s entered into a new collechimegaining agreement with ACDAC on March 3, 200 will end
December 31, 2010. Typically, collective bargainaggeements in Colombia have terms of two to faarg. AeroRepublica
has traditionally experienced good relations wishuinions.

Lines of Credit for Working Capital and Letters@redit

The Company maintained available facilities fotdet of credit with several banks with outstandiatances of $34.6 million
and $33.8 million at December 31, 2008 and 20Gpeetively. These letters of credit are pledgedfmrating lessors,
maintenance providers and airport operators. Gfttital, $20 million are letters of credit openedbehalf of AeroRepublica f
the same purposes listed above.

In addition, Copa Airlines has committed lines oddit totaling $31.1 million, including one line ofedit for $15 million with
Banco General and an overdraft line of credit d #iillion with Towerbank. These lines of credit leaveen put in place to
bridge liquidity gaps and for other potential coggncies. Due to Copa Airlines’ current cash paositthe lines of credit do not
have outstanding balances.
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16. Subsequent Events
Stock Grants

During first quarter of 2009, the Compensation Cattea of the Company’s Board of Directors approted (2) new awards.
Awards were granted under these new plans for 524s8ares of non-vested stock, which will vest dhege (3) years. The
Company estimates the fair value of these awartie 'pproximately $2.7 million and the 2009 compéns cost for these
plans is $0.9 million.

17. Segment Reporting

The Company determined it has two reportable setpnthre Copa segment and the AeroRepublica segpramgrily because:
(1) management evaluates the financial and opewdtiesults of the Copa segment and AeroRepubdigement separately for
internal reporting and management performance atialupurposes; and (2) management intends to a@leeRepublica’s
existing management to continue operating thenaidis a point-to-point Colombian carrier. The aotiog policies of the
segments are the same as those described in N@artimary of Significant Accounting Policies”. Geakcorporate and other
assets are allocated to the Copa segment.
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Operating information for the Copa segment anddbmReplblica segment for the period ended Decelibe2008, 2007 and
2006 is as follow (in millions):

2008 2007 2006
Operating Revenues:
Copa Segmer $ 1,035.¢ $ 806.2 $ 676.2
AeroRepublica segme 264.¢ 226.( 175.¢
Eliminations (12.7) (4.9 (0.9
Consolidatec $ 1,288.¢ $  1,027. $ 851.2
Depreciation:
Copa Segmer $ 38.1 $ 30.7 $ 23.1
AeroRepublica segme 4.8 4.€ 1.2
Consolidatec $ 42.€ $ 35.¢ $ 24.¢
Aircraft Rentals:
Copa Segmer $ 31.2 $ 27.¢ $ 23.¢
AeroRepublica segme 22.7 14.¢ 14.€
Eliminations (11.0 (4.0 (0.3
Consolidatec $ 43.C $ 38.€ $ 38.2
Operating income:
Copa Segmer $ 208.2 $ 171.7 $ 166.¢
AeroRepublica segme 15.¢ 25.¢ (0.5)
Consolidatec $ 224.( $ 197.F $ 166.1
Interest expense:
Copa Segmer $ (349 % (33.f) % (25.2)
AeroRepublica segme (5.9 (8.0 (2.2)
Consolidatec $ (40.2) % (41.¢) 8 (27.9)
Interest income:
Copa Segmer $ 10.5 $ 11.7 $ 6.9
AeroRepublica segme 0.€ 0.5 0.4
Consolidatec $ 11.1 $ 12.2 $ 7.3
Income (loss) before income taxes:
Copa Segmer $ 130.¢ $ 165.¢ $ 155.
AeroRepublica segme 5.3 13.5 (9.9)
Consolidatec $ 136.] $ 178.¢ $ 146.]
Total Assets at End of Period:
Copa Segmer $ 1,823 $ 1,546.¢ $ 1,168.
AeroRepublica segme 258.¢ 256.: 132.¢
Eliminations (127.9) (95.6) (46.0)
Consolidatec $ 1,954. $ 1,707. $ 1,255.(
Capital Expenditures:
Copa Segmer $ 212.% $ 250.t $ 222.(
AeroRepublica segme 3.2 115.€ 30.C

Consolidatec $ 215.¢ $ 366.1 $ 252.(




F-36




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Information concerning operating revenue by priatigeographic area for the period ended Decembéx &4 follow (in

millions):

2008 2007 2006
North America $ 186.1 $ 152.1 $ 131.2
Central America and Caribbe 192.¢ 162.2 157.C
South Americe 710.2 573.€ 450.:
Paname 200.( 139.: 112.7
Total operating revent $ 1,288.¢ $ 1,027. $ 851.2

We attribute revenue among the geographical amsedoupon point of sales. Our tangible assets apitht expenditures
consist primarily of flight and related ground soppequipment, which is mobile across geographitketa and, therefore, has
not been allocated.
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Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at Additions Deductions
Beginning of Charged To from Balance at
Description Year Expense Reserves End of Year
(in thousands)

2008
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 8,157 $ 3,401 $ (6,55¢€) $ 5,00z
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable PartsSampplies 35 18 0 53

2007
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 7,30% $ 4,27¢ $ (3,429 $ 8,157
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Partsamplies 21 14 0 35

2006
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 4,911 $ 3,76¢ $ (1,370 $ 7,30t
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable PartsSampplies 9 12 0 21
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1.1+

2.1

2.2*
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10.6*t

10.7%*t

10.e*t

10.¢*t

10.10*t

10.17*f

10.12%*t

10.1%*t

English translation of the Articles of IncorporatipPacto Socia) of the Registrar

Supplemental Agreement, dated May 13, 2008, amag Eloldings, S.A., Corporacion de Inversiones
Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Airlines, Inc. (Inaangted by reference to our Registration Statement o
Form F-3ASR filed on May 13, 200¢

Form of Amended and Restated Registration Righteément among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacic
Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Airliries,

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 2818etween First Security Bank and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeingl®ll@3°-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgrdrcraft Lease Agreement, dated October 1,
1998, between First Security Bank and CompafiiarRafia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of One Boeing
Model 73°-71Q Aircraft, Manufactur¢s Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of R1gy2004 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank anch@diia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 2818etween First Security Bank and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeingl®ll@3'-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgmircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Octob
1998, between First Security Bank and CompafiarRafia de Aviacién, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model
737-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of RIgy2003 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank aneh@diia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl988, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Mo8e-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @otnpafia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 1998itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conip&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-
700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agrof30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smwilnc. and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion,
Boeing Model 73-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl988, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8¢700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @otnpafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 199ittoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conf@&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737-
700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004



10.12*% Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agridf30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smwilnc. and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion,
Boeing Model 73-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004
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10.18x*f Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novembe2B03, between International Lease Finance
Corporation and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, 8w B73'-700 or 800, Serial No. 306’

10.1€x*f Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of March 4, 20@4ween International Lease Finance Corporatigh a
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., New [-700 or 800, Serial No. 328(

10.17*f Aircraft Lease Agreement dated as of December @34 2between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A. and
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respeBbeing B73-800 Aircraft, Serial No. 2967

10.1&*f Embraer 190LR Purchase Agreement DCT-006/2003 deted May 2003 between Embraer— Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional Airckbldings Ltd.

10.1¢*f Letter Agreement DCT-007/2003 between Embraer—EsgpBrasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase AgresmthDCT-006/2003

10.20+t Letter Agreement DCT-008/2003 between Embraer—Egs#Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase AgreathDC1-006/2003

10.27t Embraer 190 Purchase Agreement COM 0028-06 datedi&igy 2006 between Embraer—Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Copa Holding8, lating to Embraer 190LR aircr:

10.2z¢t Letter Agreement COM 0029-06 to the Embraer Agredrdated February 2006 between Embraer—
Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and CopaiHgs, S.A. relating to Embraer 190LR airci

10.22*f Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated Novemberl®298, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A.

10.22*% Purchase Agreement Number 2191, dated Novembd928, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A., Inc. relating to Boeing Model -7V3 & 737-8V3 Aircraft

10.28x*f Supplemental Agreement No. 1 dated as of June¥, & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

10.2ex*t Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of Decentbe2D1 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

10.27*t Supplemental Agreement No. 3 dated as of JunedB® @ Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

10.2ex*t Supplemental Agreement No. 4 dated as of Decenthe2(D2 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

10.2¢*t Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated as of Octobe2@13 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

10.30*f Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated as of Septef#104 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

10.37*f Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated as of Decemt#9(! to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

10.32x*f Supplemental Agreement No. 8 dated as of April2ZDB5 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

10.3%t Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated as of Marcl2@66 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingo@nynand Copa Holdings, S.

10.34% Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated as of May 86 20 the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191

dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./



10.38x*f Maintenance Cost per Hour Engine Service Agreentizneéd March 5, 2003, between G.E. Engine
Services, Inc. and Copa Holdings, S

10.3ex*t English translation of Aviation Fuel Supply Agreamedated July 18, 2005, between Petréleos Delfa, S
and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, !
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10.37* Form of Guaranteed Loan Agreem:
10.38x* Form of Amended and Restated Alliance Agreemenvd&en Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compairiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.
10.3¢* Form of Amended and Restated Services AgreemeweketContinental Airlines, Inc. and Compariia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.
10.40x* Form of Amended and Restated Frequent Flyer Proarticipation Agreemel
10.47x* Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. 2005 Stock Incentivart
10.42x Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. Restricted Stock AwAgieemen
10.45x* Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Regist’s directors
10.4¢4t Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated as of Augus2@06 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingo@nynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on July 2, 2007
10.4%t Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated as of Feb2&r2007 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@onynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on July 2, 2007
10.4¢€t Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated as of Apri2®87 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@onynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on July 2, 2007
10.4%t Supplemental Agreement No. 14 dated as of Augus2@17 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@onynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on May 9, 2008
10.4¢&t Supplemental Agreement No. 15 dated as of Febi2r2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingo@nynand Copa Holdings, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to our Annual Report on Forn-F filed on May 9, 2008
10.4¢tHt Supplemental Agreement No. 16 dated as of Jun2(@I3 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./
10.5(tt Supplemental Agreement No. 17 dated as of Decefr)e2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Nui
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingpg@onynand Copa Holdings, S.
12.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puestu to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢
12.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puesut to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢
13.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
13.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puiesut to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
21.1%* Subsidiaries of the Registre

*  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibit andorporated by reference from our Registraticaté&hent on Form F-1,
filed June 15, 2006, File No. 3-135031.

**  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibitcaimcorporated by reference from our Registratitateé3nent on Form F-1,



filed November 28, 2005, as amended on Decemt#2005 and December 13, 2005, File No.-129967.
t  The Registrant was granted confidential treatmenpbrtions of this exhibi
Tt The Registrant has requested confidential treatfioenortions of this exhibi



EXHIBIT 10.49
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®N PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 16
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft
THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as_of , 2008 by and between THE

BOEING COMPANY, a Delaware corporation with itsruripal office in Seattle, Washington, (Boeing) &@@PA
HOLDINGS, S.A., INC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchagedent No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat), as
amended and supplemented, relating to Boeing Ma8IE{7VV3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreearetite **Material Redacted**; and

WHEREAS, Boeing and Buyer have mutually agreechterad the Agreement to incorporate the effect adaéhand certain
other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cam@s herein contained, the parties agree to anienddreement a
follows:

1.1. Table of Contents, Tables and Letter Agreem:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talil€ontents’, with the “ Table of Content5attached hereto and
hereby made a part of the Agreement, to reflectttanges made by this Supplemental Agreen

1.3. Table 1-8 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect **Material
Redacted**.

1.4. Letter Agreement No.-1162z-LAJ-982R5 entitlec“ Special Matter’ has been revised to **Material Redactec

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢




The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sugpler to the extent herein provided as of the laateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppieidegreement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written
above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office

PA No. 2191 Page 2 SA No. 1¢




ARTICLES

1. Quantity, Model and Descriptic

2. Delivery Schedul

3. Price

4. Paymen

5. Miscellaneou:

TABLE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1-1 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
1-2 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
1-3 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
1-4 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
1-5 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
1-6 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
1-7 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft Option Aircraft
1-8 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft

EXHIBIT

A-1 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
A-2 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
B. Aircraft Delivery Requirements and Responsiigiti

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

AEL. Escalation Adjustment Airframe and Optionahtees

BFE1. BFE Variable:

CS1. Customer Support Variabl

EE1. Engine Escalation/Engine Warranty and Patetgrhnity

SLP1. Service Life Policy Componer

PA No. 2191

SA

NUMBER

SA 32

SAZS

SA4
SA &
SA7
SA 1&
SA 1t
SA 1&
SA 1:
SA 1€

SAZS
SAZ
SA3

SA 1C

SA 3

SA3

SA No. 1¢




SA

NUMBER

LETTER AGREEMENTS

2191-01 Demonstration Flight Waivt

2191-02 Escalation Sharin

2191-03 Seller Purchased Equipm:t
RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENT:
6-1162-DAN-0123 Performance Guarante
6-1162-DAN-0124 Special Mattel
6-1162-DAN-0155 Airframe Escalation Revisic
6-1162-DAN-0156 Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firm
6-1162-DAN-0157 Miscellaneous Matte
6-1162-MJB-0017 Special Mattei
6-1162-MJB-0030 Special Matter
6-1162-LAJ-874R Special Mattetr SAE
6-1162-LAJ-874R1 Special Mattel SA €
6-1162-LAJ-874R2 Special Mattel SA7
6-1162-LAJ-982 Special Matter SA 8
6-1162-LAJ-982R3 Special Mattel SA 11
6-1162-RLL-3852 73-800 Performance Guarante SA S
6-1162-LAJ-982R4 Special Mattel SA 1¢
6-1162-RLL-3958 73-8V3 Option Aircraft SA 1:
6-1162-LAJ-982R5 Special Mattel SA 1€
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DATED AS OF;
Supplemental Agreement No June 29, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No December 21, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No June 14, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

PA No. 2191

December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200¢
March 16, 200
May 8, 200!
August 30, 200
February 26, 20(
April 23, 2007
August 31, 200
February 21, 20(
, 200¢

SA No. 1¢




Table 1-8

Aircraft Information Table for 737-8V3
Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW:

Engine Model/Thrust:

Airframe Price:

Optional Features:

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft):

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE):
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:

Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate:

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept:

Detail Specification:

Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:
Airframe Escalation Data:

Base Year Index (ECI):

Base Year Index (CPI):

737-80C

CFM5¢€-7B2¢€

D6-3880¢-43-1

174200 pounc

26400 pounc

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

(5/4/200Y)
Ju-07

N/A

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

ECI-MFG/CP

N/A

Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Prior

to Delivery):
21/18/12
Escalation  Escalation Estimate /9/6
Delivery Number of Factor Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Price Per A/P 1% 1% 5% 30%
**Material
**Material Redacted* **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
**Material Redacted** Redacted* Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted* Redacted*
**Material
**Material Redacted* **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
**Material Redacted** Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted*
**Material
TOTAL: Redacted*
PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢




6-1162-LAJ-982R5

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject: Special Matters

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Pedkgreement) between The Boeing Company (Boeind) an
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer) relating to Model77d@rcraft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements treh®se Agreement. This Letter Agreement supersauseplaces in its
entirety Letter Agreement 6-1162-MJB-0017. All terosed but not defined in this Letter Agreemenehthe same meaning as
in the Purchase Agreement. In consideration ofineraft orders, Boeing provides the following tagomer.

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**

1
2
3
4
5. **Material Redacted**
6. **Material Redacted**
7. **Material Redacted**
8. **Material Redacted**
9. **Material Redacted**
10. **Material Redacted**
11. **Material Redacted**

12. Confidentiality Customer understands that certain commerciafiaadcial information contained in this Letter
Agreement are considered by Boeing as confider@iadtomer agrees that it will treat this Letter égment and the
information contained herein as confidential antl mat, without the prior written consent of Boeijrdjsclose this Lette

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢




Agreement or any information contained herein tp @tiner person or entity except its counsel andimitors or as otherwise
required by law or legal process.

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date , 200¢

THE BOEING COMPANY

By
Its Attorney-In-Fact

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By
Its Chief Executive Office

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢



EXHIBIT 10.50
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®ON PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Supplemental Agreement No. 17
to

Purchase Agreement No. 2191

between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft
THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as_of , 2008 by and between THE

BOEING COMPANY, a Delaware corporation with itsruripal office in Seattle, Washington, (Boeing) &@@PA
HOLDINGS, S.A., INC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchagedent No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat), as
amended and supplemented, relating to Boeing Ma8IE{7VV3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreearetite **Material Redacted**; and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have mutually agreeaitend the Agreement to incorporate the effetitefe and
certain other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cam@s herein contained, the parties agree to anienddreement a
follows:

1.1. Table of Contents, Tables and Letter Agreem:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talil€ontents’, with the “ Table of Content5attached hereto and
hereby made a part of the Agreement, to reflectttanges made by this Supplemental Agreen

1.3. Table 1-9 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect **Material
Redacted**.

1.4, Letter Agreement No. 6-1162-LAJ-982R6 entitleBgecial Matter$ has been revised as follows: *Material
Redacted**.

1.5. Letter Agreement No. 6-1162-RLL-4092 entitled dvance Payment Matters for Aircraft listed in Tabi@ " is
attached hereto to reflect **Material Redactec

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1.




The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sugpler to the extent herein provided as of the laateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppieidegreement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written
above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office

PA No. 2191 Page 2 SA No. 17




ARTICLES

1. Quantity, Model and Descriptic
2. Delivery Schedul

3. Price

4. Paymen

5. Miscellaneou:

TABLE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1-1 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
1-2 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
1-3 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
1-4 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
1-5 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
1-6 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
1-7 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft Option Aircraft
1-8 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
1-9 Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft

EXHIBIT

A-1 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
A-2 Aircraft Configuration for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
B. Aircraft Delivery Requirements and Responsiigiti

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

AEL. Escalation Adjustment Airframe and Optionahfees

BFE1. BFE Variable.

CS1. Customer Support Variabl

EE1. Engine Escalation/Engine Warranty and Patetgrhnity

SLP1. Service Life Policy Componet

PA No. 2191

SA

NUMBER

SA 32

SA 3

SA4
SAES
SA7
SA 1&
SA 1t
SA 1t
SA 1:
SA 1€
SA 17

SA 3
SA S
SA G

SA No. 1.




SA

NUMBER

LETTER AGREEMENTS

2191-01 Demonstration Flight Waivt

2191-02 Escalation Sharin

2191-03 Seller Purchased Equipm:t
RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENT:
6-1162-DAN-0123 Performance Guarante
6-1162-DAN-0124 Special Mattel
6-1162-DAN-0155 Airframe Escalation Revisic
6-1162-DAN-0156 Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firm
6-1162-DAN-0157 Miscellaneous Matte
6-1162-MJB-0017 Special Mattei
6-1162-MJB-0030 Special Matter
6-1162-LAJ-874R Special Mattetr SAE
6-1162-LAJ-874R1 Special Mattel SA €
6-1162-LAJ-874R2 Special Mattel SA7
6-1162-LAJ-982 Special Matter SA 8
6-1162-LAJ-982R3 Special Mattel SA 11
6-1162-RLL-3852 73-800 Performance Guarante SA S
6-1162-LAJ-982R4 Special Mattel SA 1¢
6-1162-RLL-3958 73-8V3 Option Aircraft SA 1:
6-1162-LAJ-982R5 Special Mattel SA 1€
6-1162-LAJ-982R6 Special Mattel SA 17
6-1162-RLL-4092 Advance Payment Matters for Aircraft Listedrable -9 SA 17
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DATED AS OF:
Supplemental Agreement No June 29, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No December 21, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No June 14, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

PA No. 2191

December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200¢
March 16, 200
May 8, 200!
August 30, 200
February 26, 20(
April 23, 200}
August 31, 200
February 21, 20(
June 30, 20C
December , 20

SA No. 1.




Table 1-9
Aircraft Information Table for 737-8V3

Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-80C 174200 pounc

Engine Model/Thrust: CFMb5€-7B2€ 26400 pounc

Airframe Price: **Material Redacted*

Optional Features: **Material Redacted*

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted*

Engine Price (Per Aircraft):

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted*

Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:

Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material Redacted*
**Material

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: Redacted*

Detail Specification:

Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:
Airframe Escalation Data:

Base Year Index (ECI):

Base Year Index (CPI):

Jul-08

N/A

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

D6-3880¢-43-1 Rev. d (7/20/2007) + changes accepted thru MSIR3

ECI-MFG/CP]

N/A

Escalation Escalation Estimate _ Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):

Delivery Number of Factor Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos Total

Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Price Per A/P 1% 1% 5% 30%

**Material Redacted** **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**

**Material Redacted** **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**

**Material Redacted** **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material

TOTAL: Redacted*

PA No. 2191 SA No. 17




6-1162-LAJ-982R6

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject: Special Matter:

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agregimstmtieen The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA
HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer) relating to Model 737caift (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements treh®se Agreement. This Letter Agreement supersauseplaces in its
entirety Letter Agreement 6-1162-MJB-0017. All terorsed but not defined in this Letter Agreemenehthe same meaning as
in the Purchase Agreement. In consideration ofAineraft orders, Boeing provides the following tastomer.

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**

1
2
3
4
5. **Material Redacted**
6. **Material Redacted**
7. **Material Redacted**
8. **Material Redacted**
9. **Material Redacted**
10. **Material Redacted**
11. **Material Redacted**
12. **Material Redacted**

13. _Confidentiality. Customer understands that certain commerciafinadcial information contained in this Letter
Agreement are considered by Boeing as confider@iadtomer agrees that it will treat this Letter égment and the
information contained herein as confidential antl mat, without the prior written consent of Boeijrdjsclose this Letter
Agreement or any information contained herein tp @ter person or entity except its counsel andimlitors or as
otherwise required by law or legal proce




ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date

THE BOEING COMPANY

By

, 200¢

Its Attorney-In-Fact
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By

Its Chief Executive Office




O

BOEING'

The Boeing Company
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-RLL-4092R1

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject: Advance Payment Matters for Aircraft listed in Tali-9

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agregimetmieen The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA

HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer) relating to Model 737caaft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements treh&se Agreement. All terms used but not definatimLetter
Agreement have the same meaning as in the Purélggesement. In consideration of the Aircraft ordé8eging provides the
following to Customer.

**Material Redacted**

1. **Material Redacted**

2. **Material Redacted**

3. **Material Redacted**

4. Confidential TreatmentCustomer understands that certain commerciafinadcial information contained in this Letter
Agreement is considered by Boeing as confiderfiaktomer agrees that it will treat this Letter Agreent and the
information contained herein as confidential antl mat, without the prior written consent of Boeijrdjsclose this Letter
Agreement or any information contained herein tp @ther person or entit

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By

Its Attorney-In-Fact

P.A. No. 2191

Advance Payment Matters for Aircraft listed in T@ait9

BOEING PROPRIETARY




O

EOEING

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date , 2009

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By

Its Chief Executive Officer
P.A. No. 2191

Advance Payment Matters for Aircraft listed in T@ait9

Page 2



EXHIBIT 12.1

Certification

I, Pedro Heilbron, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfighe circumstances under which such statenveets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditioesults of operations and cash flows of the comgangf, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

The company’s other certifying officer(s)drare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl58e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaticial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdaoitee
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriahigformation relating to the company, includiitg
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during tberiod in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyovide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabil
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantiegenerally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsineport
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelaisce controls and procedures, as of the endeopéniod
covered by this report based on such evaluatiath; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canyfs internal control over financial reporting tleecurred
during the period covered by the annual reporttiaatmaterially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially
affect, the company’s internal control over finateeporting; and

The company’s other certifying officer(s)drhave disclosed, based on our most recent e@uaf internal control
over financial reporting, to the company’s auditansl the audit committee of the company’s boardirgfctors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyadversely affect the company’s ability to reconhgess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole
in the company'’s internal control over financigboeting.

Date: May 6, 2009

/s/ Pedro Heilbron
Pedro Heilbror
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 12.2

Certification

, Victor Vial, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfighe circumstances under which such statenveets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditioesults of operations and cash flows of the comgangf, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

The company’s other certifying officer(s)drare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl58e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaticial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdaoitee
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriahigformation relating to the company, includiitg
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during tberiod in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyovide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabil
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantiegenerally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsineport
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelaisce controls and procedures, as of the endeopéniod
covered by this report based on such evaluatiath; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canyfs internal control over financial reporting tleecurred
during the period covered by the annual reporttiaatmaterially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially
affect, the company’s internal control over finateeporting; and

The company’s other certifying officer(s)drhave disclosed, based on our most recent e@uaf internal control
over financial reporting, to the company’s auditansl the audit committee of the company’s boardirgfctors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyadversely affect the company’s ability to reconhgess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole
in the company'’s internal control over financigboeting.

Date: May 6, 2009

/s/ Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Office




EXHIBIT 13.1

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 135@8ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned officECopa Holdings, S.A. (the * Compaf)ydoes hereby certify, to such
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddmber 31, 2008 of the Company fully complies i
requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934 and informatiomtained in the
Form 20-F fairly presents, in all material respettte financial condition and results of operatiohthe Company.

Dated: May 6, 2009 /s/ Pedro Heilbron
Pedro Heilbror
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 13.2

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 135@8ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned officECopa Holdings, S.A. (the * Compaf)ydoes hereby certify, to such
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddmber 31, 2008 of the Company fully complies i
requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934 and informatiomtained in the
Form 20-F fairly presents, in all material respettte financial condition and results of operatiohthe Company.

Dated: May 6, 2009 /sl Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Office




